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The Half-yearly Financial Report 2009 has been prepared pursuant to art. 154-ter of Legislative 
Decree 58/1998  (Consolidated  Act  of  Finance)  introduced  by  Legislative  Decree 195/2007 
implementing  Directive  2004/109/EC  of  the  European  Parliament  and  Council  dated 
December 15, 2004.

The  Half-yearly  Financial  Report  includes  the  interim  management  report,  the  half-year 
condensed consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2009 and the attestation according to 
art. 154-bis, paragraph 5, of Legislative Decree 58/1998.

The Half-yearly Financial Report 2009 also includes the independent auditors' review report on 
the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2009 and the list of group 
companies at June 30, 2009 (pursuant to art. 126 of Consob Regulation 11971).

Disclaimer
This  Report,  and  in  particular  the  section  entitled  “Principal  risks  and  uncertainties  for  the  second  half  of  the  year”,  contains 
forward-looking statements. These statements are based on the group companies' current expectations and projections about future 
events and, by their nature, are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties. They relate to events and depend on circumstances that may 
or may not occur or exist in the future, and, as such, undue reliance should not be placed on them. Actual results may differ materially 
from those expressed in such statements as a result of a variety of factors, including changes in general economic conditions, economic  
growth and other changes in business conditions, changes in regulations (in each case, in Italy or abroad), and many other factors, most 
of which are outside of the group companies' control.

This is an English translation of the Italian original document “Relazione Finanziaria Semestrale 2009” approved by the EXOR S.p.A. 
board of directors on August 28, 2009 which has been prepared solely for the convenience of the reader.
The version in Italian takes precedence and for complete information about EXOR S.p.A. and the Group, reference should be made to 
the original report in Italian.
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INTERIM MANAGEMENT REPORT 3



EXOR GROUP PROFILE

EXOR S.p.A. is  the  new corporate  name that  IFI  –  Istituto  Finanziario  Industriale S.p.A.  – 
assumed on March 1, 2009, the effective date of the deed of merger by incorporation of the 
subsidiary IFIL S.p.A., signed on February 20, 2009.

EXOR  is  the  sum  of  experience  gained  in  over  a  century  of  investments.  It  is  one  of 
Europe’s leading investment companies and is  controlled by Giovanni  Agnelli  e  C. S.a.p.az. 
which holds 59.1% of ordinary capital stock, 39.24% of preferred capital stock and 10.06% of 
savings capital stock.

Listed  on  the  Italian  Stock  Exchange  (with  effect  from  March 2, 2009,  all  classes  of 
EXOR shares  are  traded  on  the  Electronic  Share  Market),  it  has  a  Net  Asset  Value  of 
approximately  € 4.5 billion.  EXOR  is  headquartered  in  Turin,  Corso  Matteotti 26,  and  has 
offices, among others, in New York and Hong Kong.

EXOR is the majority stockholder of the Fiat Group. Balancing risks and expected returns, it 
invests for the medium- to long-term in various sectors, mainly in Europe, the United States and 
in the two main emerging markets of China and India.

EXOR  places  financial  resources,  experience  and  the  talent  of  its  professionals  at  the 
companies' disposal to formulate their long-term strategies and plans.

The following are the main investments which, as a result of the merger of IFIL, are now directly 
in EXOR's portfolio.

Fiat (about 30% of ordinary and preferred capital stock) is listed on the Electronic Share Market 
of the Italian Stock Exchange (Blue Chip segment). Founded in 1899, the Fiat Group operates 
in  the sectors  of  automobiles (Fiat,  Lancia,  Alfa Romeo,  Abarth,  Ferrari,  Maserati  and Fiat 
Veicoli Commerciali), agricultural and construction equipment (Case and New Holland), trucks 
and  commercial  vehicles,  buses  and  special-purpose  vehicles  (Iveco,  Irisbus,  Astra  and 
Magirus)  and  components  and  production  systems  (Fiat  Powertrain  Technologies,  Magneti 
Marelli, Teksid and Comau); it is also active in publishing and communications (La Stampa and 
Publikompass).  Other  sectors  also  offer  financial  services  to  the  sales  networks  and  the 
clientele in addition to rental services to customers.

SGS (15% of capital stock) is a Swiss company listed on the Virt-x market. Founded in 1878, 
the  company  is  today  the  global  leader  in  verification,  inspection,  control  and  certification 
activities  with  more  than  56,000  employees and a  network  of  more than  1,000 offices  and 
laboratories throughout the world.

C&W Group (71.3% of  capital  stock)  is the  largest  privately  held  company  for  real  estate 
services. C&W Group has its headquarters in New York, where it was founded in 1917, and now 
has 230 offices and about 12,000 employees in 58 countries.

Alpitour (100% of capital stock)  is the largest integrated group in the tourist sector in Italy. It 
operates with 3,500 employees and has more than 2.4 million customers across all areas of the 
tourism business: Tour Operating (Alpitour, Francorosso, Viaggidea, Villaggi  Bravo,  Volando 
and Karambola),  Hotels (Alpitour World Hotel  & Resorts),  Incoming (Jumbo Tours),  Aviation 
(Neos), Distribution (Welcome Travel Group) and Incentive & Eventi (A World of Events).

Gruppo  Banca  Leonardo (9.74%  of  capital  stock)  is  a  privately  held  and  independent 
international  investment  bank offering a  complete  range  of  services  in  investment  banking, 
wealth management, private equity and other activities connected with the financial markets.

Juventus Football Club (60% of capital stock) is listed on the Electronic Share Market of the 
Italian  Stock  Exchange  (Star  segment).  Founded in  1897,  it  is  one of  the  most  prominent 
professional soccer teams in the world.
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Vision Investment Management, founded in 2000, is one of the most important hedge fund 
managers specialized in Asian markets.
Five-year bonds issued by Perfect Vision were subscribed to in April  2008. The bonds give 
mandatory  conversion  into  shares  at  maturity  which  will  deliver  a  40%  stake  in  Vision 
Investment Management.

Sequana  (26.65% of capital  stock) is a diversified French paper group,  listed on the NYSE 
Euronext market, with production and distribution activities operating through:

− Arjowiggins (100% holding), the world leader in the manufacture of high value-added paper 
products, on 4 continents with 7,300 employees and 27 production facilities;

− Antalis  (100%  holding),  the  leading  European  group  in  the  distribution  of  paper  and 
packaging products, with over 7,900 employees in 53 countries.

Banijay Holding  (17.17% of capital stock with voting rights) is  headquartered in Paris. The 
company is a new player in European TV production with a strategy aimed at rapid external 
growth through the acquisition of companies specialized in the production of TV formats and 
content for distribution via TV, Internet and mobile phones.

The following chart  is  updated to the end of  August  2009  and presents the main business 
segments in which the EXOR Group holds investments. Percentage holdings refer to ordinary 
capital stock.

(a) EXOR also holds 30.09% of Fiat preferred capital stock.
(b) Post-conversion of convertible bonds.
(c) Percentage interest held in the NoCo A LP limited partnership.
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Net Asset Value
EXOR’s Net  Asset  Value  (NAV)  at  June 30, 2009  is  € 4,497 million.  This  is  an increase of 
€ 789 million  (+21.3%)  compared  to  € 3,708 million  at  March 31, 2009  and  an  increase  of 
€ 1,529 million (+51.5%) compared to € 2,968 million at March 1, 2009 (the date the merger of 
the subsidiary IFIL became effective).

NAV is composed as follows:

The market value of the investment portfolio is calculated by valuing the listed investments (Fiat, 
Sequana, Intesa Sanpaolo, SGS and Juventus) at  the stock market closing prices,  and the 
unlisted  other  investment  holdings  and  other  investments  at  fair  value  determined  by 
independent experts with reference to December 31, 2008 or at cost.

The  following  chart  shows  the  market  value  composition  of  the  investment  portfolio  at 
June 30, 2009.
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€ in millions 3/1/2009 3/31/2009 6/30/2009
Market value of the investment portfolio 3,195 3,902 4,661 
Market value of treasury stock held 19 29 52 
Future ordinary structure costs at present value (210) (210) (210)
Consolidated net financial position of the EXOR Holdings System (36) (13) (6)
Net Asset Value NAV 2,968 3,708 4,497 

S equana 1.4%

S G S  22.0%
F iat G roup 53.4%

Intes a S anpaolo 
3.9%

J uventus  2.1%

T reas ury s toc k 
1.1%O the r 1 6 .1 %



The change in NAV compared to the MSCI Index (Morgan Stanley Capital Index) is as follows:

NAV  is  presented  with  the  aim  of  aiding  Analysts  and  Investors  in  forming  their  own 
assessments.

Financial Communications and Investor Relations
References for corporate services in charge of communication and investor relations are:

External Relations and Media Relations
Tel. +39.011.5090318
Fax +39.011.5090386

media@exor.com

Institutional Investors and
Financial Analysts Relations

Tel. +39.011.5090345
Fax +39.011.547660

ir@exor.com

The corporate website is at www.exor.com
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Merger by incorporation of the subsidiary IFIL in IFI
The  deed  of  merger  by  incorporation  of  the  subsidiary  IFIL  in  IFI  was  signed  on 
February 20, 2009.  The  deed  established  that  the  merger  would  be  effective,  pursuant  to 
art. 2504-bis,  paragraph 2  of  the  Italian  Civil  Code,  from  March 1, 2009  and  that  the 
transactions carried out by IFIL in the early months of 2009 would be recorded in the EXOR 
financial statements, also for tax purposes, pursuant to art. 172, paragraph 9 of D.P.R. 917/96, 
starting from January 1, 2009.

The  registration  of  the  deed  of  merger  in  the  Companies  Register  of  Turin  took  place  on 
February 24, 2009.

IFI assumed the new name of “EXOR S.p.A.” from March 1, 2009. Previously, in January 2009, 
IFI  had  purchased  the  EXOR  brand  from  Old  Town S.A.  (formerly  EXOR Group S.A.),  a 
subsidiary of Giovanni Agnelli e C., for a price of € 100 thousand.

The EXOR capital stock increase to service the exchange of shares was recognized at the fair 
value of the 73,809,496 ordinary shares and 9,168,894 savings  shares issued, respectively 
equal to € 5.36 and € 3.86 corresponding to the opening stock market prices on March 2, 2009, 
the first day of market trading of these shares. Of the total of € 431 million, € 83 million was 
allocated to capital stock, corresponding to the par value, and € 348 million to paid-in capital.

EXOR's  capital  stock  post-merger  is  therefore  equal  to  € 246,229,850  subdivided  in 
160,259,496 ordinary shares and 76,801,460 preferred shares and 9,168,894 non-convertible 
savings shares, all with a par value of € 1 each and normal dividend rights.

The total expenses for the operation incurred in 2008 and 2009 by IFIL and EXOR amounted to 
approximately € 17 million; such expenses were recorded as a deduction from additional paid-in 
capital.

The ordinary, preferred and savings shares have been listed on the Electronic Share Market 
under the stock symbol EXOR since March 2, 2009. The IFIL ordinary and savings shares were 
withdrawn from trading on the Electronic Share Market on March 2, 2009.

For additional information, please refer to the Information Document on the Merger and the 
updates to that same document on the corporate website www.exor.com.

Financing granted to C&W Group
In its meeting held on March 25, 2009, the EXOR S.p.A. board of directors approved a 3-year 
subordinated credit line for C&W Group for $50 million. The transaction guarantees EXOR a 
return in line with market rates and its purpose is to provide the subsidiary with additional debt 
capacity  and  also  to  use  such  capacity  to  fund  investment  opportunities.  At  expiration  on 
May 30, 2012, in the event of non-payment, EXOR will  have the right to convert the loan to 
shares of the subsidiary C&W Group Inc. at a price equal to the lowest of the valuations made 
quarterly by an independent third party over the period of the credit line, discounted by 30%. 
The facility was partly used by C&W Group for $20 million, equivalent to € 14.2 million, at the 
date of June 30, 2009.
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Changes in the names of the companies in the Holdings System
As from March 2, 2009:

– the Luxembourg subsidiary, Ifil Investissements S.A., took the new name of EXOR S.A.;
– the  Ireland  subsidiary,  Ifil  International  Finance Ltd,  took  the  new  name  of 

EXOR Capital Ltd.;
– the subsidiary, IFIL USA Inc., took the new name of EXOR Inc.

The subsidiary, Ifil Asia Ltd, took the new name of EXOR Limited from March 27, 2009.

Resolutions passed by the stockholders' and board of directors' meetings
The EXOR S.p.A. stockholders'  meeting held on April 28, 2009 approved the 2008 separate 
financial statements of the merged company IFIL S.p.A. and those of EXOR S.p.A., resolving to 
distribute dividends of € 0.3190 per ordinary share, € 0.3707 per preferred share and € 0.4580 
per savings share for a total maximum amount of € 81.8 million, of which € 46.7 million will be 
drawn from retained earnings and € 35.1 million (corresponding to € 0.1459 per each share of 
the three classes of stock) from the extraordinary reserve. The dividends will be paid starting 
from May 14, 2009.
The stockholders' meeting also elected the board of directors and the board of statutory auditors 
for the years 2009, 2010 and 2011.

In  the meeting held after the stockholders'  meeting by the board of  directors,  the following 
appointments  were  made:  John  Elkann  Chairman,  Gianluigi  Gabetti  Honorary  Chairman, 
Tiberto Brandolini d'Adda  and  Pio Teodorani-Fabbri  Vice  Chairmen  and 
Carlo Barel di Sant'Albano Chief Executive Officer, conferring the relative powers. The board 
also  appointed  the  members  of  the  internal  control  committee,  the  compensation  and 
nominating committee and the strategy committee as indicated on page 3 of this report.

In the meeting held on May 13, 2009, the board of directors decided to equally divide among its 
members the fee approved by the stockholders'  meeting,  amounting to € 170,000 per year. 
Furthermore, pursuant to art. 2389 of the Italian Civil Code, the board approved the annual fees 
which are disclosed in Note 30 to the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements.

Treasury stock buybacks
Under  the  treasury  stock  buyback  Program  approved  by  the  board  of  directors  on 
March 25, 2009,  between  May 4  and  August 7, 2009,  purchases  were  made  for 
1,854,500 ordinary shares (1.16% of the class) at an average cost per share of € 11.25 and a 
total of € 20.9 million, for 1,257,000 preferred shares (1.64% of the class) at an average cost 
per share of € 6.59 and a total of € 8.3 million and also for 180,900 savings shares (1.97% of 
the  class)  at  an  average  cost  per  share  of  € 8.17  and  a  total  of  € 1.5 million.  The  overall 
investment amounts to € 30.7 million (61.4% of the total maximum amount of € 50 million stated 
in the Program). EXOR currently holds, directly and indirectly, the following treasury stock:
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% of Carrying amount
Number class Per share (€) Total (€ml)

Shares held by EXOR S.p.A.
- ordinary 1,854,500 1.16 11.25 20.9 
- preferred 6,617,300 8.62 11.91 78.8 
- savings 180,900 1.97 8.17 1.5 
Ordinary shares, held by the subsidiary Soiem S.p.A. 214,756 0.13 12.87 2.8 

- - 104.0 



Note 13 in the section “Interim consolidated financial statements of EXOR Group – Shortened” 
indicates the treasury stock in portfolio at June 30, 2009.

Partial sale of the Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. investment
In  May  2009,  EXOR sold  38,000,000  Intesa  Sanpaolo  ordinary  shares  (0.32% of  ordinary 
capital stock) on the market for proceeds of € 95.8 million, with a loss of € 17.5 million. 
After this sale,  EXOR holds 80 million  Intesa Sanpaolo  ordinary shares (0.68% of  ordinary 
capital stock).

Other transactions to simplify the group's structure
With a  view towards  simplifying  the  group's  structure,  the  following  transactions  were  also 
carried out:

- on  May 20, 2009,  the  voluntary  wind-up  was  closed  for  Ifil  Investment  Holding,  a 
Dutch-registered company, wholly-owned by EXOR S.p.A., approved on November 7, 2008;

- on June 9, 2009, the project for the merger by incorporation of Ifil New Business S.r.l.  in 
Soiem S.p.A.  (both  wholly-owned  subsidiaries  of  EXOR S.p.A.)  was  approved  by  the 
respective boards. It is expected that the merger can be concluded by the end of the current 
year.

Moreover,  the  voluntary  wind-up  is  currently  in  progress  for  Ifilgroup Finance Limited,  an 
Irish-registered company, wholly-owned by EXOR S.A., approved on September 29, 2008.

Proceedings  relative  to  the  contents  of  the  press  releases  issued  by  IFIL  and 
Giovanni Agnelli e C. on August 24, 2005
With  regard  to  the  ruling  opposing  the  administrative  sanctions  imposed  by  Consob,  the 
company is awaiting the Court of Cassation's ruling; the hearing before the court was held on 
June 23, 2009. In fact,  the company had appealed the ruling handed down by the Court of 
Appeals  of  Turin  which  had reduced the sanctions and Consob had filed  a counter-appeal 
asking for the cancellation of these reductions. 

As far as the penal proceeding before the Turin Court is concerned, the case is being discussed 
and the next hearing is scheduled for October 6, 2009. By order of May 21, 2009, EXOR's and 
Giovanni  Agnelli  e C.'s  civil  liability  intervention  was  declared  null  and  exclusion  from  the 
proceeding was disposed.

Banijay Holding capital stock increase
On July 27, 2009, EXOR S.A. subscribed to 61,818 Banijay Holding shares issued as part of a 
capital stock increase for an equivalent amount of € 6.2 million. 
Following this transaction, EXOR S.A. holds 274,318 shares equal to 17.06% of capital stock 
and  17.17%  of  voting  rights.  This  investment  is  part  of  the  total  commitment  to  invest 
€ 42.5 million in the company (of which € 27.5 million has already been paid), subscribed to in 
May 2008 to financially support Banijay Holding’s medium term development plans aimed at 
launching a new player in European TV production. 
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INTERIM  CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  OF  THE  EXOR  GROUP – 
SHORTENED

Through  the  subsidiary  EXOR S.A.,  EXOR S.p.A.  holds  some  important  investments  and 
controls some companies  which  contribute  to  the  Group's  investment  activities  (EXOR Inc., 
EXOR Ltd  and  Ifil France)  and  financial  resource  management of  the  Group  (EXOR 
Capital Ltd). These companies constitute, together with Soiem (a services company) and other 
minor  companies,  the  so-called  Holdings  System (the  complete  list  of  these  companies  is 
presented below).

Since December 31, 2008, in order to facilitate the analysis of the equity and financial position 
and the results of operations of the group, EXOR presents shortened consolidated financial 
statements (statement of financial  position and income statement) prepared by applying the 
“shortened”  consolidation  criteria.  Such  shortened  consolidated  financial  statements  are 
presented along with the annual consolidated financial statements and the half-year condensed 
consolidated  financial  statements  of  each  year.  The  quarterly  consolidated  data  is  also 
presented in the shortened format in the quarterly reports at March 31 and September 30 of 
each year.
In the preparation of the shortened consolidated statement of  financial  position and income 
statement, the separate financial statements or accounting data drawn up in accordance with 
IFRS by EXOR S.p.A. and the subsidiaries in the Holdings System are consolidated line-by-line; 
the  investments  in  the  operating  subsidiaries  and  associates  (Fiat,  Sequana,  C&W Group, 
Alpitour and Juventus Football Club) are accounted for by the equity method, on the basis of 
their consolidated or separate (in the case of Juventus Football Club) financial statements or 
accounting data prepared in accordance with IFRS.

For purposes of comparing the figures in the first half of 2009 with those of the first half of 2008, 
the latter figures were restated using the same basis of preparation described above and are 
presented in the income statement in the column “restated”.

The following table shows the consolidation methods used for the investment holdings; after the 
merger  of  the subsidiary IFIL S.p.A.,  which took place on March 1, 2009,  the percentage of 
consolidation is the same as the percentage of interest.
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6/30/2009 12/31/2008 6/30/2008

%  consolidation % consolidation % interest % consolidation % interest
Companies of the Holdings System consolidated line-by-line
- - - - - -
- - 100.00 70.00 100.00 69.48 
- - - - 100.00 69.48 
- 100.00 100.00 70.00 100.00 69.48 
- - - - 100.00 69.48 
- 100.00 100.00 70.00 100.00 69.48 
- 100.00 100.00 70.00 100.00 69.48 
- 100.00 100.00 70.00 100.00 69.48 
- 100.00 100.00 70.00 100.00 69.48 
- 100.00 100.00 70.00 100.00 69.48 
- 100.00 100.00 70.00 100.00 69.48 
- 100.00 100.00 70.00 100.00 69.48 
- 100.00 100.00 70.00 100.00 69.48 

Investments in operating subsidiaries and associates, 
accounted for by the equity method
-  Fiat Group 29.40 29.40 20.58 29.40 20.43 
- 26.94 26.91 18.84 26.82 18.63 
-  C&W Group 74.27 74.43 52.10 73.34 50.95 
- 100.00 100.00 70.00 100.00 69.48 
- 60.00 60.00 42.00 60.00 41.69 

EXOR S.p.A. (formerly IFI S.p.A.)
IFIL Investments S.p.A. (merged on March 1, 2009)
Ifil Investment Holding N.V. (Netherlands) (wound up on May 20, 2009)
Exor S.A. (formerly Ifil Investissements S.A.) (Luxembourg)
Ifilgroup Finance Ltd, (Ireland) in a wind-up
Exor Capital Limited (formerly Ifil International Finance Ltd) (Ireland)
Soiem S.p.A. (Italy)
Exor Inc. (formerly Ifil USA Inc.)
Exor Limited (formerly Ifil Asia Ltd) (Hong Kong)
Ifil France S.a.s. (France) 
Ancom USA Inc (USA)
Ifil New Business S.r.l. (Italy)
Eufin Investments Unlimited (Great Britain)

 Sequana Group

 Alpitour Group
Juventus Football Club S.p.A.



OPERATING AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AT JUNE 30, 2009

The EXOR Group closed the first half of 2009 with a loss attributable to owners of the parent of 
€ 261.9 million. The first half of 2008 ended with a consolidated profit of € 301.3 million, of which 
€ 206.7 million was attributable to owners of  the parent  and € 94.6 million to non-controlling 
interests of the subsidiary IFIL (merged on March 1, 2009).
The reduction in consolidated profit of € 563.2 million is due to a net decrease in the share of 
the  profit  (loss)  of  investments  accounted  for  by  the  equity  method  (-€ 496.2 million),  the 
decrease  in  net  financial  income  (expenses)  (-€ 63.6 million)  and  other  net  changes 
(-€ 3.4 million).

At  June 30, 2009,  the consolidated equity  of  the group attributable to  owners of  the parent 
amounts to € 5,209.5 million and shows an increase of € 1,593.9 million compared to year-end 
2008, equal to € 3,615.6 million. Such increase is due to the merger by incorporation of the 
subsidiary  IFIL  (+€ 1,706.2 million),  the  consolidated  loss  for  the  first  half  of  2009 
(-€ 261.9 million) and other net changes (+€ 149.6 million).  Additional  details are provided in 
Note 13.

At June 30, 2009, the balance of the consolidated net financial position of the Holdings System 
is -€ 6 million  with  a  positive  change  of  € 5.5 million  compared  to  year-end  2008 
(-€ 11.5 million). Additional details are provided in Note 15.

The  shortened  interim  consolidated  income  statement and  consolidated statement  of 
financial position and notes on the most significant line items are presented in this section.

EXOR GROUP – Interim consolidated income statement - shortened

12 INTERIM MANAGEMENT REPORT

Half I
Year 2008
2008 € in millions Note 2009 restated Change

Share of the profit (loss) of investments 
336.2 accounted for by the equity method 1 (267.5) 228.7 (496.2)

Net financial income (expenses):
139.3 - Dividends from investments 2 40.5 139.3 (98.8)

85.8 - (Losses) Gains on the sale of investments 9 (17.5) 0.0 (17.5)
- Revaluations (Impairments) of current and non-current 

(67.2)   financial assets 3 17.1 (29.4) 46.5 
73.5 - Interest and other financial income 4 29.9 27.7 2.2 

(93.9) - Interest and other financial expenses 5 (36.8) (40.8) 4.0 
137.5 Net financial income (expenses) 33.2 96.8 (63.6)
(38.6) Net general expenses 6 (16.9) (16.9) 0.0 

5.1 Other non-recurring income (expenses) 7 (4.6) (2.7) (1.9)
440.2 Consolidated profit (loss) before income taxes (255.8) 305.9 (561.7)

(4.8) Income taxes (6.1) (4.6) (1.5)
435.4 Consolidated profit (loss) attributable to: (261.9) 301.3 (563.2)
301.8 - owners of the parent (261.9) 206.7 (468.6)
133.6 - non-controlling interests - 94.6 (94.6)



EXOR GROUP – Interim consolidated statement of financial position - shortened

1. Share of the profit (loss) of investments accounted for by the equity method
In the first half of 2009, the share of the profit (loss) of  investments accounted for by the 
equity method is a loss of € 267.5 million (+€ 228.7 million in the first half of 2008). The 
negative change of € 496.2 million reflects:

− an inversion of the results reported by the Fiat Group and the Sequana Group which 
led to negative variations respectively of € 463.7 million and € 11.1 million;

− an  increase  in  the  attributable  losses  of  C&W Group  (-€ 23.8 million)  and  the 
Alpitour Group (-€ 5.4 million);

− a reduction in the loss of Juventus Football Club which led to a positive change of 
€ 7.8 million.

(a) Through the subsidiary IFIL; EXOR's share corresponds to 69.48% of the amount.
(b) Includes a positive consolidation adjustment of € 2.9 million.
(c) Includes negative consolidation adjustments of € 13.8 million.
(d) Data for the period November 1 – April 30.
(e) Data for the period January 1 – June 30, prepared for purposes of consolidation in the EXOR Group.
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Profit (loss) EXOR's share
€ in millions HI 2009 HI 2008 HI 2009 HI 2008 (a) Change
Fiat Group (578.0) 1,009.2 (167.0) (b) 296.7 (463.7)
Sequana Group (20.9) 20.5 (5.6) 5.5 (11.1)
C&W Group (57.0) (44.0) (56.1) (c) (32.3) (23.8)
Alpitour Group (34.0) (d) (28.6) (d) (34.0) (28.6) (5.4)
Juventus Football Club S.p.A. (8.0) (e) (21.1) (e) (4.8) (12.6) 7.8 
Total (267.5) 228.7 (496.2)

€ in millions Note 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Non-current assets
Investments accounted for by the equity method 8 3,706.2 3,885.0 (178.8)
Other financial assets
- Investments at fair value 9 1,346.6 1,294.9 51.7 
- Other investments 10 101.0 108.8 (7.8)
Goodwill 11 0.0 67.6 (67.6)
Other property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 11.7 11.7 0.0 
Deferred tax assets 0.0 0.5 (0.5)

Total Non-current assets 5,165.5 5,368.5 (203.0)
Current assets
Financial assets and cash and cash equivalents 15 1,136.8 1,132.5 4.3 
Trade receivables and other receivables 70.0 71.1 (1.1)

Total Current assets 1,206.8 1,203.6 3.2 
Total Assets 6,372.3 6,572.1 (199.8)

Equity
Capital issued and reserves attributable to owners of the parent 13 5,209.5 3,615.6 1,593.9 
Attributable to non-controlling interests 13 0.0 1,706.2 (1,706.2)

Total Equity 5,209.5 5,321.8 (112.3)
Non-current liabilities
Provisions for employee benefits 3.7 4.6 (0.9)
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 14 0.0 81.6 (81.6)
Bonds and other debt 15 1,094.5 1,094.2 0.3 
Deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities 1.3 1.7 (0.4)

Total Non-current liabilities 1,099.5 1,182.1 (82.6)
Current liabilities
Bank debt and other financial liabilities 15 48.8 50.5 (1.7)
Trade payables and other liabilities 14.5 17.7 (3.2)

Total Current liabilities 63.3 68.2 (4.9)
Total Equity and Liabilities 6,372.3 6,572.1 (199.8)



Comments on the operating performance of the investment holdings accounted for by the 
equity  method  are  presented  in  the  following  sections.  As  for  C&W Group,  the 
Alpitour Group and Juventus Football Club, the results for the period are affected by the 
significant seasonable factors typical of their respective business segments.

2. Dividends from investments
In the first half of 2009, dividends from investments amount to € 40.5 million and include 
dividends collected from SGS for € 38.4 million, Gruppo Banca Leonardo for € 2 million 
(respectively € 26.2 million and € 2.8 million in the first half of 2008) and Emittenti Titoli for 
€ 0.1 million (unchanged from the first half of 2008). The first half of 2008 also included 
dividends collected from Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. for € 110.2 million.

3. Revaluations (impairments) of current and non-current financial assets
In the first half of 2009, this line item is a positive € 17.1 million (a negative € 29.4 million in 
the first  half  of 2008) and includes net revaluations for € 27.9 million relating to current 
financial assets and the impairment charge for € 10.8 million on the bonds issued by DLMD 
recorded in non-current financial assets, of which € 1.7 million relates to the Junior portion 
and € 9.1 million to the Senior portion. Additional details are provided in Note 9.
The net revaluations of current financial assets refer to equity securities and bonds held for 
trading by EXOR S.p.A. for € 13.2 million (-€ 11.6 million in the first half of 2008) and the 
subsidiary EXOR S.A. for € 14.7 million (-€ 17.8 million in the first half of 2008).
The fair  value  of  current  securities  is  calculated  using market  prices  at  June 30, 2009 
translated, where necessary, at the period-end exchange rates.

4. Interest and other financial income
In  the  first  half  of  2009,  interest  and  other  financial  income amounts to  € 29.9 million 
(€ 27.7 million in the corresponding period of the prior year) and includes:

5. Interest and other financial expenses
In the first  half  of  2009,  interest  and other financial  expenses amount to € 36.8 million 
(€ 40.8 million in the same period of the prior year) and include:
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€ in millions H1 2009 H1 2008 Change
EXOR bond interest expenses 24.5 25.3 (0.8)
Interest on interest rate hedges 2.5 0.2 2.3 
Financial expenses on securities held for trading 5.6 3.4 2.2 
Bank interest and other financial expenses 2.7 11.0 (8.3)
Exchange losses 1.5 0.9 0.6 
Total 36.8 40.8 (4.0)

€ in millions H1 2009 H1 2008 Change
Interest income on:
- bonds 11.6 14.6 (3.0)
- receivables from banks 3.0 1.3 1.7 
- receivables from the tax authorities 0.7 0.6 0.1 
 - C&W Group loan 0.4 0.0 0.4 
Financial income on securities held for trading 12.4 8.3 4.1 
Income from interest rate hedges 0.7 2.9 (2.2)
Exchange gains 1.1 0.0 1.1 
Total 29.9 27.7 2.2 



6. Net general expenses
In  the  first  half  of  2009,  net  general  expenses  amount  to  € 16.9 million,  unchanged 
compared to the first half of 2008.

7. Other nonrecurring income (expenses)
In the first half of 2009, net other nonrecurring expenses total € 4.6 million and refer to the 
special  indemnity relative to the termination of the employment relationship resolved in 
favor  of  the  former  chief  executive  officer  and  general  manager  of  IFI S.p.A., 
Virgilio Marrone  (€ 3.3 million),  and  expenses  relating  to  headcount  reductions 
(€ 1.3 million).
During  the  same  period  of  the  prior  year,  net  other  nonrecurring  expenses  were 
€ 2.7 million.

8. Investments accounted for by the equity method
Details are as follows:

9. Non-current other financial assets – Investments at fair value
Details are as follows:

(a) Based on the stock market price at period-end with recognition of unrealized gains and losses in equity.
(b) Recorded at cost which approximates fair value.
(c) Percentage of interest in the limited partnership.

At June 30, 2009, the reduction of the investment in Intesa Sanpaolo of € 113.5 million is 
the result of the derecognition of the carrying amount (-€ 95.7 million) of the interest sold 
(0.32% of ordinary capital stock) and the adjustment of the residual interest to fair value at 
the end of period (-€ 17.8 million).
The derecognition of the carrying amount of the interest sold (-€ 95.7 million) includes the 
ordinary  purchase  cost  of  € 113.3 million  and  the  cumulative  negative  fair  value  of 
€ 17.6 million.
The  loss  of  € 17.5 million  derives  from  the  comparison  between  the  net  proceeds  of 
€ 95.8 million and the original cost of purchase of € 113.3 million. The cumulative negative 
fair  value  of  € 17.6 million  was  recorded  as  an  increment  in  the  specific  reserve  in 
consolidated equity.
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Carrying amount at
€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Fiat Group 2,986.2 3,062.2 (76.0)
Sequana Group 183.6 189.9 (6.3)
C&W Group 427.4 482.5 (55.1)
Alpitour Group 47.9 84.2 (36.3)
Juventus Football Club S.p.A. 61.1 65.9 (4.8)
Others, in a wind-up 0.0 0.3 (0.3)
Total 3,706.2 3,885.0 (178.8)

6/30/2009 12/31/2008
€ in millions % Carrying amount % Carrying amount Change

0.68 183.7 1.00 297.2 (113.5)
15.00 1,034.6 15.00 869.2 165.4 

Gruppo Banca Leonardo S.p.A. 9.74 87.6 9.76 87.6 0.0 
NoCo A LP 1.96 (c) 19.3 1.96 (c) 19.5 (0.2)

17.03 21.4 17.03 21.4 0.0 
Total 1,346.6 1,294.9 51.7 

Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. (a)

SGS S.A. (a)

Banijay Holding S.A.S. (b)



The original cost of purchase of the residual amount of the investment in Intesa Sanpaolo 
is  € 2.98  per  share,  for  a  total  of  € 238.5 million;  at  June  30,  2009,  the  net  negative 
adjustment to fair value amounts to € 54.8 million.

The increase in the investment in  SGS of € 165.4 million is the result  of  the fair value 
adjustment at June 30, 2009.
The original cost of the investment in SGS is € 400.31 (CHF 611.07) per share, for a total 
of € 469.7 million; at  June 30, 2009, the net positive adjustment to fair value amounts to 
€ 564.9 million.

10. Other non-current financial assets – Other investments
Details are as follows:

In July 2008, certain clauses were renegotiated for the  DLMD bond issue which was 
subdivided into Senior and Junior bond portions. The redemption of the Junior portion, 
scheduled for 2010, in exchange for a higher yield, is subordinate to that of the Senior 
portion.
EXOR S.A. holds a nominal  amount of  bonds for € 27.2 million,  of  which € 12.3 million 
represents  Senior  bonds  and  € 14.9 million  Junior  bonds.  At  December 31, 2008,  an 
impairment loss was recognized on the Junior portion for its entire nominal amount. At 
June 30, 2009, additional impairment losses were recognized for a total of € 10.8 million, of 
which € 1.7 million relates to the Junior portion for the interest capitalized to June 30, 2009 
and € 9.1 million to the Senior portion, written down for an amount up to the market value 
at June 30, 2009 of the guarantee obtained.
The Senior  portion that  was  not  written down,  equal  to  € 3.8 million,  is  guaranteed by 
EXOR S.A.'s  share  of  the  10,806,343  Sequana shares  used  by contract  to  guarantee 
DLMD's bond issue.
Current financial assets include receivables for interest income on the Senior portion of the 
DLMD bonds for € 0.6 million, collected at the end of July 2009.
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€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Other investments at fair value
- NoCo B LP 22.8 23.8 (1.0)
- DLMD bonds 3.8 13.4 (9.6)

26.6 37.2 (10.6)
Other investments at amortized cost
- Perfect Vision Limited convertible bonds 71.0 70.7 0.3 

Sundry 3.4 0.9 2.5 
Total 101.0 108.8 (7.8)



11. Goodwill
At December 31, 2008, goodwill  amounted to € 67.6 million and had originated from the 
purchase of IFIL shares in 2007.
At June 30, 2009, following the merger of IFIL in EXOR, the entire amount was recorded as 
a deduction from equity, consistently with the allocation of the exchange reserve to equity. 

12. Comparison between carrying amounts and market prices of listed investments and 
other financial assets
Details are as follows:

13. Equity
Details are as follows:
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Market price
Carrying amount 6/30/2009 8/21/2009

Number Per share (€) Total (€ ml) Per share (€) Total (€ ml) Per share (€) Total (€ ml)
Investments
Fiat S.p.A.
- ordinary shares 332,587,447 8.21 2,731.0 7.17 2,384.7 8.20 2,727.2 
- preferred shares 31,082,500 8.21 255.2 4.38 136.1 4.61 143.3 

2,986.2 2,520.8 2,870.5 

Sequana  S.A. 13,203,139 13.90 183.6 4.88 64.4 8.94 118.0 

Juventus Football Club S.p.A. 120,934,166 0.50 61.1 0.82 99.2 1.02 123.4 

Other financial assets
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. (ord. shares) 80,000,000 2.30 183.7 2.30 183.7 2.75 220.0 
SGS S.A. 1,173,400 881.76 1,034.6 881.76 1,034.6 880.61 1,033.3 

Total 4,449.2 3,902.7 4,365.2 

€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Capital stock 246.2 163.3 82.9 
Reserves 5,055.0 3,522.8 1,532.2 
Treasury stock (91.7) (70.5) (21.2)

5,209.5 3,615.6 1,593.9 
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 0.0 1,706.2 (1,706.2)
Total 5,209.5 5,321.8 (112.3)

Total capital issued and reserves attributable to 
owners of the parent



The change during the period is analyzed as follows:

(a) Difference between the fair value of the EXOR S.p.A. capital increase and the carrying amount of the consolidated equity of 
the IFIL Group attributable to non-controlling interests.

(b) Net of € 0.1 million of intragroup dividends.

Between May 4 and June 30, 2009, purchases were made for 1,110,000 ordinary shares 
(0.69% of the class) at the average cost per share of € 11.59 and a total of € 12.8 million, 
690,000 preferred shares (0.9% of the class) at the average cost per share of € 6.84 and a 
total of € 4.7 million, and also 105,600 savings shares (1.15% of the class) at the average 
cost per share of € 8.26 and a total of € 0.9 million. The overall  investment amounts to 
€ 18.4 million (about 37% of the maximum amount of € 50 million stated in the Program).

At June 30, 2009, EXOR S.p.A. holds, directly and indirectly, the following treasury stock:

14. Provisions for other liabilities and charges
At  December 31, 2008,  the  provisions  for  other  liabilities  and  charges  amounted  to 
€ 81.6 million and were originally charged in 2003 for the reorganization plan of the group.
At June 30, 2009, following the merger by incorporation of IFIL in EXOR, this amount was 
recorded as an increment of equity, consistently with the accounting treatment followed 
when the provision was set up.
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% of Carrying amount
Shares class Per share (€) Total (€ ml)

Shares held by Exor S.p.A.
 - ordinary shares 1,110,000 0.69 11.59 12.8 
 - preferred shares 6,050,300 7.88 12.43 75.2 
 - savings shares 105,600 1.15 8.25 0.9 
Ordinary shares, held by the subsidiary Soiem S.p.A. 214,756 0.13 12.87 2.8 

91.7 

€ in millions Total
Equity at December 31, 2008 3,615.6 1,706.2 5,321.8 

431.0 (431.0) 0.0 

1,275.2 (1,275.2) 0.0 
Allocation of expenses relative to the merger (17.0) (17.0)
Other changes connected with the merger transaction 14.0 14.0 

17.6 17.6 
Fair value adjustments on:

(17.8) (17.8)
 - investment in SGS S.A. (Note 9) 165.4 165.4 

2.0 2.0 
Treasury stock purchases (18.4) (18.4)

85.4 85.4 
(81.6) (81.6) (b)

Consolidated loss attributable to owners of the parent (261.9) (261.9)
Net change during the period 1,593.9 (1,706.2) (112.3)
Equity at June 30, 2009 5,209.5 0.0 5,209.5 

Capital issued 
and reserves 

attributable to 
owners of the 

parent

Attributable to 
non-

controlling 
interests

Fair value of the EXOR S.p.A. capital increase to service the exchange of IFIL 
ordinary and savings shares held by non-controlling interests
Allocation to owners of the parent of the interest of the ex-non-controlling interests 
of IFIL (a)

Derecognition of the cumulative fair value on the stake sold in Intesa Sanpaolo 
(Note 9)

 - remaining investment  in Intesa Sanpaolo (Note 9)

 - NoCo B

Attributable exchange differences on translating foreign operations                          
(+€ 84.9  million) and other net changes shown in the equity of the investments 
consolidated and accounted for by the equity method (+€ 0.5 million) 
Dividends distributed by Exor S.p.A.



15. Consolidated net financial position of the Holdings System
The consolidated net financial position of the Holdings System at June 30, 2009 shows a 
negative  balance of  € 6 million and a positive  change of  € 5.5 million  compared to the 
negative balance at year-end 2008 (€ 11.5 million).

The balance is composed as follows:

Current financial assets include equity securities listed in major international markets and 
listed  bonds  with  maturities  of  more  than  three  months  issued  by  leading  financial 
institutions with  high ratings.  Such securities are held for trading and measured at fair 
value  on  the  basis  of  the  market  price  at  period-end,  translated,  where  necessary  at 
period-end  exchange  rates,  with  a  corresponding  entry  to  income.  Derivative  financial 
instruments are also used.

Financial receivables from subsidiaries, equal to € 15.9 million, include € 14.2 million 
($20 million)  referring  to  C&W Group's  partial  utilization  of  the  $50 million  credit  line 
granted  by  EXOR S.p.A.  and  receivables  for  € 1.7 million  from  companies  in  the 
Alpitour Group arising from sales of IRES receivables by EXOR S.p.A.. Additional details 
on the facility granted to C&W Group are provided in “Significant events” in this Report.

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits or short-term deposits, and readily 
negotiable  money  market  instruments  and  bonds.  Investments  are  spread  over  an 
appropriate number of counterparties since the primary objective is the prompt conversion 
into cash. The counterparties are chosen according to their creditworthiness and reliability.
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6/30/2009 12/31/2008
Non- Non-

€ in millions Current current Total Current current Total
Financial assets 651.9 0.5 652.4 312.4 0.6 313.0 
Financial receivables from subsidiaries 15.9 0.0 15.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Cash and cash equivalents 469.0 0.0 469.0 820.1 0.0 820.1 
Total financial assets 1,136.8 0.5 1,137.3 1,132.5 0.6 1,133.1 
EXOR bonds 2007-2017 (2.1) (744.9) (747.0) (22.4) (744.7) (767.1)
EXOR bonds 2006-2011 (0.2) (199.6) (199.8) (0.6) (199.5) (200.1)
Bank debt and other financial liabilities (46.5) (150.0) (196.5) (27.4) (150.0) (177.4)
Total financial liabilities (48.8) (1,094.5) (1,143.3) (50.4) (1,094.2) (1,144.6)

1,088.0 (1,094.0) (6.0) 1,082.1 (1,093.6) (11.5)
Consolidated net financial position of the 
"Holdings System"



The positive change of € 5.5 million in the first half of 2009 is due to the following flows:

(a) Net of € 0.1 million of intragroup dividends.
(b) Comprises net revaluations on securities recognized in current financial assets and included in the net financial position.

At  June 30, 2009,  EXOR S.p.A.  has  irrevocable  credit  lines  for  € 910 million,  with 
expiration dates after June 30, 2010, as well as revocable credit lines for € 902 million.

On  June 30, 2009,  Standard  &  Poor's  confirmed  its  rating  of  EXOR’s  long-term  and 
short-term debt (respectively “BBB+” and “A-2”) and revised its outlook from “stable” to 
“negative”.

16. Reconciliation  between  the  consolidated  net  financial  position  of  the  Holdings 
System and the consolidated net financial position of the investments consolidated 
line-by-line

The composition of  the consolidated  net  financial  position  of  investments  consolidated 
line-by-line  is  presented  in  Note 27  to  the  half-year  condensed  consolidated  financial 
statements of the EXOR Group.
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€ in millions
Consolidated net financial position of the Holdings System at December 31, 2008 (11.5)
Dividends received from investments 40.5 
- SGS S.A. 38.4
- 2.0
- 0.1

EXOR treasury stock purchases (18.4)
- 1,110,000 ordinary shares (0.69% of the class of stock) (12.8)
- 690,000 preferred shares (0.9% of the class of stock) (4.7)
- 105,600 savings shares (1.15% of the class of stock) (0.9)

95.8 

(81.6)

Investments in other non-current financial assets (2.5)

Other net changes
- Net general expenses (16.9)
- 20.7 
- Sundry, net (32.1)
Net change during the period 5.5 
Consolidated net financial position of the Holdings System at June 30, 2009 (6.0)

Gruppo Banca Leonardo S.p.A.
Emittenti Titoli S.p.A.

Disposal of Intesa Sanpaolo shares (0.32% of ordinary capital stock)

Dividends distributed by EXOR S.p.A. (a)

Revaluations and other net financial expenses (b)

€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Consolidated net financial position of the Holdings System (6) (12) 6 

- C&W Group (181) (108) (73)
- Alpitour Group (56) 34 (90)
- Juventus Football Club S.p.A. 26 11 15 
Consolidated net financial position - line-by-line consolidation (217) (75) (142)

Net financial position of investments consolidated line-by-line:



17. Reconciliation between the shortened interim consolidated financial statements and 
the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements

The following table presents a reconciliation between the shortened interim consolidated 
financial statements and the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements.
The first column (“Shortened consolidation”) presents the data that has been commented 
on in the preceding pages, reclassified according to the half-year condensed consolidated 
financial statement formats.
The second column (“Eliminations and consolidation adjustments”) shows the adjustments 
necessary  to  reverse  the  carrying  amount  of  the  investments  accounted  for  in  the 
shortened interim consolidated financial statements by the equity method and the share of 
the results of those investments in order to arrive at the line-by-line consolidation of the 
respective half-year financial statements or accounting data, which is shown in the next 
columns.

Reconciliation of the consolidated statement of financial position
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Eliminations and
Shortened consolidation C&W EXOR Group

€ in millions consolidation adjustments Group Group consolidation
Non-current assets
Goodwill 0 (104) 456 27 379 
Other intangible assets 0 305 29 94 428 
Property, plant and equipment 12 46 107 31 196 

3,706 (537) 2 3,171 
Other financial assets 1,448 6 3 1,457 
Deferred tax assets 0 19 7 26 
Other assets 36 7 48 91 

Total Non-current assets 5,166 (641) 849 194 180 5,748 
Current assets
Inventories, net 0 4 4 
Trade receivables 0 175 72 22 269 
Other receivables 70 66 22 37 195 
Financial assets 668 (16) 2 12 666 
Cash and cash equivalents 469 37 29 42 577 

Total Current assets 1,207 (16) 280 139 101 1,711 
Assets held for sale 2 3 5 

Total Assets 6,373 (657) 1,129 335 284 7,464 

Equity

5,210 (537) 428 48 61 5,210 
Attributable to non-controlling interests (104) 149 4 41 90 

Total Equity 5,210 (641) 577 52 102 5,300 
Non-current liabilities
Provisions for employee benefits 4 20 18 42 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 5 1 18 24 
Bonds and other debt 1,095 (14) 217 14 15 1,327 
Deferred tax liabilities 1 76 77 
Other non-current liabilities 12 47 59 

Total Non-current liabilities 1,100 (14) 330 33 80 1,529 
Current liabilities
Provisions for employee benefits 31 31 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 14 3 17 
Bonds and other debt 49 (2) 5 85 2 139 

2 119 124 6 251 
Other current liabilities 12 53 38 94 197 

Total Current liabilities 63 (2) 222 250 102 635 
Liabilities relating to assets held for sale 0 

Total Equity and liabilities 6,373 (657) 1,129 335 284 7,464 

Alpitour
Juventus F.C.

Investments accounted for by the equity 
method

Capital issued and reserves attributable to 
owners of the parent

Trade payables



Reconciliation of the consolidated income statement
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Eliminations and
Shortened consolidation C&W Alpitour EXOR Group

€ in millions consolidation adjustments Group Group Juventus F.C. consolidation
Revenues 1 477 344 111 933 
Other revenues from current operations 0 3 5 8 
Purchases of raw materials and changes in inventories 0 (243) (1) (244)
Personnel costs (7) (5) (403) (51) (73) (539)
Costs for external services (7) (81) (76) (15) (179)
Taxes and duties (3) (2) (1) (6)
Depreciation and amortization 0 (22) (9) (15) (46)

(1) (14) (9) (13) (37)
Loss from current operations (17) (5) (45) (42) (1) (110)
Other nonrecurring income (expenses) (5) (4) (25) (1) (3) (38)
Operating loss (22) (9) (70) (43) (4) (148)
Gains (losses) on sales of other non-current assets (17) 0 (17)
Cost of net debt (12) (10) (2) (24)
Other financial income (expenses) 62 0 62 
Financial income (expenses) 33 0 (10) (2) 0 21 
Income taxes (6) 19 11 (4) 20 
Profit (loss) of companies consolidated line-by-line 5 (9) (61) (34) (8) (107)

(267) 95 (1) 1 (172)
Profit (loss) from continuing operations (262) 86 (62) (33) (8) (279)

0 
Consolidated profit (loss) attributable to: (262) 86 (62) (33) (8) (279)
- owners of the parent (262) 86 (47) (34) (5) (262)
- non-controlling interests 0 (15) 1 (3) (17)

Accruals to provisions and other expenses from current 
operations

Share of the profit (loss) of investments accounted for by 
the equity method

Profit (loss) from discontinued operations or assets held 
for sale



PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FOR THE SECOND HALF OF THE YEAR

Risks associated with general economic conditions
EXOR's earnings and financial position and those of its main subsidiaries are influenced by 
various macro-economic factors – including increases or decreases in gross national product, 
the level of consumer and business confidence, changes in interest rates on consumer loans, 
the cost of raw materials and the rate of unemployment – existing in the various countries in 
which they operate. Since the last quarter of 2008, the financial markets have been affected by 
high  levels  of  volatility  with  significant  impacts  on  many  financial  institutions  and,  more 
generally,  on  the  overall  performance  of  the  economy.  The  significant  and  widespread 
deterioration of trading conditions has been compounded by a severe tightening of credit in all 
major markets, both at the consumer and corporate level, and has begun to create a shortage of 
liquidity which will ultimately impact the industrial development of the sectors in which EXOR 
operates and its main holdings.

A growing weakening in the general condition of the economy and in the industries in which the 
main holdings operate combined with a progressive deterioration of the credit market and a 
contraction in consumers’ available income are reflected in a significant decline in demand in 
EXOR's key markets.

The  measures  being  taken  by  governments  and  monetary  authorities  in  response  to  this 
situation are starting to give the first positive signs.
However, should the current weakness and uncertainty continue for a sufficiently long period, 
EXOR's business, strategy and future prospects and those of its main subsidiaries could be 
negatively affected with consequent negative impacts on its earnings and financial position.

Risks associated with EXOR's activities
EXOR conducts  investment  activities  which  involve  normal  risks  such  as  high  exposure  to 
certain sectors or investments, difficulties in identifying new investment opportunities that meet 
the characteristics of the company's objectives or difficulties in disposing of investments owing 
to changes in general economic conditions. The potential difficulties connected with making new 
investments  such  as  unexpected  costs  or  liabilities  could  have  an  adverse  effect  on  the 
company's earnings and financial position. 

The ability  to  access capital  markets  or  other  forms of  financing and the related costs  are 
dependent, among other things, on the company's credit rating.
Any  downgrade  by  the  rating  agencies  could  limit  the  company's  ability  to  access  capital 
markets and increase the cost of capital, with a consequent adverse effect on its earnings and 
financial position.

EXOR's policy and that of the companies in the Holdings System is to keep liquidity in demand 
or short-term deposits and readily negotiable money market instruments and bonds, allocating 
such investments over an appropriate number of counterparties, with the principal purpose of 
having investments which can readily be convertible into cash. The counterparties are chosen 
according to their creditworthiness and reliability. 
However,  in  consideration  of  the  current  financial  crisis,  market  conditions  which  might 
negatively affect the normal operations of financial transactions cannot be excluded.

EXOR's earnings not only depend on the market value of its main holdings but also on the 
dividends  they  pay  and,  in  the  end,  reflect  their  earnings  and  financial  performance  and 
investment and dividend payment policies. A deterioration in the financial market condition and 
the earnings of the main holdings could affect EXOR's earnings and cash flows. 
EXOR mainly  operates through its  investments in  subsidiaries  and associates in  the motor 
vehicle market (Fiat Group), in real estate services (C&W Group), in paper (Sequana Group), in 
tourism (Alpitour Group) and in professional soccer (Juventus Football Club). As a result, EXOR 
is exposed to the typical risks of the markets and industries in which such holdings operate.
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At June 30, 2009, the investment in Fiat (equal to 30.45% of ordinary capital stock and 30.09% 
of preferred capital stock) represented 54% of the market value of EXOR's investment portfolio, 
calculated on the basis of the Net Asset Value (NAV) described on page 6.
Therefore, the performance of the Fiat Group has a very significant impact on EXOR's earnings 
and financial position.

EXOR and its subsidiaries and associates are exposed to fluctuations in currency and interest 
rates  and use  financial  hedging instruments,  compatible  with  the  risk  management  policies 
adopted by each of them. Despite these hedging transactions, sudden fluctuations in currency 
or interest rates could have an adverse effect on EXOR's earnings and financial position. 
The subsidiaries and associates are  generally  exposed to  credit  risk  which  is  managed by 
specific operating procedures. Given its activities, EXOR is not significantly exposed to such 
risk.
EXOR and its subsidiaries and associates are exposed to risks connected with the outcome of 
pending litigation for which it sets aside, where necessary, specific risk provisions. However, 
negative  effects on the earnings and financial  position of  EXOR and/or its subsidiaries and 
associates connected with such risks cannot be excluded.

For  additional  information on the principal  risks  and uncertainties specifically  related to  the 
subsidiaries and associates, reference should be made to the Annual Report 2008.

Business outlook
In  2009,  dividends will  not  be received from the investment holdings Fiat,  Intesa Sanpaolo, 
Juventus Football Club and Alpitour. Consequently, the result for the year of EXOR S.p.A. will 
be determined essentially by the dividends that will be paid by the subsidiary EXOR S.A. during 
the last part of the year. 

Given the continuing uncertainty surrounding the macroeconomic picture and financial market 
performance, it is not possible to give a sufficiently precise indication of the consolidated result 
of  the  EXOR Group  for  full-year  2009.  However,  the  result  will  largely  depend  on  the 
performance of the principal holdings, the outlooks of which are summarized below.

Fiat     Group  
In the second half of 2009, the Fiat Group expects trading conditions to stabilize and improve for 
most of its  businesses with the exception of the truck market and the construction equipment 
business which will continue to suffer depressed demand, with signs of recovery only visible in 
the fourth quarter.

On the basis of performance to-date and barring unforeseen systemic shifts in demand, the 
Fiat Group reaffirms its view that the following conditions will materialize for the whole of 2009:

– global demand for its products will decline by approximately 20% compared to 2008;
– group trading profit will be in excess of € 1 billion;
– restructuring charges will amount to approximately € 300 million and other unusual costs to 

approximately € 200 million;
– the net result of the group will be in excess of € 100 million;
– group net industrial cash flows will be in excess of € 1 billion, with net industrial debt levels 

below the € 5 billion mark, at the end of 2009.
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C&W     Group  
For the entire year, the American real estate crisis and the sharp slowdown of activities in the 
UK will  contribute  to  a particularly  difficult  and challenging scenario.  The notable measures 
taken to improve the efficiency of the operational machine begun in 2008 and continuing into the 
first  part  of  2009  should  ensure  higher  margins  compared  to  the  first  half  results  but  not 
necessarily a net profit. 

Alpitour     Group  
In the financial year 2008/2009, the group will continue its commitments for development and 
investment initiatives aimed at consolidating its leadership position in the Italian market with a 
view to the long-term. However, in light of the difficult economic scenario in which the group is 
operating, all the companies (and in particular Alpitour S.p.A.) are implementing rationalization 
and reorganization plans geared to reducing and cutting structure costs, yet without penalizing 
development activities.

For the current year, the group's objective is to strengthen its position as the market leader, 
consolidate the return on invested capital  and further  improve the financial  situation.  These 
objectives,  nonetheless,  cannot  be  achieved  without  a  recovery  of  market  and  consumer 
confidence, in addition to a lasting serene international political situation and the absence of 
outside factors which may negatively influence consumers' decisions.

Juventus Football     Club  
The  results  for  the  financial  year  2009/2010  will,  as  usual,  be  influenced  by  the  First 
Team's performance in the UEFA Champions League.
Based  on  information  currently  available  and  barring  any  extraordinary  events, 
Juventus Football Club expects to the end the year basically with a breakeven.

Sequana     Group  
The visibility on the change in demand and principal outside factors which may have an impact 
on the Sequana Group's performance in the second half of 2009 remains limited.
Nevertheless,  the initiatives  put  into  place  to  deal  with  the  current  period of  crisis  made it 
possible  to  contain  the negative  impact  on results  despite  a  significant  decline in  business 
volumes; cost savings in 2009 should amount in total to € 92 million. 
The Sequana Group confirms its targets of improving operating margins and reducing debt.
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REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE BY THE PRINCIPAL OPERATING 
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
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(30.45% of ordinary capital stock and 30.09% of preferred capital stock)

On June 10, 2009, the Fiat Group and Chrysler Group LLC finalized the agreement for a global 
strategic  alliance  which  represents  an  important  step  toward  positioning  Fiat  and  Chrysler 
among the leaders of the new generation of global automakers. Under the agreement, Chrysler 
will  have  access  to  Fiat’s  world-class  technology,  platforms and  powertrains  for  small  and 
medium-sized  cars,  enabling  the  US  automaker  to  expand  its  product  offer,  including  low 
environmental  impact  vehicles.  Chrysler  will  also  be  granted  access  to  Fiat’s  international 
distribution network with particular focus on Latin America and Russia. Fiat has a 20% interest 
in the newly-formed Chrysler Group LLC, which could increase up to a total of 35%, if specific 
targets are achieved. Fiat will  have the right to take a majority interest in Chrysler once the 
government loans have been entirely repaid.

The consolidated results of the Fiat Group can be summarized as follows:

For the first half of 2009, Fiat Group net revenues total € 24,452 million, a decrease of 23.8% 
over the same period of the prior year, with all major industrial business reporting a significant 
contraction as detailed below.

The Automobiles businesses, with revenues of € 13,540 million, record a decrease of 14.5% 
compared to the first half of 2008. Fiat Group Automobiles have revenues of € 12,505 million, 
down 14.3% over the first six months of 2008 due to the significant contraction in demand and 
unfavorable  currency  impacts,  while  Maserati  and  Ferrari  have  revenues  of  respectively 
€ 226 million (-43.2%) and € 891 million (-8%).

For the first  half  of 2009,  Agricultural and Construction Equipment (CNH)  revenues total 
€ 5,458 million,  down  17.4%  over  the  same  period  in  2008.  In  US  dollar  terms,  revenues 
declined 28.1%, reflecting the decline in  the construction equipment  industry  and a  weaker 
demand in the agricultural business.
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Half I Quarter II
€ in millions 2009 2008 2009 2008
Net revenues 24,452 32,100 13,184 17,022 
Trading profit (loss) 262 1,897 310 1,131 
Operating profit (loss) 29 1,914 158 1,131 
Profit (loss) for the period (590) 1,073 (179) 646 

(578) 1,009 (168) 604 
Profit (loss) attributable to owners of 
the parent

Balance at
€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Total assets 63,488 61,772 1,716 
Net debt 17,801 17,954 (153)
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 10,013 10,354 (341)

Half 1 Change
€ in millions 2009 2008 %
Automobiles (Fiat Group Automobiles, Maserati, Ferrari) 13,540 15,835 (14.5)
Agricultural and Construction Equipment (CNH-Case New Holland) 5,458 6,608 (17.4)
Trucks and Commercial Vehicles (Iveco) 3,296 6,092 (45.9)
Components and Production Systems (FPT, Magneti Marelli, Teksid, Comau) 4,878 7,672 (36.4)
Other Businesses 550 701 (21.5)
Eliminations (3,270) (4,808) -
Total 24,452 32,100 (23.8)



Between January and June 2009,  Iveco posts revenues of € 3,296 million, down 45.9% over 
the same period in the prior year mainly as a result of the severe crisis in its reference markets.

Trading profit (loss)
The Fiat Group trading profit is € 262 million, down 86.2% over the first half of 2008, with a 
trading margin of 1.1% against 5.9% for the same period of the prior year. Details by sector are 
as follows:

For the first  half  of 2009,  Fiat Group Automobiles report trading profit  of € 125 million (1% 
trading margin). The decrease over the € 436 million figure (3%) for the first six months of 2008 
is attributable to the fall in volumes, unfavorable product mix resulting from the weak demand for 
light  commercial  vehicles  and  pricing  pressure  in  Brazil  which  were  partially  offset  by cost 
containment measures.  Maserati and  Ferrari report declines in trading profit  of respectively 
€ 17 million for Maserati (from € 22 million and a 5.5% trading margin to € 5 million and 2.2%) 
and € 40 million for Ferrari (from € 164 million and a 16.9% trading profit to € 124 million and 
13.9%).
For the first half of 2009, trading profit for  CNH is € 172 million (3.2% trading margin), down 
€ 425 million  from  the  € 597 million  figure  (9%  trading  margin)  for  the  first  half  of  2008. 
Weakness in construction equipment markets and lower  volumes for agricultural  equipment 
were only partially offset by cost containment measures and pricing actions.

In the first half of 2009, Iveco has a trading profit of € 6 million (0.2% trading margin), compared 
to a € 470 million profit (7.7% trading margin) for the same period in 2008, with the decrease 
reflecting the sharp contraction in sales volumes. 
Components and Production Systems report a trading loss of € 154 million compared to a 
€ 281 million trading profit  for  the first  half  of  2008.  The decrease resulting from the fall  in 
volumes was partially compensated by significant cost containment actions. 

Operating profit (loss)
Operating profit for the first half of 2009 is € 29 million compared to € 1,914 million for the first 
six months of 2008. This decrease reflects the decline in trading profit (down € 1,635 million) 
and  the  € 250 million  difference  in  semester-to-semester  one-offs  (net  unusual  income  of 
€ 17 million for the first half of 2008 and € 233 million net expense for the first half of 2009). 

For  the  first  half  of  2009, restructuring  costs total  € 134 million  and  mainly  relate  to 
Fiat Group Automobiles,  Iveco and CNH.  For  the  first  six  months  of  2008,  this  item was a 
positive € 3 million.

There is  other unusual  expense for  the first  half  of  2009 of  € 99 million  which  principally 
relates to provisions for residual value risk on leased vehicles and vehicles in inventory for both 
FGA and Iveco. For the first half of 2008, other unusual income was € 12 million.
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Half 1
€ in millions 2009 2008 Change
Automobiles (Fiat Group Automobiles, Maserati, Ferrari) 254 622 (368)
Agricultural and Construction Equipment (CNH-Case New Holland) 172 597 (425)
Trucks and Commercial Vehicles (Iveco) 6 470 (464)
Components and Production Systems (FPT, Magneti Marelli, Teksid, Comau) (154) 281 (435)
Other Businesses and Eliminations (16) (73) 57 
Total 262 1,897 (1,635)
Trading margin (%) 1.1 5.9 



Profit (loss) before income taxes
The loss before taxes is € 376 million for the first half of 2009 (€ 1,591 million profit in the first 
half  of  2008),  reflecting a  significantly  lower  operating result  and a  decrease in  investment 
income (down € 152 million), partially offset by lower net financial expense.

For the first half of 2009,  net financial expense totals € 371 million (€ 441 million for the first 
half  of  2008)  and  includes  a  € 53 million  gain  from  the  marking-to-market  of  two  stock 
option-related equity swaps. For the first half of 2008, the same item presented a € 142 million 
loss.  Net  of  this  item,  financial  expense  for  the  first  half  of  2009  increased  € 125 million, 
substantially due to higher levels of debt.

For  the  first  six  months  of  2009,  the  result  from  investments  is  a  loss  of  € 34 million, 
compared to a gain of € 118 million for the first half of 2008, principally due to the decrease in 
results reported by joint venture companies.

Income taxes
Income taxes total € 214 million (€ 518 million for the first half of 2008) and relate to the taxable 
income of companies operating outside Italy and IRAP in Italy.

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the parent
The net loss  attributable to owners of the parent is € 578 million for the first half of 2009, 
compared with a net profit of € 1,009 million for the same period in 2008. 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
The equity attributable to owners of the parent of the Fiat Group at June 30, 2009 amounts 
to € 10,013 million with a net decrease of € 341 million compared to the balance at the end of 
2008 (€ 10,354 million) mainly arising from the net loss attributable to owners of the parent for 
the first half of 2009.

Net debt
At June 30, 2009, consolidated net debt totals € 17,801 million, slightly down by € 153 million 
over the € 17,954 million figure at December 31, 2008. The positive cash flows from operating 
activities  during  the  first  half  of  2009  more  than  offset  capital  expenditures  and  currency 
translation differences.

(a) Includes current financial receivables from FGA Capital.
(b) Includes assets and liabilities deriving from the fair value recognition of derivative financial instruments.
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€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Financial payables (23,939) (21,379) (2,560)
- Asset-backed financing (7,539) (6,663) (876)
- Other debt (16,400) (14,716) (1,684)

6 3 3 

(23,933) (21,376) (2,557)
529 764 (235)

(801) (1,202) 401 
Other current securities 182 177 5 
Cash and cash equivalents 6,222 3,683 2,539 
Net (debt) cash (17,801) (17,954) 153 
- Industrial Activities (5,742) (5,949) 207 
- Financial Services (12,059) (12,005) (54)

Current financial receivables from jointly-controlled financial 
services entities (a)

Financial payables, net of intersegment balances and current 
financial receivables from jointly-controlled financial services 
entities
Other financial assets (b)

Other financial liabilities (b)



On  July 28, 2009,  Fiat  announced  that  it  had  successfully  closed  its  offering  for  Notes  of 
€ 1,250 million at a fixed rate of 9% due July 2012 which had been priced on July 23, 2009.
The  Notes,  which  have  been  issued  by  Fiat  Finance  and  Trade  Ltd S.A.,  a  wholly-owned 
subsidiary  of  Fiat S.p.A.,  under  the  Global  Medium Term  Note  Programme  guaranteed  by 
Fiat S.p.A.,  have been rated Ba1 by Moody’s Investors Service, BB+ (with a negative credit 
watch) by Standard & Poor’s and BB+ by Fitch. The Notes have been admitted to listing on the 
Irish Stock Exchange.

On August 7, 2009, Standard & Poor's communicated that it has removed the negative credit 
watch from its rating on Fiat's long-term debt. The rating on Fiat's long-term debt is confirmed at 
"BB+"; the outlook is negative. The short-term debt rating is confirmed at "B".
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(71.3% of capital stock through EXOR S.A.)

The data  presented and commented  below is  taken from the  first-half  interim consolidated 
financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS.

In  the  first  half  ended  June 30, 2009,  excluding  reimbursed  employment  costs  –  managed 
properties, C&W Group records net revenues of $497.9 million, a reduction of 32% compared to 
the same period of 2008 ($734.3 million).
Revenues in the first half continued to be impacted by the effects of the crisis in the United 
States and Europe where the economic slowdown and the continuing credit market difficulties 
adversely  affected  the  real  estate  market  in  terms of  transactions  services  (a  reduction  in 
number and amount) and leasing activities in general. All business areas, both by sector and 
geography, were hurt by the economic crisis and decreased real estate activities which were a 
distinguishing feature of the most important world economies. As a result, management, with 
the support of the board of directors, has continued to review the group's cost structure in order 
to bring it in line with the new market conditions and the persisting weakness that will probably 
continue to negatively affect real estate activities for all of the second half of 2009 and at least 
into the first part of 2010.
Consequently,  cost  reduction  initiatives  begun  in  the  second  half  of  2008  have  continued 
(mainly  employment  and  G&A)  and  are  expected  to  produce  annual  costs  savings  of 
approximately $304 million.

Geographically, the United States, Canada and Latin America account for 68% of net revenues 
in the first half (net revenues at $338.3 million, -31% compared to the first half of 2008). Europe, 
on the other hand, represents 27% of consolidated net revenues ($133.5 million, -35% against 
the first half of 2008). Asia was also impacted by the real estate market slowdown and in the 
first half of 2009 recorded revenues of $26 million, -30% compared to the corresponding period 
of 2008.
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Half I Half I Change
$ in millions 2009 2008 Amount %
Revenues 637.3 873.0 (235.7) (27.0)

497.9 734.3 (236.4) (32.2)
Loss attributable to owners of the parent (76.0) (67.4) (8.6) 12.8

$ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 823.4 883.9 (60.5)
Consolidated net financial position (255.3) (150.2) (105.1)

Revenues excluding reimbursed 
employment costs – managed properties

Revenues by geographical area Half I Half I Change
$ in millions 2009 2008 Amount %
America 338.3 492.6 (154.3) (31.3) 
EMEA 133.5 204.2 (70.7) (34.6) 
Asia 26.0 37.0 (11.0) (29.7) 
Corporate 0.1 0.5 (0.4) n.s.
Total 497.9 734.3 (236.4) (32.2) 



As for margins, although pointing out that because of the seasonal nature of the business the 
contribution to the results for the year is concentrated in the last months of the year, the group 
was adversely affected by the sharp fall  in business activities that was only partly offset by 
cost-cutting initiatives begun at the end of 2008 and continuing into the first part of 2009. In 
particular, as far as expenses are concerned:

- commission expenses for the first half of 2009 amount to $156.1 million, down $88.9 million 
(-36% compared to the first  half  of  2008,  equal  to  $245 million)  due to the decrease in 
revenues coupled with the change in the commission rates payable to brokers in the United 
States;

- operating  expenses  for  the  first  half  of  2009  amount  to  $433.1 million,  a  reduction  of 
$129.9 million (-23%) compared to the first half of 2008 ($563 million) due to cost-cutting 
initiatives put into place at the end of 2008 and in the first quarter of 2009.

C&W Group reports a net loss of $76 million compared to a net loss of $67.4 million reported in 
the  first  six  months  of  2008.  The  loss  for  2009  includes  approximately  $30 million  of 
depreciation and amortization charges (in line with 2008) and also a nonrecurring impairment 
charge  on  intangible  assets  of  $15 million  and  restructuring  expenses  of  $15.2 million  in 
connection with the cost-cutting initiatives outlined above.

C&W Group's net debt position at June 30, 2009 is $255.3 million compared to approximately 
$150 million at the end of December 2008 and $200 million at June 30, 2008. This situation is 
mainly due to the absorption of working capital associated with the slowdown of activities at the 
end of 2008 and the beginning of 2009.
In the first half of 2009, C&W Group renegotiated the terms of its revolving line of credit. It also 
received  a  $50 million  subordinated  line  of  credit  from  EXOR  for  financing  needs  and 
investment opportunities.
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(100% of capital stock)

The consolidated results of the Alpitour Group in the first half of the financial year 2008/2009 
(November 1, 2008 – April 30, 2009) can be summarized as follows:

In order to be able to correctly interpret the results for the period, the very highly seasonal 
nature of the Alpitour Group’s business should be taken into consideration since revenues are 
principally concentrated in the summer season while structure costs are essentially  incurred 
regularly throughout the course of the year.

In the first half of the financial year 2008/2009, the tourism sector was strongly influenced by the 
international macroeconomic scenario. With the exception of New Year’s, the results of which 
are  considered  satisfactory,  the  first  six  months  of  the  year  recorded  a  decline  in  sales 
compared to the corresponding period of 2007/2008. Moreover, final customers paid special 
attention to prices, a sign of a general reduced capacity for spending.

Considering this scenario, the Alpitour Group reports consolidated net sales in the first half of 
the financial  year  2008/2009 of  € 344 million,  a  decrease  of  10.3% compared to  the same 
period of last year.

The Tour Operating and Hotel divisions post a contraction of volumes compared to the first half 
of  2007/2008:  this  performance was highly  influenced by the general  slowdown  in  demand 
connected with  the negative  economic situation,  and –  as regards the hotels  –  the effects 
arising from the exclusion from the scope of consolidation of the “Villaggio Bravo Kiwengwa” 
structure (sold to third parties in January 2008) and a reduction in the number of Italian hotels 
due to the expiry of lease contracts.

As for the other divisions of the group:

- the general contraction of volumes by the Aviation division owing to a weak tourism sector 
was only partly offset by the acquisition of traffic for ad hoc operations and wet leases. 
Business in the first half also benefited from the new B737-800 aircraft that started flights on 
short-medium haul destinations, further raising seat availability;

- the consolidation of coordination activities for proprietary points of sale begun in previous 
years and the strengthening of franchising relationships with affiliated agencies enabled the 
Distribution division to offset at least in part the negative effects deriving from the overall 
slowdown in demand;
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Half I Half I Change
€ in millions 2009 2008 Amount %
Net sales 344.0 383.7 (39.7) (10.3)
Loss from ordinary operations (40.4) (32.8) (7.6) 23.2 
Loss attributable to owners of the parent (34.0) (28.6) (5.4) 18.9 

4/30/2009 10/31/2008 Change
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 47.9 84.2 (36.3)
Consolidated net financial position (55.7) 33.6 (89.3)



- the results of the M.I.C.E. (Meeting Incentive Convention Events) division were affected by 
the negative economic scenario which significantly impacted the propensity of companies to 
invest in the sector;

– Incoming division activities were shaped by the impact of the negative economic situation 
not only in the Italian market – where the reduction reported was also caused by specific 
strategic decisions aimed at favoring margins – but also in important reference markets in 
North Europe (Great Britain and Germany).

The six months ended April 30, 2009 present a loss from ordinary operations of € 40.4 million 
against a loss of € 32.8 million for the corresponding period to April 30, 2008. 
Net  nonrecurring  expenses  recorded  by  the  group  during  the  period  are  approximately 
€ 1.3 million (compared to net nonrecurring income of € 0.8 million in the same period of last 
year), attributable to exceptional expenses resulting from the early closing of rent contracts on 
two hotel structures in Italy and expenses connected with reorganization and restructuring plans 
by the group for rationalizing and cutting structure costs.

The consolidated loss attributable to owners of the parent amounts to € 34 million compared to 
a consolidated loss of € 28.6 million in the first six months of the prior year.

The consolidated net financial position at the end of the first half is a negative € 55.7 million, 
compared  to  a  positive  € 33.6 million  at  October 31, 2008.  The  negative  change  of 
€ 89.3 million  largely  reflects the effects of  the seasonal  nature  of  the business on working 
capital in addition to cash flows for the period.
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(60% of capital stock)

The  following  data  and  comments  are  taken  from  the  interim  management  statement  at 
June 30, 2009 (approved by the board of directors on August 6, 2009).
The financial year of Juventus Football Club does not coincide with the calendar year but covers 
the period July 1 – June 30 which corresponds to the soccer season. 
The meeting of  the Juventus Football  Club board of  directors  for  the approval  of  the draft 
financial statements at June 30, 2009 is scheduled for September 24, 2009.

(a) Figures refer to the end of the period.

In the period July 1, 2008  to June 30, 2009, Juventus Football Club recorded an 18% increase 
in revenues, which came to € 240.4 million, thanks mainly to higher ticket sales and higher radio 
and television rights and media income.
Specifically, increases were reported in ticket sales (from € 13.9 million to € 18.4 million), radio 
and television rights and media income (from € 124.2 million to € 150.4 million, largely due to 
participation in the UEFA Champions League and the contractual increase of revenues from 
media  rights  granted  on  the  Italian  Championship),  sponsorships  and  advertising  (from 
€ 41.2 million to € 46.1 million and other revenues (from € 7.2 million to € 8.2 million resulting 
from higher accrued insurance claim settlements).
Revenues  from  players'  registration  rights  remained  more  or  less  unchanged  (from 
€ 17.1 million to € 17.3 million). 

Operating costs, equal to € 194.3 million (compared to € 174.5 million in the prior year), show 
an increase of 11.4%. The change is due to strengthening the First Team following the renewal 
of contracts for some players and contracts signed with new players acquired in the course of 
the 2008/2009 Transfer Campaign, the variable portion of the salaries of players and technical 
staff linked to qualification for the UEFA Champions League 2008/2009 and 2009/2010 covered 
by  individual  contracts, higher compensation paid as incentives to terminate players and a 
higher share of radio and television income paid to visiting teams.

Operating income for the year 2008/2009 is € 13.8 million, compared to an operating loss of 
€ 10.3 million for the prior year.

Amortization  and  impairments  of  players'  registration  rights  amount  to  € 28 million 
(€ 32.3 million in the prior year).  The reduction is largely due to the absence of  impairment 
losses and the effects of the extension of the duration of the contracts of some players (and, 
accordingly, the relative amortization plans).

The  net  income  for  the  year  ended  June 30, 2009 is  € 6.6 million,  compared  to  a  loss  of 
€ 20.8 million in the prior year.

Shareholders' equity at June 30, 2009 is equal to € 101.8 million, an increase over € 95.4 million 
at June 30, 2008 due to the net income reported for the period.

The net financial position is a positive € 25.6 million compared to a positive € 11.3 million at 
June 30, 2008.
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Year Year Change
€ in millions 2008/2009 2007/2008 Amount %
Revenues 240.4 203.7 36.7 18.0
Operating income (loss) 13.8 (10.3) 24.0 n.s.
Net income (loss) 6.6 (20.8) 27.4 n.s.

101.8 95.4 6.4 
25.6 11.3 14.3 

Shareholders' equity (a)

Net financial position (a)



(26.65% of capital stock through EXOR S.A.)

The consolidated results of the Sequana Group for the first half of 2009 are summarized as 
follows:

The  pro-forma  results  for  the  first  half  of  2008  have  been  reclassified  taking  into  account  the  March  2009  sale  of  the  Produits  
Promotionnels business of Antalis, and including the Papiers Autocopiants and Décor Asie activities of Arjowiggins, and “Antonin Rodet” 
in the “Net result from exceptional items”.

Comments on the changes in the results compare the first half of 2009 with the pro-forma first 
half of 2008.

In the first half of 2009, consolidated net sales of the Sequana Group amount to € 2,067 million, 
a reduction of 17.5% compared to the first half of 2008 (-16% at constant exchange rates).

The  gross  operating  profit  is  € 108 million,  down  approximately  5%  compared  to  the 
corresponding period of the prior year, whereas the trading profit totals € 73 million, with a 3.5% 
trading margin (3.0% in the first half of 2008). The current profit decreased by 45% from the 
same period of last year; the consolidated result attributable to owners of the parent is a loss of 
€ 21 million after recognizing € 25 million of nonrecurring expenses mainly in connection with 
restructuring expenses for the two operating companies.

At June 30, 2009, the consolidated net debt of the Sequana Group amounts to € 732 million, a 
reduction of € 59 million compared to December 31, 2008, largely due to the good performance 
of operating activities despite the payment of € 43 million for restructuring expenses.

The results for the first half of 2009 by Arjowiggins and Antalis are presented below.

Arjowiggins reported sales of € 769 million, a reduction of 18% compared to pro-forma sales 
for the first half of 2008 (-20% at constant exchange rates). 
Gross operating profit is € 64 million, an increase of 7%; trading profit is € 39 million, with a 5% 
trading margin (+1.5 percentage point compared to the first half of 2008). In the first half of 
2009,  Arjowiggins  benefited  from steady  prices  and  an  improvement  in  its  product  mix,  a 
reduction in costs as a result of cost-cutting plans and a reduction in some raw material prices.
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Half I Change %
2008 2008

€ in millions 2009 reported pro-forma reported pro-forma
Net sales 2,067 2,628 2,506 (21.3) (17.5)
Gross operating profit 108 98 114 10.2 (5.3)
Trading profit 73 58 76 25.9 (3.9)
Current profit 33 40 60 (17.5) (45.0)

(21) 21 21 n.s. n.s.
Profit (loss) attributable to owners of 
the parent

6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 681 706 (25)
Consolidated net debt 732 791 (59)



Antalis  reported sales of € 1,399 million, down 16% compared to pro-forma sales for the first 
half  of  2008  (-13%  at  constant  exchange  rates).  Gross  operating  profit  is  € 49 million,  a 
reduction of 21% compared to the same period of the prior year; trading profit decreased to 
€ 39 million, representing a 2.8% trading margin compared to 3.1% in the corresponding period 
of the prior year.
In a European market featuring a sharp decrease in volumes (-17%), Antalis managed to keep 
the percentage reduction of the operating margin to just 0.3 points compared to the first half of 
2008.  Such  performance  is  attributable  to  a  rigorous  control  over  fixed  overheads,  the 
integration of Map activities and steady prices in all market segments.

During  the  six-month  period,  disposals  included  the  activities  of  Produits Promotionnels  by 
Antalis, Décor Asie by Arjowiggins and AWA Ltd. Moreover, disposals are being finalized for the 
Autocopiants paper business by Arjowiggins and Antonin Rodet. The disposal of the Sécurité 
business is subject to the outcome of negotiations currently in progress.
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Half-year Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements at June 30, 2009



EXOR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

40 HALF-YEAR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Half I Half I
2008 € in millions Note 2009 2008 Change

2,664 Revenues 11 933 1,048 (115)
35 Other revenues from current operations 8 7 1 

(884) Purchases of raw materials and changes in inventories (244) (271) 27 
(1,218) Personnel costs (539) (607) 68 

(425) Costs for external services (179) (194) 15 
(12) Taxes and duties (6) (6) 0 
(85) Depreciation and amortization (46) (41) (5)
(78) Accruals to provisions and other expenses from current operations (37) (38) 1 

(3) Profit (loss) from current operations (110) (102) (8)
(22) Other nonrecurring income (expenses) 12 (38) (16) (22)
(25) Operating profit (loss) (148) (118) (30)
86 Gains (losses) on sales of investments (17) 1 (18)

(50) Cost of net debt (24) (24) 0 
93 Other financial income (expenses) 62 116 (54)

129 Financial income (expenses) 13 21 93 (72)
104 Profit (loss) before income taxes (127) (25) (102)
(28) Income taxes 20 4 16 
76 Profit (loss) of companies consolidated line-by-line (107) (21) (86)

352 14 (172) 303 (475)
428 Profit (loss) from continuing operations (279) 282 (561)

0 0 0 0 
428 Consolidated profit (loss) attributable to: (279) 282 (561)
302 owners of the parent (262) 207 (469)
126 non-controlling interests (17) 75 (92)

Basic earnings attributable to owners of the parent (€): 15
1.83 - per ordinary share (1.26) 1.29 (2.55)
1.97 - per savings share (0.95) n.a. n.a.
1.88 - per preferred share (1.21) 1.34 (2.55)

Basic earnings from continuing operations (€): 15
1.83 - per ordinary share (1.26) 1.29 (2.55)
1.97 - per savings share (0.95) n.a. n.a.
1.88 - per preferred share (1.21) 1.34 (2.55)

Diluted earnings attributable to owners of the parent (€): 15
1.81 - per ordinary share (1.25) n.a. n.a.
1.95 - per savings share (0.94) n.a. n.a.
1.86 - per preferred share (1.20) n.a. n.a.

Diluted earnings from continuing operations (€): 15
1.81 - per ordinary share (1.25) n.a. n.a.
1.95 - per savings share (0.94) n.a. n.a.
1.86 - per preferred share (1.20) n.a. n.a.

Share of the profit (loss) of investments accounted for by the 
equity method

Profit (loss) from discontinued operations or assets held for 
sale



EXOR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(a) Includes the share of other comprehensive income of € 11 million acquired in the transaction for the merger by incorporation of IFIL.
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€ in millions Half 1 2009 Half 1 2008
Profit (Loss) for the period (A) (279) 282 
Gains (Losses) on cash flow hedges (6) 4 
Gains (Losses) on fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 167 (409)
Gains (Losses) on exchange differences on translating foreign operations 9 (33)
Actuarial gains (losses) (5) 3 
Share of other comprehensive income of investments consolidated by the equity method 88 (15)
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 0 7 
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax (B) 253 (443)
Total comprehensive income A+B (26) (161)
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

0 (84)
 - non-controlling interests (26) (77)
 - owners of the parent (a)



EXOR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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€ in millions Note 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Non-current assets
Goodwill 16 379 470 (91)
Other intangible assets 16 428 461 (33)
Property, plant and equipment 17 196 196 0 
Investments accounted for by the equity method 18 3,171 3,253 (82)
Other financial assets 19 1,457 1,413 44 
Deferred tax assets 29 26 17 9 
Other non-current assets 91 93 (2)

Total Non-current assets 5,748 5,903 (155)
Current assets
Inventories, net 4 3 1 
Trade receivables 269 333 (64)
Other receivables 195 182 13 
Financial assets 19 666 350 316 
Cash and cash equivalents 20 577 975 (398)

Total Current assets 1,711 1,843 (132)
Assets held for sale 21 5 3 2 

Total Assets 7,464 7,749 (285)

Equity 22
Capital issued and reserve attributable to owners of the parent 5,210 3,616 1,594 
Attributable to non-controlling interests 90 1,810 (1,720)

Total Equity 5,300 5,426 (126)
Non-current liabilities
Provisions for employee benefits 24 42 42 0 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 25 24 105 (81)
Bonds and other debt 28 1,327 1,292 35 
Deferred tax liabilities 29 77 86 (9)
Other non-current liabilities 59 58 1 

Total Non-current liabilities 1,529 1,583 (54)
Current liabilities
Provisions for employee benefits 24 31 42 (11)
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 25 17 23 (6)
Bonds and other debt 28 139 113 26 
Trade payables 251 326 (75)
Other current liabilities 197 236 (39)

Total Current liabilities 635 740 (105)
Liabilities relating to assets held for sale 21 0 0 0 

Total Equity and liabilities 7,464 7,749 (285)



EXOR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(a) The EXOR capital stock increase to service the exchange of the shares of the merged company IFIL was recognized at the fair value of the  
73,809,496 ordinary shares and 9,168,894 savings shares issued, respectively equal to € 5.36 and € 3.86 corresponding to the opening stock 
market prices on March 2, 2009, the first day of market trading of these shares. Of the total of € 431 million, € 83 million was allocated to capital 
stock, corresponding to the par value, and € 348 million to paid-in capital.

(b) Non-controlling interests at December 31, 2008 amounted to € 1,810 million, of which € 1,706 million represented the non-controlling interests of 
the  IFIL Group.  The  difference  of  € 1,275 million  between  that  amount  and  the  fair  value  of  the  EXOR  capital  increase  described  above 
(€ 431 million) was allocated to owners of the parent and then entries were made to eliminate the share of the reserves regarding cash flow 
hedges (-€ 1 million), exchange differences on translating foreign operations (-€ 10 million), changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial 
assets (+€ 102 million) and the share of comprehensive income of the investments consolidated using the equity method (-€ 80 million) previously 
recorded in the consolidated financial statements of the IFIL Group.

(c) The effects of the merger transaction on other comprehensive income are shown separately.
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Cumulative reserve Reserve for Cumulative share 
for exchange changes in of OCI of investments Equity Equity 

Cash flow differences on fair value of accounted for attributable to attributable
Capital Treasury Capital Earnings hedge translating available-for- Actuarial using the owners non-controlling Total

€ in millions stock stock reserves reserves reserve foreign operations sale FA gains (losses) equity method of the parent interests equity
Equity at January 1, 2008 163 (70) 386 2,834 4 (37) 804 2 75 4,161 2,242 6,403 
Stock-based compensation 4 4 2 6 
Dividends distributed 0 (33) (33)
Total comprehensive income 207 5 (23) (266) 2 (9) (84) (77) (161)
Effect of ownership percentage increase in C&W Group 0 (6) (6)

(22) (22) (9) (31)
Effect of percentage ownership increase in IFIL by IFI (4) (4) (86) (90)
Total changes 0 0 0 185 5 (23) (266) 2 (9) (106) (209) (315)
Equity at June 30,  2008 163 (70) 386 3,019 9 (60) 538 4 66 4,055 2,033 6,088 

Effect of ownership percentage increase in the Fiat Group 
following treasury stock purchase

Cumulative reserve Reserve for Cumulative share 
for exchange changes in of OCI of companies Equity Equity 

Cash flow differences on fair value of accounted for attributable to attributable
Capital Treasury Capital Earnings hedge translating available-for- Actuarial using the owners non-controlling Total

€ in millions stock stock reserves reserves reserve foreign operations sale FA gains (losses) equity method of the parent interests equity
Equity at December 31, 2008 163 (70) 386 3,108 (8) (24) 247 (1) (185) 3,616 1,810 5,426 

83 0 348 431 (431) 0 

(3) 0 1,267 1,264 (1,264) 0 

(1) (10) 102 0 (80) 11 (11) 0 
Allocation of expenses relative to the merger (17) (17) (17)
Other changes connected with the merger 14 14 14 
Purchases of treasury stock (18) 18 (18) (18) (18)
Dividends distributed (82) (82) (82)
Total comprehensive income (c) (262) (6) 5 167 (3) 88 (11) (15) (26)
Stock-based compensation 1 1 1 
Other changes 1 1 1 2 
Total changes 83 (21) 366 904 (7) (5) 269 (3) 8 1,594 (1,720) (126)
Equity at June 30, 2009 246 (91) 752 4,012 (15) (29) 516 (4) (177) 5,210 90 5,300 
Note 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22

Fair value of capital stock increase by Exor S.p.A. to service 
the exchange of IFIL ordinary and savings stock held by non-
controlling interests (a)
Allocation to owners of the parent of the interest of ex-non-
controlling interests of IFIL (b)
Effects of the merger transaction on other comprehensive 
income (b)



EXOR GROUP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Of which € 96 million refers to the sale of a 0.32% stake in Intesa Sanpaolo ordinary capital stock.

The composition of cash and cash equivalents is presented in Note 20.
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€ in millions Half I 2009 Half I 2008
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Consolidated profit (loss) (279) 282 
Elimination of income and expenses not affecting cash:
  Share of the profit (loss) of investments accounted for by the equity method 172 (303)
  Depreciation, amortization, impairments and accruals 90 59 
  (Gains) losses on disposals, net 17 (1)
  Other (income) expenses 11 8 
  Current and deferred income taxes (20) (4)

40 227 
Income taxes paid (12) (10)
Change in working capital (137) (235)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES (118) 23 
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (28) (24)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 4 8 

(3) (104)
0 (20)

(339) (129)
99 (a) 4 

Changes in the scope of consolidation 1 (1)
Other cash flows from (used in) divestiture (investment) transactions (3) 17 
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (269) (249)
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends distributed by EXOR (82) 0 
Dividends paid by consolidated companies to non-controlling interests (2) (34)
Purchases of treasury stock (18) 0 
Expenses correlated to the merger by incorporation of IFIL (17) 0 
New loans secured 198 298 
Loans repaid (130) (234)

15 15 
Other flows from (used in) financing activities 4 (57)
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (32) (12)
EFFECT OF CHANGE IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES 2 (5)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (417) (243)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, AT START OF THE PERIOD 973 919 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, AT END OF THE PERIOD 556 676 
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (417) (243)

Dividends received from investments 

Other investments in non-current financial assets made by EXOR and other companies in the 
Holdings System 
Other investments in non-current financial assets made by companies consolidated line-by-line 
Other investments in current financial assets made by EXOR and companies in the Holdings 
System 
Proceeds from the sales of non-current financial assets 

Net effect of securitization of the Alpitour Group trade receivables 



EXOR GROUP
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information on the activities of the group
EXOR S.p.A. is the new name that IFI S.p.A. assumed on March 1, 2009, the effective 
date  of  the  deed  of  merger  by  incorporation  of  the  subsidiary  IFIL S.p.A.,  signed  on 
February 20, 2009.
EXOR S.p.A. is a corporation organized under the laws of the Republic of Italy. The head 
office of the company is located in Turin, Italy, Corso Matteotti 26.
As of March 2, 2009, all categories of EXOR shares (ordinary, preferred and savings) are 
traded  on  the  Electronic  Share  Market  of  the  Italian  Stock  Exchange.  Previously,  the 
ordinary capital  stock was wholly  owned by the parent,  Giovanni Agnelli e C. S.a.p.az., 
and only the preferred shares were listed.
Additional information in provided in the “EXOR Group Profile” in the Interim Management 
Report.

2. Accounting policies used in the preparation of the half-year consolidated financial 
statements and valuation criteria
The  half-year  condensed  consolidated  financial  statements  have  been  prepared  in 
accordance  with  International  Financial  Reporting  Standards  (IFRS)  issued  by  the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and endorsed by the European Union. 
The designation IFRS also includes all valid International Accounting Standards (IAS), as 
well  as  all  interpretations  of  the  International  Financial  Reporting  Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC), formerly the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).

These  half-year  condensed  consolidated  financial  statements  have  been  prepared  in 
accordance  with  IAS 34  –  Interim  Financial  Reporting applying  the  same  accounting 
principles and policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at 
December 31, 2008, to which reference should be made, other than those described in 
Note 9 “Adoption of new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations issued by 
the IASB, adopted from January 1, 2009”.

The  half-year  condensed  consolidated  financial  statements  of  the  EXOR Group  are 
expressed in millions of Euro.

The functional currency of the group is the Euro.

The half-year condensed consolidated financial statements have also been drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions contained in Consob Resolutions 15519 and 15520 and in 
Communication  6064293  dated  July 28, 2006,  pursuant  to  art. 9,  paragraph  3,  of 
Legislative Decree 38 dated February 28, 2005.

Pending  possible  amendments  to  IAS 27  proposed  in  Exposure  Draft  ED 10 
“Consolidated Financial  Statements”  that  should  definitively  clarify  the  criteria  that  will 
permit a verification of the presence of de facto control in accordance with IAS 27, the 
EXOR Group has continued to exclude the Fiat Group, in which it has a 30.45% holding in 
ordinary  capital  stock,  from  line-by-line  consolidation,  consistently  with  the  method 
followed for the first-time adoption of IFRS and the preparation of the annual and half-year 
consolidated financial statements of 2005 and thereafter.
However, in order to provide more meaningful disclosure, Note 32 presents consolidated 
pro-forma data as if the Fiat Group had been consolidated line-by-line.

3. Use of estimates
The  preparation  of  half-year  condensed  consolidated  financial  statements  requires 
management  to  make  estimates and  assumptions  that  affect  the reported amounts of 
revenues,  expenses,  assets  and  liabilities  and  disclosure  of  contingent  assets  and 
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liabilities at  the date of  these financial  statements.  If  in  the future such estimates and 
assumptions, which are based on the best judgment of the group companies' management 
at the date of the interim financial statements, differ from the actual circumstances, the 
original estimates and assumptions will be modified as appropriate in the period in which 
the circumstances change.
Some valuation procedures,  in particular those of a more complex nature such as the 
determination of any impairment losses or reversals of fixed assets and the fair value of 
unlisted financial investments, are generally only carried out in their entirety during the 
preparation  of  the  annual  consolidated  financial  statements,  when  all  the  required 
information is available, except in the event of indications of an impairment which require 
an immediate assessment.

Similarly, actuarial valuations that are required for the determination of employee benefit 
provisions  are  also  usually  only  carried  out  during  the  preparation  of  the  annual 
consolidated financial statements.

Income taxes  are  recognized  based  upon  the  best  estimate  of  the  weighted  average 
income tax rate expected for the full financial year.

4. Formats of the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements
The formats of the income statement, statement of financial position, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of changes in cash flows are the same as those used for the 
consolidated  financial  statements  at  December 31, 2008.  A  separate  statement  of 
comprehensive income is also presented and the statement of changes in equity has been 
changed pursuant to the new IAS 1 (revised in 2007).

Moreover, the effects of related party transactions are not significant and, consequently, 
are not presented separately in the consolidated financial statement formats. They are, 
however, summarized and commented in Note 30.

5. Content of the notes
The notes include only the effect of those events and transactions considered relevant to 
an understanding of the changes in the statement of financial position and cash flows and 
the operations of the group for the first half of the current year. Accordingly, these notes do 
not disclose updates that are not considered relevant to the information which has already 
been disclosed in the notes to the most recent annual consolidated financial statements, 
ended December 31, 2008.

6. Unusual  and/or  atypical  transactions  and  significant  nonrecurring  events  and 
transactions and related party transactions
Pursuant to Consob Communication 6064293 dated July 28, 2006, during the first half of 
2009, there are no unusual and/or atypical transactions, also on the basis of information 
received from the companies of the group, which are required to be disclosed as defined 
by that Communication.
Information  relative  to  nonrecurring  transactions  of  minor  significance  is  disclosed  in 
Note 12.

7. Seasonality of transactions
The earnings of EXOR S.p.A. and the subsidiary EXOR S.A. are normally affected by the 
concentration of dividends received from investee companies in the first half, while the 
most  important  costs and expenses are distributed on a homogeneous basis  over the 
course of the entire year; however, investment or disposal transactions, if any, may have a 
material effect on the income statement and balance sheet when realized.
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In order to properly evaluate the half-year consolidated result, it should be noted that also 
seasonal  factors  have  a  sharp  impact  on  the  transactions  of  C&W Group,  the 
Alpitour Group and Juventus Football Club. In particular:

- C&W     Group  
A considerable part of C&W Group's revenues is seasonal. This seasonality causes a 
significant  increase in results in the second half  of  the year,  particularly  in the last 
quarter. This concentration is due to an industry-wide focus on completing transactions 
toward the fiscal year end.
For C&W Group, this has historically resulted in lower profits or a loss in the first and 
second quarters, with profits growing or losses decreasing in each subsequent quarter.

- Alpitour     Group  
The high degree of seasonality which characterizes the tourism sector has a significant 
effect on results during the course of the year.
One-third of annual sales is generally realized in the first half (the winter season, from 
November to April) and two-thirds in the second six months (the summer season, from 
May to October),  mostly focused in July and August which are the months with the 
highest margins.
Consequently,  the result  for  the first  half  of  the year  is  negatively  impacted by the 
seasonal  trend  of  revenues  and  also  by  some  significant  costs  (typically  lease 
payments for hotel structures and aircraft and depreciation charges) that are recognized 
in the income statement on a straight-line basis.

- Juventus Football Club
The financial year of Juventus Football Club does not coincide with the calendar year 
but covers the period July 1 – June 30 which corresponds to the soccer season.
Economic  performance  is  characterized  by  a  highly  seasonal  trend,  typical  of  the 
sector, due to the calendar of sports events (on the basis of which the most important 
revenue items are recognized) and the players' transfer campaign, which is conducted 
in  July  and August  (first  phase)  and in  January (second phase)  which can have a 
significant impact on the income statement and the balance sheet. 
The main cost items unrelated to individual sports events (such as compensation and 
amortization  of  the  players)  are  instead  recognized  in  the  income  statement  on  a 
straight-line basis.

8. Significant investments and business disposals or investments being disposed in 
the first half

Alpitour Group
In the first half of 2009, corresponding to the period November 1, 2008 – April 30, 2009, 
there were no changes in the Alpitour Group's scope of consolidation.

C&W Group
On June 30, 2009, C&W Group acquired 100% of Pacific  Investment Corp.  (Japan) for 
approximately $120.
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9. Adoption of new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations issued by 
the IASB

Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations adopted from January     1,     2009  
IAS 1  –  Presentation  of  Financial  Statements.  The  revised  version  of  the  standard, 
applicable from January 1, 2009,  requires an entity to present all  changes in its equity 
resulting from transactions with owners in a statement of changes in equity. All non-owner 
changes (that is, changes in comprehensive income) are required to be presented either in 
a single statement of comprehensive income showing performance for the period or in two 
statements (a separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income). In 
any  event,  transactions  with  non-owners  may  not  be  presented  in  the  statement  of 
changes in equity. 
The group has adopted the revised standard retrospectively from January 1, 2009, electing 
to  show  all  non-owner  changes  in  two  statements  entitled  respectively  “consolidated 
income  statement”  and  “consolidated  statement  of  comprehensive  income”  and 
consequently changed the presentation of its “statement of changes in equity”.
As part of its 2008 annual improvements project, the IASB published an amendment to 
IAS 1.  The amendment,  applicable from January 1, 2009,  requires an entity to classify 
derivative  financial  instruments  not  held  for  trading  between  current  and  non-current 
assets  and  liabilities.  The  adoption  of  this  change  will  not  have  any  effect  on  the 
measurement of items in the financial statements. 

IFRS 8  –  Operating  Segments.  The  new  IFRS  8  was  adopted  to  replace  IAS 14  – 
Segment Reporting. The new standard requires segment information to be based on the 
components of  the entity  that  management  uses  to  make decisions about  operational 
matters. The standard requires these operating segments to be identified on the basis of 
internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the entity's management in order to allocate 
resources to the segment and assess its performance. The adoption of this standard does 
not  have  any  effect  on  the  measurement  of  items  in  the  financial  statements.  The 
reportable operating segments identified in accordance with IFRS 8 have remained the 
same as those identified under IAS 14.

IAS 23  –  Borrowing  Costs.  The  revised  version  of  the  standard,  applicable  from 
January 1, 2009, removes the option of immediately recognizing as an expense borrowing 
costs that relate to assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale. 
The  standard is applicable prospectively to borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets 
capitalized starting from January 1, 2009.

IFRS 2 – Share-based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations. For the purpose of 
measuring share-based payments,  only  service  conditions and performance conditions 
may be considered vesting conditions.
The amendment also specifies that all  cancellations, whether by the entity or by other 
parties, should receive the same accounting treatment. 

IAS 19 –  Employee  Benefits.  This  amendment,  applicable  prospectively  to  changes in 
plans occurring on or after January 1, 2009, clarifies the definition of positive/negative past 
service costs and states that in the case of a curtailment, only the effect of the reduction 
for future service shall be recognized immediately in the income statement, while the effect 
arising from past service periods shall be considered a negative past service cost. The 
Board also revised the definition of short-term employee benefits and long-term employee 
benefits and the definition of a return on plan assets, stating that this amount should be net 
of any costs for administering the plan (other than those included in the measurement of 
the defined benefit obligation).
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IAS 20 – Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance. This amendment, 
applicable prospectively from January 1, 2009, states that the benefit of a government loan 
at  a  below-market  rate  of  interest  shall  be  treated  as  a  government  grant  and  then 
accounted for  in  accordance with  IAS 20.  The previous version of  IAS 20 required no 
benefits to be separately recognized in the case of a government loan received as a grant 
at a below-market rate of interest; accordingly, loans were recognized at the amount of the 
proceeds received and the lower interest expense on such loans was directly recognized 
in the income statement as financial income (expenses). In accordance with the transition 
rules,  the  amendment  has  been  adopted  on  January 1, 2009  for  government  loans 
obtained at below-market rates on or after that date. For such loans, on disbursement the 
loan  is  recognized  at  its  fair  value  and  deferred  income  is  recorded  for  the  amount 
corresponding to the benefit yet to be received of obtaining the loan at a below-market 
interest rate grant (namely the grant, the difference between the fair value of the loan and 
the amount received). This benefit is then recognized in income when and only when all 
conditions for the grant to be recognized are satisfied, on a systematic basis over the 
periods necessary to match the income with the costs which it is intended to offset. No 
significant accounting effects arose at June 30, 2009 from adopting the improvement.

IAS 28 –  Investments in Associates, and IAS 31 – Investments in Joint Ventures. These 
amendments, applicable from January 1, 2009, require that for investments accounted for 
by  the  equity  method  a  recognized  impairment  loss  should  not  be  allocated  to  the 
individual assets (and in particular goodwill) that form part of the carrying amount of the 
investment  in  the  associate,  but  to  the  carrying  amount  of  the  investment  overall. 
Accordingly any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized in full.
Specific additional disclosures are also required for investments in associates and joint 
ventures measured at  fair  value in accordance with  IAS 39,  correspondingly amending 
also  IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments - Disclosures and IAS 32 -  Financial Instruments - 
Presentation.

IAS 38 – Intangible Assets.  This amendment requires expenditures on advertising and 
promotional  activities  to  be  recognized  in  the  income statement.  Further,  in  the  case 
expenditures are incurred to provide future economic benefits to an entity, but where no 
intangible asset is recognized, an entity shall recognize the expenditure as an expense 
when it has the right to access the goods in the case of the supply of goods or when it 
receives the services in the case of the supply of  services.  The standard has also been 
amended in order to allow entities to use the unit of production method for determining the 
amortization charge for an intangible asset with a finite useful life. 

Amendments and interpretations effective from January     1,     2009 but not applicable to the   
group
The following standards and interpretations have also been issued and are effective from 
January 1, 2009 and relate to matters that were not applicable to the group at the date of 
this Half-yearly Financial Report.

. Amendment to IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment.

. Amendment to IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 – Presentation 
of Financial Statements – Financial Instruments.

. Improvement to IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and IAS 31 – Investments in Joint 
Ventures.

. Improvement to IAS 29 – Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies.

. Improvement to IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets.

. Improvement to IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

. Improvement to IAS 40 – Investment Property.

. IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes.

. IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate.

. IFRIC 16 – Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation.
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Accounting standards,  amendments and interpretations not  yet  effective  and not  early 
adopted by the group
On  January 10, 2008,  the  IASB  issued  a  revised  version  of  IFRS 3  –  Business 
Combinations and an amended version of IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements.  The main changes that revised IFRS 3 makes to  existing requirements are 
the elimination of the need to measure every asset and liability at fair value at each stage 
in a step acquisition of subsidiaries. Goodwill is only to be measured on acquiring control, 
as the difference at acquisition date between the value of any investment in the business 
held  before the acquisition,  the consideration transferred and the net  assets acquired. 
Moreover,  for  a  business  combination  in  which  the  acquirer  achieves  control  without 
purchasing  all  of  the  acquiree,  the  remaining  (non-controlling)  equity  interests  are 
measured  either  at  fair  value  or  by  using  the  method  already  provided  previously  in 
IFRS 3. The revised IFRS 3 also requires acquisition-related costs to be recognized as 
expenses and the acquirer to recognize the obligation to make an additional payment as 
part of the business combination (contingent consideration). In the amended version of 
IAS 27, the IASB has added a requirement specifying that changes in a parent’s interest in 
a subsidiary  that  do not  result  in  the loss of  control  must  be accounted for as equity 
transactions and recognized within equity.  Moreover,  when a parent  loses control  of a 
subsidiary  but  retains  an  ownership  interest  it  must  initially  measure  any  retained 
investment at fair value. At the date when control is lost, the difference between the fair 
value and the carrying amount of the retained interest must be recognized in the income 
statement. Finally, the amendment to IAS 27 requires losses pertaining to non-controlling 
interests to be allocated to non-controlling interest equity, even if this results in the non-
controlling interest having a deficit balance. The new rules will  apply prospectively from 
January 1, 2010.

As  part  of  its  2008  annual  improvements  project,  the  IASB issued  an  amendment  to 
IFRS 5  –  Non-Current  Assets  Held  for  Sale  and  Discontinued  Operations.  This 
amendment, to be applied prospectively from January 1, 2010, requires an entity that is 
committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary to classify all the assets 
and liabilities of that subsidiary as held for sale, regardless of whether the entity will retain 
a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

On July 31, 2008,  the  IASB issued  an amendment  to  IAS 39 –  Financial  Instruments: 
Recognition  and  Measurement.  This  amendment,  to  be  applied  retrospectively  from 
January 1, 2010,  clarifies how to apply  the standard for what can be designated as a 
hedged item in particular situations.

In  November  2008,  the  IFRIC  also  issued  interpretation  IFRIC 17  –  Distributions  of 
Non-cash Assets to Owners. The interpretation clarifies that dividends payable should be 
measured at the fair value of the net assets to be distributed when it becomes mandatory 
to recognize the relative liability to the stockholders. Moreover, an entity should recognize 
the difference between the dividends paid and the carrying amount of the net assets used 
for payment in the income statement. 
The  interpretation  is  effective  prospectively  from  January 1, 2010,  for  annual  periods 
beginning on or after July 1, 2009.

On January 29, 2009, the IFRIC issued interpretation IFRIC 18 – Transfers of Assets from 
Customers  (applicable  from January 1, 2010,  for  annual  periods  beginning  on  or  after 
July 1, 2009).  The  interpretation  clarifies  the  accounting  treatment  to  be  followed  for 
agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of  property, plant and 
equipment that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a network or to 
provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services.
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On March 5, 2009, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 7 – Financial  Instruments: 
Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments (applicable from January 1, 2010, for 
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009). The amendment establishes additional 
disclosure  requirements  for  fair  value  measurements  (methods  used  and,  if  valuation 
techniques are employed, the assumptions used to determine the fair value of each class 
of  financial  asset  or  liability)  and  liquidity  risk  (analysis  of  the  maturities  of  financial 
liabilities represented by derivative instruments or other liabilities). 

On  March 12, 2009,  the  IASB  issued  amendments  to  IFRIC 9  –  Reassessment  of 
Embedded  Derivatives  and  to  IAS 39  –  Financial  Instruments:  Recognition  and 
Measurement. The amendments allow entities to reclassify certain financial instruments 
out  of  the  ‘fair  value  through  profit  or  loss’  category  in  specific  circumstances.  The 
amendments clarify that on the reclassification of a financial asset out of the ‘fair value 
through profit  or  loss’  category  all  embedded derivatives  have to  be assessed and,  if 
necessary,  separately  accounted for in the financial  statements.  The amendments are 
effective retrospectively from December 31, 2009; at the date of the Half-yearly financial 
report, the European Union had yet to complete the endorsement process required for the 
amendments to be applicable.

On April 16, 2009, the IASB issued a series of amendments to IFRS (Improvements to 
IFRSs). Details are provided in the following paragraphs of those identified by the IASB as 
resulting in accounting changes for presentation, recognition and measurement purposes, 
leaving out any amendments regarding changes in terminology or editorial changes which 
are likely to have minimal effects on accounting and effects on the group consolidated 
financial  statements  and  amended  standards  or  interpretations  not  applicable  to  the 
EXOR Group.

– IFRS 2 –  Share-based Payment. This amendment, applicable from January 1, 2010 
(with early application permitted), clarifies that following the change made by IFRS 3 to 
the  definition  of  a  business  combination,  the  contribution  of  a  business  on  the 
formation  of  a  joint  venture  and  the combination  of  entities  or  businesses  under 
common control do not fall within the scope of IFRS 2.

– IFRS 5  –  Non-current  Assets  held  for  Sale  and  Discontinued  Operations.  This 
amendment, which shall be applied prospectively from January 1, 2010, clarifies that 
IFRS 5  and  other  IFRSs  that  specifically  refer  to  non-current  assets  (or  disposal 
groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations set out all the disclosures 
required in respect of those assets or operations.

– IAS 1  –  Presentation  of  Financial  Statements.  This  amendment,  applicable  from 
January 1, 2010  (with  early  application  permitted),  clarifies  that  an  entity  should 
classify  a  liability  as  current  if  it  does  not  have  unconditional  right  to  defer  the 
settlement for at least twelve months after the end of the year, even when there is an 
option  by  the  counterparty  that  could  require  a  settlement  in  the  form  of  equity 
instruments.

– IAS 7 – Statement of Cash Flows. This amendment, applicable from January 1, 2010, 
clarifies that only expenditures that result in a recognized asset in the statement of 
financial position are eligible for classification as investing activities in the statement of 
cash flows; cash flows originating from expenditures that do not result in a recognized 
asset (as could be the case for advertising and promotional activities and staff training) 
must be classified as cash flows from operating activities.

– IAS 17 – Leasing. Following the changes, the general conditions required by IAS 17 
for classifying a lease as a finance lease or an operating lease will also be applicable 
to the leasing of land, independent of whether the lease transfers ownership by the 
end of the lease term. Before these changes, the standard required the lease to be 
classified as an operating lease if ownership of the leased land was not transferred at 
the end of the lease term because land has an indefinite useful life. The amendment is 
applicable from January 1, 2010. At the date of adoption, the classification of all land 
elements of unexpired leases must be reassessed, with any lease newly classified as 
a finance lease to be recognized retrospectively.
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– IAS 36  –  Impairment  of  Assets. This  amendment,  applicable  prospectively  from 
January 1, 2010, states that each unit or group of units to which goodwill is allocated 
for the purpose of impairment testing shall not be larger than an operating segment as 
defined by paragraph 5 of IFRS 8 –  Operating Segments before any aggregation on 
the basis  of  similar  economic characteristics  and other  similarities  as permitted by 
paragraph 12 of IFRS 8.

– IAS 38 –  Intangible Assets. IFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) states that if  an intangible 
asset acquired in a business combination is separable or arises from contractual or 
other  legal  rights,  sufficient  information  exists  to  measure  its  fair  value  reliably; 
amendments are made to IAS 38 to reflect that revision of IFRS 3. Moreover, these 
amendments clarify the valuation techniques commonly used to measure intangible 
assets at fair value when assets are not traded in an active market; in particular, such 
techniques include discounting the estimated future net cash flows from an asset, and 
estimating the costs the entity avoids by owning an intangible asset and not having to 
license it from another party in an arm’s length transaction or the costs to recreate or 
replace it (as in the cost approach). The amendment is applicable prospectively from 
January 1, 2010; if an entity applies the revised IFRS 3 for an earlier period it shall 
also apply this amendment to IAS 38.

– IAS 39  –  Financial  Instruments:  Recognition  and  Measurement.  This  amendment 
restricts the non-applicability of IAS 39 under paragraph 2(g) of the standard to forward 
contracts between an acquirer and a selling stockholder to buy or sell an acquiree in a 
business combination at a future acquisition date when the completion of the business 
combination is not dependent on further actions of either party and only the passage of 
a  normal  period  of  time  is  required.  Option  contracts,  whether  or  not  currently 
exercisable,  which allow one party  to control  the occurrence or  non-occurrence of 
future events and on exercise will result in control of an entity are therefore included in 
the scope of IAS 39. The amendment also clarifies that embedded prepayment options 
whose exercise price compensates the lender for the loss of interest income resulting 
from the prepayment of the loan shall be considered closely related to the host debt 
contract and therefore not accounted for separately. Finally, the amendment clarifies 
that the gains or losses on a hedged instrument must be reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss during the period that the hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss. 
The amendment is effective prospectively from January 1, 2010; early application is 
permitted.

– IFRIC 9 –  Reassessment  of  Embedded Derivatives.  This  amendment  is  applicable 
prospectively  from  January 1, 2010  and  excludes  from  the  scope  of  IFRIC 9 
embedded derivatives in contracts acquired in a business combination, a combination 
of entities or businesses under common control or the formation of a joint venture. 

At the date of the Half-yearly financial report, the European Union had yet to complete the 
endorsement process required for the improvements to be applicable. 

In June 2009, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 2 – Share-based Payment: Group 
Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions. The amendment clarifies the scope of 
IFRS 2 and the interactions of IFRS 2 and other standards. In particular, it clarifies that an 
entity  that  receives  goods  or  services  in  a  share-based  payment  arrangement  must 
account  for  those  goods  or  services  no  matter  which  entity  in  the  group  settles  the 
transaction, and no matter whether the transaction is settled in shares or cash; moreover, 
it clarifies that a ‘group’ has the same meaning as in IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements, that is, it includes only a parent and its subsidiaries. In addition, the 
amendment clarifies that  an entity must  measure the goods or services it  received as 
either an equity-settled or a cash-settled share-based payment transaction assessed from 
its own perspective, which may not always be the same as the amount recognized in the 
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consolidated financial statements. The amendment also incorporates guidance previously 
included in IFRIC 8 - Scope of IFRS 2 and IFRIC 11 – IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share 
Transactions. As a result, the IASB has withdrawn IFRIC 8 and IFRIC 11. The amendment 
is  effective  from  January 1, 2010;  at  the  date  of  this  Half-yearly  financial  report,  the 
European  Union  had  yet  to  complete  the  endorsement  process  required  for  the 
amendment to be applicable. 

10. Risk management
During the course of the first half of 2009, there were no significant changes in policy. For 
additional  information,  reference  should  be  made  to  Note  38  of  the  EXOR Group 
consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2008.

11. Segment information 
The EXOR Group presents  information  by business segment  which  coincides with  the 
consolidated data of each subsidiary and associate holding company, every one of which 
represents  an  investment  in  a  major  business  segment:  C&W Group,  Alpitour Group, 
Juventus Football Club, Fiat Group, Sequana Group and the EXOR Holdings System. As a 
result,  the adoption of IFRS 8 – Operating Segments, applicable from January 1, 2009, 
does not require any changes from the previous information presented on the basis of 
IAS 14.
The segment information relating to continuing operations is presented in the following 
tables; the segment information relating to discontinued operations or assets held for sale 
is presented in Note 21.
For an analysis of the performance of the various segments, please refer to the section 
“Review of  performance by the principal  operating subsidiaries  and associates”  in  the 
Interim Management Report. 

The income statement by business segment is as follows:
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Fiat
€ in millions C&W Group Group Group Group Total
Half I 2009
Revenues 477 344 111 1 933 
Operating profit (loss) (70) (43) (4) (31) (148)
Financial income (expenses) (10) (2) 0 33 21 
Income taxes 19 11 (4) (6) 20 

(61) (34) (8) (4) (107)

(1) 1 (167) (5) (172)

0 
Consolidated profit (loss) attributable to: (62) (33) (8) (167) (5) (4) (279)
owners of the parent (47) (34) (5) (167) (5) (4) (262)
non-controlling interests (15) 1 (3) (17)

Alpitour Sequana EXOR Holdings 
SystemJuventus

Profit (loss) of companies consolidated line-
by-line
Share of the profit (loss) of investments 
accounted for by the equity method
Profit (loss) from discontinued operations or 
assets held for sale



Segment assets are as follows:
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Alpitour Fiat Sequana
€ in millions C&W Group Group Juventus Group Group Total
Half I 2008
Revenues 570 384 93 1 1,048 
Operating profit (loss) (48) (34) (16) (20) (118)
Financial income (expenses) (2) (2) 0 97 93 
Income taxes 7 7 (5) (5) 4 

(43) (29) (21) 72 (21)

(1) 1 297 6 303 

0 
Consolidated profit (loss) attributable to: (44) (28) (21) 297 6 72 282 
owners of the parent (22) (20) (9) 206 4 48 207 
non-controlling interests (22) (8) (12) 91 2 24 75 

EXOR Holdings 
System

Profit (loss) of companies consolidated 
line-by-line
Share of the profit (loss) of investments 
accounted for by the equity method
Profit (loss) from discontinued operations 
or assets held for sale

C&W Group Alpitour Fiat Sequana EXOR Holdings
€ in millions Group Juventus Group Group System Total
Half 1 2009
Assets
Investments accounted for by the equity method 1 2,986 184 3,171 
Other assets 1,129 332 281 2,546 4,288 
Assets held for sale 2 3 5 
Total assets 1,129 335 284 2,986 184 2,546 7,464 
Liabilities and equity 
Total liabilities and equity 1,129 335 284 0 0 5,716 7,464 

(6) (9) (13) (28)
Amortization and depreciation (22) (8) (15) (1) (46)
Impairment losses on assets (7) (2) (3) (10) (22)
Cash flows 0 
Cash flows from operating activities (73) (76) 23 8 (118)
Cash flows from investing activities (5) (9) (9) (246) (269)
Cash flows from financing activities 54 47 (69) 32 

Investments in property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

C&W Group Alpitour Fiat Sequana EXOR Holdings
€ in millions Group Juventus Group Group System Total
Year 2008
Assets
Investments accounted for by the equity method 1 3,062 190 3,253 
Other assets 1,212 392 298 2,591 4,493 
Assets held for sale 3 3 
Total assets 1,212 393 301 3,062 190 2,591 7,749 
Liabilities and equity
Total liabilities and equity 1,212 393 301 0 0 5,843 7,749 

(31) (18) (55) (104)
Amortization and depreciation (42) (15) (27) (1) (85)
Impairment losses on assets (7) (12) (19)
Cash flows 0 
Cash flows from operating activities (44) 26 9 170 161 
Cash flows from investing activities (44) (10) (4) 290 232 
Cash flows from financing activities 78 (24) (1) (388) (335)

Investments in property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets



12. Other nonrecurring income (expenses)
Details are as follows:

In the first half of 2009, impairment losses on assets amount to € 22 million and refer to:

– goodwill recognized on the acquisition of C&W Group for € 17 million;
– video archives of Juventus Football Club for € 3 million;
– net carrying amount of € 2 million on the “Lady Christina” cruise ship owned by the 

Alpitour Group which was destroyed by a fire in December 2008.

In the first half of 2008, impairment losses on assets amounted to € 12 million and included 
those  relating  to  Juventus  Football  Club's  video  archives  (€ 5 million)  and 
players' registration rights (€ 7 million).

Additional details are provided in Notes 16 and 17.

Net other expenses, totaling € 16 million, comprise:

– expenses associated with the C&W Group restructuring plan (€ 11 million);
– income accrued by the Alpitour Group on the recognition of a receivable for settlement 

from the  insurance  company relating  to  the  “Lady Cristina”  cruise  ship  (€ 2 million), 
described above;

– net other expenses (€ 3 million).

In the first half of 2008, net other expenses amounted to € 4 million and referred to:

– the special fee on behalf of Mr Gabetti approved by the IFIL board of directors' meeting 
held on May 13, 2008 (-€ 5 million);

– the excess of EXOR's share in the IFIL Group's consolidated equity compared to the 
cost of IFIL stock purchased (+€ 2 million);

– net other expenses (-€ 1 million).
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€ in millions Half I 2009 Half I 2008 Change
Impairment losses on assets (22) (12) (10)
Net other income (expenses) (16) (4) (12)
Total other nonrecurring income (expenses) (38) (16) (22)



13. Financial income (expenses)
Details of the composition of financial income (expenses) are as follows:

(a) Disposal of a 0.32% stake in ordinary capital stock. 
(b) Received from SGS for € 38 million and from Gruppo Banca Leonardo for € 2 million.
(c) Received from Intesa Sanpaolo for € 110 million, SGS for € 26 million and Gruppo Banca Leonardo for € 3 million.

14. Share of the profit (loss) of investments accounted for by the equity method
Details are as follows:

(a) Includes a positive consolidation adjustment for € 3 million.
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€ in millions Half I 2009 Half I 2008 Change
Fiat Group (167) (a) 297 (464)
Sequana Group (5) 6 (11)
Sundry C&W Group companies (1) (1) 0 
Sundry Alpitour Group companies 1 1 0 
Total (172) 303 (475)

€ in millions Half I 2009 Half  I 2008 Change
Losses (gains) on sales of other non-current financial assets:

(17) (a) 0 (17)
Other investments 0 1 (1)

(17) 1 (18)
Cost of net debt

18 19 (1)

(2) 3 (5)
Exchange differences (4) (1) (3)
Interest expenses on loan transactions (35) (44) 9 
Commissions for unused credit lines (1) (1) 0 
Total cost of net debt (24) (24) 0 
Other financial income (expenses)
Dividends received 40 (b) 139 (c) (99)
Interest income on other financial assets 5 6 (1)
Changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities 17 (29) 46 

62 116 (54)
Financial income (expenses) 21 93 (72)

Intesa Sanpaolo 

Total losses (gains) on sales of other non-current financial 
assets

Income on current securities and financial assets and cash and 
cash equivalents 
Net income on exchange rate and interest rate hedging 
transactions 

Total other financial income (expenses)



15. Earnings per share

(a) The earnings attributable to owners of the parent have been adjusted to take into account the dilutive effect arising from the  
theoretical exercise of the stock option plans granted by the subsidiaries and associates of the group using their own equity 
instruments.
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Year 2008 Half I 2009 Half I 2008

160,044,740 number 135,256,575 86,450,000 
9,168,894 number 6,094,996 -

66,080,860 Average number of preferred shares outstanding number 71,326,160 71,441,160 
435 Net earnings attributable to owners of the parent € in ml (262) 207 
293 Earnings attributable to ordinary shares € in ml (170) 111 

1.831 per ordinary share – basic € (1.26) 1.290 
1.810 € (1.25) -

18 Earnings attributable to savings shares € in ml (6) -
1.970 per savings share – basic € (0.95) -
1.949 € (0.94) -

124 Earnings attributable to preferred shares € in ml (86) 96 
1.882 per preferred share – basic € (1.21) 1.340 
1.862 € (1.20) -

435 Earnings from continuing operations € in ml (262) 207

293 € in ml (170) 111 
1.831 per ordinary share – basic € (1.26) 1.290 
1.810 € (1.25) -

18 € in ml (6) -
1.970 per savings share – basic € (0.95) -
1.949 € (0.94) -

124 € in ml (86) 96 
1.882 per preferred share – basic € (1.21) 1.340 
1.862 € (1.20) -

Average number of ordinary shares issued and 
outstanding
Average number of savings shares outstanding

per ordinary share – diluted (a)

per savings share – diluted (a)

per preferred share – diluted (a)

Earnings from continuing operations attributable to 
ordinary shares

per ordinary share – diluted (a)

Earnings from continuing operations attributable to 
savings shares

per savings share – diluted (a)

Earnings from continuing operations attributable to 
preferred shares

per preferred share – diluted (a)



16. Goodwill and other intangible assets
The composition of goodwill is as follows:

At June 30, 2009, following the merger by incorporation of IFIL, the goodwill arising from 
the purchases of IFIL stock was recognized as a deduction from equity, consistently with 
the allocation of the exchange reserve to equity.

C&W Group tests goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives annually 
for impairment on October 1 or whenever events or circumstances indicate that the asset 
may be impaired. 
Due to the continuing deterioration in the global economic conditions and the impact on 
C&W Group's  actual  revenues,  earnings  and  cash  flows  in  the  current  year  and  on 
projected results, it was required to assess the carrying value of its goodwill in the U.S. 
Cash Generating  Unit  (“CGU”)  at  June 30, 2009.  The remaining CGUs of  C&W Group 
were not tested for impairment since there were no indications of impairment. The method 
used to determine the recoverable amount of the U.S. CGU is consistent with that applied 
in the financial statements at December 31, 2008. Accordingly, reference should be made 
to  the  notes  to  the  consolidated  financial  statements  at  December 31, 2008  of  the 
EXOR Group for an illustration of such method.
The estimated recoverable amount of goodwill is $10 million (€ 7.5 million) lower than the 
carrying  amount  and,  therefore,  an  impairment  charge  of  the  same  amount  was 
recognized in the first half ending June 30, 2009. Furthermore, an impairment loss was 
taken on the entire amount of goodwill of € 9.5 million on the capitalization of the expenses 
incurred by EXOR S.A. for the acquisition of C&W Group.
In  total,  therefore,  impairment  losses  recognized  on  goodwill  in  the  first  half  ending 
June 30, 2009 relating to C&W Group amount to € 17 million.

The composition of other intangible assets is the following:

The negative change of € 7 million in “Concessions, licenses and trademarks” includes the 
impairment  loss  on  Juventus Football Club's  video  archives  taken  on  the  basis  of  the 
purchase  contracts  and  the  relative  cash  and  earnings  flows  for  € 3 million  and  also 
amortization and other charges for € 4 million.
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€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Concessions, licenses and trademarks 213 220 (7)
Players' registration rights 79 93 (14)
Other intangible assets 136 148 (12)

Net carrying amount of intangible assets 428 461 (33)

€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Goodwill on 48,750,000 IFIL ordinary shares purchased in 2007 0 68 (68)

EXOR Group 0 68 (68)
Goodwill on the acquisition of C&W Group (Group's share) 301 322 (21)
Goodwill on other companies of C&W Group 51 53 (2)

C&W Group 352 375 (23)
Jumboturismo S.A. 11 11 0
Altamarea V&H Compagnia Alberghiera S.p.A. 8 8 0
Viaggidea S.p.A. 6 6 0
AW Events S.r.l. 2 2 0

Alpitour Group 27 27 0
Net goodwill 379 470 (91)



The  negative  change  in  players'  registration  rights  (€ 14 million)  and  other  intangible 
assets (€ 12 million) is largely attributable to amortization charged during the first half.

17. Property, plant and equipment
The changes in property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Increases in property, plant and equipment for € 19 million, include:

− betterments  and  work  to  bring  the  Alpitour Group  hotel  structures  up  to  standards 
(€ 3 million);

− equipping  the  Alpitour Group's  aircraft,  mainly  chargeable  to  the  new  B737-800 
(€ 5 million);

− costs incurred by Juventus Football Club to develop the commercial areas outside the 
stadium (€ 6 million);

− other investments (€ 5 million) made mainly by C&W Group.

Impairment losses (€ 2 million) refer to the impairment loss on the carrying amount of the 
“Lady Christina”  Nile  cruise  ship  owned  by  the  Egyptian  subsidiary 
“Orient Shipping for Floating Hotels” which was destroyed by a fire in December 2008. In 
view of the incident and considering that the ship was covered by insurance, settlement 
income was accrued as nonrecurring income for the same amount and recorded as a 
receivable from the insurance company.

Other changes principally refer to the reclassification to “Assets held for sale” (€ 2 million) 
of  the  carrying  amount  of  the  “Lady  Sophia”  cruise  ship  owned  by  the  subsidiary 
“El Masrein for Hotel and Shipping Construction”, sold in June 2009.

18. Investments accounted for by the equity method
Details are as follows:
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€ in millions
Balance at December 31, 2008 196 
Increases 19 
Depreciation (16)
Impairment losses (2)
Exchange differences and other changes (1)
Total changes 0 
Balance at June 30, 2009 196 

6/30/2009 12/31/2008
consolidated % Carrying consolidated % Carrying

€ in millions amount amount Change
Fiat Group 29.40 2,986 29.40 3,062 (76)
Sequana Group 26.94 184 26.91 190 (6)
Sundry C&W Group associates - 0 - 0 0 
Sundry Alpitour Group associates - 1 - 1 0 

3,171 3,253 (82)



The analysis of the changes during the first half is as follows:

Highlights of the Fiat Group are presented below (see also Note 32).

The carrying amount of the investment in the Fiat Group includes goodwill recognized for 
€ 33 million.
The goodwill included in the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements of the 
Fiat Group amounts to € 2,796 million (€ 2,815 million at December 31, 2008).

Highlights of the Sequana Group are presented below.

Goodwill  included  in  the  half-year  condensed  consolidated  financial  statements  of  the 
Sequana Group  amounts  to  € 636 million  at  June 30, 2009  (€ 630 million  at 
December 31, 2008).
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€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Opening balance 3,253 3,473 (220)
Decreases 0 (5) 5 

(172) 352 (524)
Translation differences 73 (123) 196 
Dividends distributed (7) (158) 151 

(62) (166) 104 
Transfer of fair value from cash flow hedges to the income statement 76 (84) 160 
Other changes 10 (36) 46 
Total changes (82) (220) 138 
Closing balance 3,171 3,253 (82)

Share of  profit  (loss) of investments accounted for by the equity 
method (Note 14)

Fair value changes, cash flow hedges, actuarial gains (losses), 
share-based payments, recognized directly in equity 

Fiat Group
€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008
Total assets 63,488 61,772 
Current and non-current liabilities 52,724 50,671 
Revenues 24,452 59,380 
Consolidated profit (loss) (590) 1,721 
of which, attributable to the EXOR Group (167) 467 
Net financial position (4,537) (4,821)
Fair value of interest held by the EXOR Group based on stock
market prices at period-end 2,521 1,600 

Sequana Group
€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008
Total assets 2,914 3,359 
Current and non-current liabilities 2,229 2,645 
Revenues 2,079 4,951 
Consolidated profit (loss) (22) (430)
Of which, attributable to the EXOR Group (5) (115)
Net debt 732 791 
Fair value of interest held by the EXOR Group based on stock
market prices at period-end 64 57 



19. Financial assets
The composition of financial assets is as follows:

Details are as follows:

(a) The  carrying  amount  includes  goodwill  of  € 5 million  originating  from  the  acquisition  of  100%  of  the  capital  stock  of 
Ancom USA Inc made by the subsidiary EXOR S.A. in 2007.

The  investment  in  Intesa Sanpaolo is  measured  at  fair  value  (with  recognition  of 
unrealized gains/losses in equity) on the basis of the market price at June 30, 2009 equal 
to € 2.3 per share for a total of € 184 million.
The  original  purchase  cost  is  € 238.5 million  (€ 2.98  per  share);  at  June 30, 2009  the 
negative  fair  value  adjustment  recognized  in  equity  amounts  to  € 55 million.  Such 
reduction in value compared to the original cost, equal to 23%, is not considered objective 
evidence of its impairment at June 30, 2009.
Moreover, it should be noted that the measurement of the investment at the market price 
at August 21, 2009 (€ 2.75 per share) amounts to € 220 million (-7.8% compared to the 
original cost).
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€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Non-current financial assets 1,457 1,413 44 
Current financial assets 666 350 316 
Total financial assets 2,123 1,763 360 

Other non-current financial assets Current financial assets
€ in millions 6/30/2009 % held 12/31/2008 % held 6/30/2009 12/31/2008
Investments at fair value
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. 184 0.68% 297 1.00%
SGS S.A. 1,035 15.00% 869 15.00%
Gruppo Banca Leonardo S.p.A. 88 9.74% 88 9.76%
Banijay Holding S.A.S. 21 17.03% 21 17.03%

19 1.96% 20 1.96%
Other investments at fair value 1 1 

Total investments 1,348 1,296 0 0 
Other investments at fair value
NoCo B LP Fund 23 24 
DLMD bonds 4 13 
Sundry investments at fair value 2 0 

29 37 

Other investments at amortized cost
Perfect Vision convertible bonds 71 67 

71 67 0 0 
Other financial assets at fair value
Security deposits 5 8 
Credit instruments 0 0 596 298 
Equity shares 0 0 65 49 

5 8 661 347 
Other financial assets and financial receivables 
Derivative financial instruments 0 4 2 1 
Receivables and other financial assets 4 1 3 2 

4 5 5 3 

Total other financial assets 109 117 666 350 
Total 1,457 1,413 666 350 

NoCo A LP (a)



The investment in SGS is measured at fair value (with recognition of the unrealized gains 
in equity) on the basis of the market price at June 30, 2009, equal to CHF 1,346 per share 
(at  the  CHF/Euro  exchange  rate  of  1.5265),  for  a  total  of  € 565 million.  The  original 
carrying amount of the investment in SGS is € 470 million.

The fair value measurement of Gruppo Banca Leonardo will be carried out at year-end.

Non-current financial assets include:

− Perfect  Vision  Limited  convertible  bonds,  subscribed  to  by  the  subsidiary 
EXOR S.A. in 2008, yielding a fixed rate of 5% until conversion of the bonds in 2013, 
which  will  give  EXOR S.A.  a  40%  equity  stake  in  Vision Investment  Management 
Limited.
At  June 30, 2009,  the  bond  principal  measured  at  amortized  cost  is  € 67 million 
including interest capitalized in the first half while the embedded derivative is measured 
at the fair value of € 4 million. The fair value adjustment will be carried out at year-end. 
At  June 30, 2009,  negative  exchange  differences  were  recognized  for  € 1 million 
deriving  from the measurement  of  the bonds at  the period-end exchange rate  and 
interest income of € 1 million.

− in July 2008, certain clauses of the  bonds issued by DLMD were renegotiated as a 
result of which the bonds were subdivided into Senior and Junior bond portions. The 
redemption of the Junior portion scheduled for 2010, in exchange for a higher yield, is 
subordinate to that of the Senior portion.
EXOR S.A. holds a nominal  amount of  bonds for € 27 million,  of  which € 12 million 
represents  Senior  bonds  and  € 15 million  Junior  bonds.  At  December 31, 2008,  an 
impairment loss was recognized on the Junior portion for its entire nominal amount. At 
June 30, 2009, additional impairment losses were recognized for a total of € 11 million, 
of  which  € 2 million  relates  to  the  Junior  portion  for  the  interest  capitalized  to 
June 30, 2009 and € 9 million to the Senior portion, written down for an amount up to 
the market value at June 30, 2009 of the guarantee obtained.
The Senior portion that was not written down, equal to € 4 million, is guaranteed by 
EXOR S.A.'s share of the 10,806,343 Sequana shares used by contract to guarantee 
DLMD's bond issue.
Current financial assets include receivables for interest income on the Senior portion of 
the DLMD bonds for approximately € 1 million, collected at the end of July 2009.

Current financial assets include:

− equity shares listed in major international markets and listed bonds with maturities of 
more than three months issued by leading financial institutions with high ratings.  Such 
securities are held by the Holdings System for trading and measured at fair value on 
the basis of the market price at period-end, translated, where necessary, at  period-end 
exchange rates, with a corresponding entry to income. Derivative financial instruments 
are also used;

− securities  subscribed  by  Alpitour  measured  at  fair  value  (residual  amount  of 
€ 12 million) as part of the securitization of trade receivables;

− foreign exchange forwards put into place by C&W Group to hedge any exchange rate 
variations in intercompany commercial transactions (fair value at June 30, 2009 is a 
positive € 2 million).
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The analysis of changes during the first half of 2009 is as follows:

Non-current financial assets
Decreases in non-current financial assets (€ 118 million) refer to:

− the sale of a 0.32% stake in Intesa Sanpaolo ordinary capital stock for € 113 million;
− reimbursement from the Perella Weinberg Alpha Large Cap fund after its liquidation 

for € 3 million: 
− other decreases referring to C&W Group for € 2 million.

At  June 30, 2009,  the  decrease  in  the  investment  in  Intesa Sanpaolo,  equal  to 
€ 113 million, is the result of the derecognition of the carrying amount (-€ 96 million) of the 
stake sold (0.32% of ordinary capital stock) and the adjustment of the remaining interest to 
fair value at period-end (-€ 17 million).
The derecognition of the carrying amount of the interest sold (-€ 96 million) includes the 
original  purchase  cost  of  € 113 million  net  of  the  cumulative  negative  fair  value  of 
€ 17 million.

In the first half of 2009, EXOR S.p.A. also sold call options on 85,600,000 Intesa Sanpaolo 
ordinary  shares  for  an  equivalent  total  of  € 14 million  and  put  options  on  15,000,000 
Intesa Sanpaolo ordinary shares for an equivalent total  of € 4 million.  During the same 
period, 10,000,000 call options previously sold were repurchased for an equivalent total of 
€ 0.5 million. The early closing of the 10,000,000 options led to a net gain of € 1.6 million.
The  options  sold  and  not  yet  expired  at  June 30, 2009  show a  positive  fair  value  of 
€ 10.3 million.
Moreover, 10,000,000 put options were also purchased for an equivalent € 3 million, which 
at June 30, 2009 show a negative fair value of € 0.6 million. The 19,500,000 call options 
sold in the second half of 2008 and remaining at December 31, 2008, expiring in February 
2009, have not been exercised. The relative income (€ 0.3 million) has been recognized in 
the income statement under financial income.

The positive change in “fair value recognized in equity” (+€ 150 million) comprises the fair 
value  adjustment  at  period-end  of  the  investments  in SGS  (+€ 165 million),  in  the 
remaining stake  in  Intesa Sanpaolo  (-€ 17 million)  and  in  the  NoCo B investment  fund
(+€ 2 million).

The  change  in  fair  value  through  profit  or  loss  (-€ 11 million)  refers  to  the  additional 
impairment charges on the bonds issued by DLMD.

Current financial assets
Increases in current financial assets (€ 501 million) include investments in securities and 
investments  held  for  trading  made  by  the  Holdings  System  (€ 485 million),  securities 
subscribed to by the subsidiary Alpitour (€ 12 million) and other investments for € 4 million.
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Non-current financial assets Current financial assets
€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 6/30/2009 12/31/2008
Opening balance 1,413 2,675 350 160 
Increases 6 91 501 617 
Decreases (118) (521) (203) (363)
Fair value recognized in equity 150 (422) 0 (4)

17 (415)
Fair value through profit or loss (11) (11) 18 (59)
Exchange differences (1) 8 0 
Other changes and reclassifications 1 8 0 (1)
Total changes 44 (1,262) 316 190 
Closing balance 1,457 1,413 666 350 

Reversal of cumulative fair value on the stake sold in 
the investment in Intesa Sanpaolo 



Decreases in current financial assets are the result of the realization of investments in 
which a part of the liquidity was temporarily invested. The remaining balance of liquidity is 
included in “Cash and cash equivalents”.

The fair value of current securities is calculated using the market price at June 30, 2009.

20. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include demand or short-term deposits and readily negotiable 
money market instruments and bonds; such investments are allocated over an appropriate 
number  of  counterparties  since  the primary  purpose  is  having  investments  which  can 
readily  be  converted  into  cash.  The  counterparties  are  chosen  according  to  their 
creditworthiness and reliability.

21. Assets held for sale and liabilities relating to assets held for sale
The net balance of assets held for sale amounts to € 5 million and includes € 2 million 
representing  the  carrying  amount  of  the  “Lady  Sophia”  cruise  ship,  owned  by  the 
subsidiary “El Masrein for Hotels and Shipping Construction”, sold in June 2009 to the 
company Travco Nile Cruises belonging to the Travco Egyptian group, and € 3 million for 
the  costs  capitalized  for  the  development  of  the  commercial  areas  outside  the 
Stadio delle Alpi (following a preliminary purchase/sales contract of a business segment 
between Juventus Football Club and Nordiconad Soc. Coop).

22. Equity

Capital stock
At December 31, 2008, the capital stock of EXOR S.p.A., fully subscribed to and paid-in, 
amounted  to  € 163,251,460  and  consisted  of  86,450,000  ordinary  shares  (52.96%  of 
capital stock) and 76,801,460 preferred shares (47.04% of capital stock) all  with a par 
value  of  € 1 each.  The  ordinary  capital  stock  of  the  company  was  entirely  held  by 
Giovanni Agnelli e C. S.a.p.az.  Only  the  preferred  shares  were  listed  on  the 
Electronic Share Market of the Italian Stock Exchange (Blue Chip segment).

On  March 1, 2009,  the  capital  stock  of  EXOR  was  increased  from  € 163,251,460  to 
€ 246,229,850 through the issue of  73,809,496 ordinary shares and 9,168,894 savings 
shares, all with a par value of € 1, with dividend rights from January 1, 2008. Such shares 
were  attributed  to  the  stockholders  of  the  merged  company  IFIL  in  a  ratio  of  0.265 
EXOR ordinary shares for each IFIL ordinary share and 0.265 EXOR savings shares for 
each IFIL savings share.

At  June 30, 2009,  EXOR's  capital  stock  amounts  to  € 246,229,850  and  consists  of 
160,259,496 ordinary shares, 76,801,460 preferred shares and 9,168,894 savings shares, 
all with a par value of € 1 each.

The EXOR capital stock increase to service the exchange of the shares of  the  merged 
company IFIL was recognized at the fair  value of  the 73,809,496 ordinary shares and 
9,168,894 savings shares issued, respectively equal to € 5.36 and € 3.86 corresponding to 
the opening stock market prices on March 2, 2009, the first day of market trading of these 
shares.  Of  the  total  of  € 431 million,  € 83 million  was  allocated  to  capital  stock, 
corresponding to the par value, and € 348 million to paid-in capital.
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€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Cash and cash equivalents 577 975 (398)
Bank overdrafts and bank borrowings (21) (2) (19)
Net cash and cash equivalents 556 973 (417)



The directors  have the right,  for a period of five years from the date of  the resolution 
passed on May 14, 2008, to increase, one or more times, also in divisible form, the capital 
stock up to an amount of € 561,750,000.
The ordinary and preferred shares are registered shares while the savings shares can 
either be registered or bearer shares, as elected by the stockholders, or as set out by law. 
The preferred shares have voting rights only for the resolutions set forth in art. 2365 of the 
Italian  Civil  Code and  the  second  paragraph  of  art. 13  of  the  bylaws  (regulations  for 
conducting stockholders' meetings). The savings shares do not have voting rights in the 
stockholders'  meetings.  Pursuant  to  art. 146  of  Legislative  Decree 58/98,  the  savings 
shares have voting rights in the special stockholders' meetings of the holders of savings 
shares.

Pursuant to art. 27 of the bylaws, the profit of each year is appropriated as follows:

– 5% to the legal reserve until it reaches one-fifth of capital stock;
– the  remaining  profit,  as  dividends,  unless  otherwise  resolved  by  the 

stockholders' meeting, in accordance with the applicable provisions, taking into account 
that,  in the order of priority  (i)  the savings shares shall  be entitled to a preference 
dividend, cumulative according to the following second paragraph, equal to 31.21% of 
their par value and a dividend higher than that of the ordinary shares equal to 7.81% of 
the same par  value,  and (ii)  the preferred shares shall  be entitled  to  a preference 
dividend and higher than that of the ordinary shares by 5.17% of their par value, which 
is not cumulative from one year to the next.

When in any one year, the dividends attributed to the savings shares are lower than that 
indicated above, the difference shall be added to the preference dividend of the next two 
years.
In the event the ordinary and/or savings shares are delisted, the preference dividend and 
the  dividend  higher  than  that  of  the ordinary  shares  to  which  the savings  shares  are 
entitled shall automatically be increased to the extent that they are equal to, respectively, 
32.15% and 8.75%.
In the event of the distribution of reserves, the savings shares shall have the same rights 
as the other shares.
The board of directors, during the course of the year, to the extent that it  considers it 
appropriate and possible in relation to the results of operations, may resolve to pay interim 
dividends on the dividends of the same year.

In accordance with art. 28 of the bylaws, dividends that are not claimed within 5 years of 
the  date  they  become payable  will  be  statute-barred and become the property  of  the 
company and appropriated to the extraordinary reserve.

In accordance with  art. 30 of  the bylaws,  in the event  of  a wind-up,  the assets of  the 
company shall be distributed in the following order of priority:

– savings shares shall have a pre-emptive right up to the amount of € 3.78 per each 
savings share;

– the holders of preferred shares shall have a pre-emptive right up to the par value of the 
same shares;

– ordinary shares shall have up to the par value of the same shares;
– all three classes of stock shall have any balance remaining in a proportional amount 

according to law.

The objectives identified  by EXOR and the companies in  the Holdings  System are to 
create value for all stockholders, safeguard business continuity, diversify investments by 
sector and geography and support the growth of investment holdings.
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EXOR thus aims to maintain an adequate level of capitalization which allows it to generate 
a  satisfactory  economic  return  for  stockholders  and  guarantee  economic  access  to 
external sources of financing.

EXOR constantly monitors changes in the consolidated debt level of the Holdings System 
in  relation  to  the  current  asset  value  of  its  investments  and  dividend  flows  from  the 
operating holdings.
Although currently insignificant, a very prudent approach is adopted with regard to the use 
of financial leveraging.

Other comprehensive income
The composition of other comprehensive income is as follows:

Details of the income tax effect relating to other comprehensive income are as follows:
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€ in millions Half I 2009 Half I 2008
Gains (Losses) on cash flow hedges arising during the period (6) 4 

0 0 
Gains (Losses) on cash flow hedges (6) 4 

150 (409)

17 0 
Gains (Losses) on fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 167 (409)

9 (33)

0 0 

9 (33)
Actuarial gains (losses) arising during the period (5) 3 

0 0 
Actuarial gains (losses) (5) 3 

9 42 

79 (57)

88 (15)
Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income 0 7 
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax 253 (443)

Reclassification adjustment for gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 
included in the income statement

Gains (Losses) on fair value of available-for-sale financial assets arising 
during the period
Reclassification adjustment for gains (losses) on fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets included in the income statement

Gains (Losses) on exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations arising during the period
Reclassification adjustment for gains (losses) on exchange differences 
on translating foreign operations included in the income statement
Gains (Losses) on exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations

Reclassification adjustment for actuarial gains (losses) included in the 
income statement

Share of other comprehensive income of investments consolidated using 
the equity method arising during the period
Reclassification adjustment for the share of other comprehensive income 
of investments consolidated by the equity method included in the income 
statement
Share of other comprehensive income of investments consolidated 
using the equity method

Half I 2009 Half I 2008

€ in millions
Gains (Losses) on cash flow hedges (6) 0 (6) 4 4 
Gains (Losses) on fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 167 0 167 (409) 7 (402)

9 0 9 (33) (33)
Actuarial gains (losses) (5) 0 (5) 3 3 

88 0 88 (15) (15)
Total other comprehensive income 253 0 253 (450) 7 (443)

Gross 
amount

Tax benefit 
(expense)

Net 
amount

Gross 
amount

Tax benefit 
(expense)

Net 
amount

Gains (Losses) on exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations

Share of other comprehensive income of investments consolidated 
by the equity method



Treasury stock
Under the  treasury  stock  buyback  Program  approved  by  the  EXOR S.p.A.  board  of 
directors on March 25, 2009, between May 4 and June 30, 2009, purchases were made 
for  1,110,000  ordinary  shares  (0.69% of  the  class)  at  the  average  cost  per  share  of 
€ 11.59 and a total of € 12.8 million, 690,000 preferred shares (0.9% of the class) at the 
average cost per share of € 6.84 and a total of € 4.7 million, and also 105,600 savings 
shares  (1.15%  of  the  class)  at  the  average  cost  per  share  of  € 8.26  and  a  total  of 
€ 0.9 million.  The  overall  investment  amounts  to  € 18.4 million  (37%  of  the  maximum 
amount of € 50 million stated in the Program).
At June 30, 2009, EXOR S.p.A. held, directly and indirectly the following treasury stock:

Dividends distributed
Dividends distributed  by  EXOR S.p.A.  in  2009  from 2008  profits  (dividends  were  not 
distributed from 2007 profits) are the following:

Non-controlling interests
Details are as follows:

(a) Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries of the Alpitour Group.

Non-controlling  interests  at  December 31, 2008  amounted  to  € 1,810 million,  of  which 
€ 1,706 million represented the non-controlling interests of the IFIL Group. The difference 
of € 1,275 million between that amount and the fair value of the EXOR capital increase 
described previously (€ 431 million) was allocated to owners of the parent and then entries 
were  made  to  eliminate  the  share  of  the  reserves  regarding  cash  flow  hedges 
(-€ 55 million),  exchange  differences  on  translating  foreign  operations  (-€ 33 million), 
changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (+€ 103 million) and actuarial 
losses (-€ 4 million) previously recorded in the consolidated financial  statements of  the 
IFIL Group.

23. Stock option plans
Stock option plans with underlying EXOR stock
The ordinary session of the IFIL stockholders' meeting held on May 13, 2008 approved the 
stock option plan IFIL 2008-2019 for the chief executive officer, Carlo Barel di Sant’Albano, 
for 3,000,000 stock options corresponding to the same number of IFIL ordinary shares and 
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% of Carrying amount
Number class Per share (€) Total (€ml)

Shares held by Exor S.p.A.
 - ordinary shares 1,110,000 0.69 11.59 12.8 
 - preferred shares 6,050,300 7.88 12.43 75.2 
 - savings shares 105,600 1.15 8.25 0.9 
Ordinary shares, held by the subsidiary Soiem S.p.A. 214,756 0.13 12.87 2.8 

91.7 

Dividends distributed by EXOR  S.p.A. Per share (€) Total
Ordinary shares 160,147,496 0.32 52
Preferred shares 71,368,160 0.37 26
Savings shares 9,155,694 0.46 4
Total 82

Number of shares 
entitled to dividends

6/30/2009 12/31/2008

€ in millions % Profit (Loss) Total Profit (Loss) Total
IFIL 0 1,573 133 1,706 
C&W Group 26 60 (15) 45 61 (6) 55 
 Alpitour Group (a) 3 1 4 4 1 5 
Juventus Football Club S.p.A. 40 44 (3) 41 46 (2) 44 
Total 107 (17) 90 1,684 126 1,810 

Capital and 
reserves

Capital and 
reserves



for  the  employees  of  the  IFIL Group  (IFIL S.p.A.  and  the  companies  in  the 
Holdings System) who are or will  be regarded as key people in the organization on the 
basis of the positions held or activities performed, for a maximum of 12,000,000 stock 
options.
Following the merger, the stock option plan was taken over by EXOR S.p.A..
Therefore,  the  EXOR S.p.A.  board  of  directors  held  on  March 2, 2009  made  the 
adjustments to the stock option Plan resulting from merger, particularly adjusting the ratio 
between the number of options and the number of underlying shares and the exercise 
price on the basis of the merger's exchange ratio.
The Stock Option Plan EXOR 2008-2019 thus covers a maximum number of 15,000,000 
options corresponding to a maximum of 3,975,000 EXOR ordinary shares. At the date of 
the report, a total of 9,475,000 options have been granted to 17 people, including the chief 
executive officer, corresponding, on the basis of the exchange ratio, to 2,510,875 EXOR 
ordinary shares. The Plan grants the recipients free options on treasury stock purchased 
by the company or by companies in the Holdings System in accordance with existing laws. 
The Plan does not provide for the issue of new shares so there are no dilutive effects on 
capital stock. The treasury stock held by IFIL, including those to service the Plan, were 
canceled and did not form part of the stock exchange under the merger in accordance with 
the  law.  The EXOR stockholders'  meeting  held  on  April 28, 2009  approved  a  plan  to 
purchase treasury stock of the three classes partly to service the above stock option Plan.

The fair value of the 9,475,000 options granted was determined to be € 15,183 thousand, 
divided as follows:

The adjusted exercise price is € 19.97 for each EXOR share.

The  cost  referring  to  the  first  half  of  2009  amounts  to  € 948 thousand,  of  which 
€ 300 thousand is classified as fees for the chief executive officer and € 438 thousand as 
personnel costs. The corresponding entry of € 948 thousand is recorded in the stock option 
reserve.

Stock option plan with underlying Alpitour stock
With reference to the stock option plan approved for two managers of the Alpitour Group in 
December 2005, it should be noted that after the merger by incorporation of IFIL S.p.A. in 
EXOR, the same EXOR S.p.A.  took over  the commitments that  had at  one time been 
assumed by IFIL S.p.A..
Moreover, after the contract of the two managers had been renewed for another three 
years, the EXOR S.p.A. board of directors' meeting held on May 13, 2009 extended the 
period in which the options could be exercised to January 2013 (date of the approval of the 
Alpitour  financial  statements  for  the  financial  year  2011/2012  by  the 
stockholders' meeting). Finally, it should be pointed out that the features of the plan remain 
unchanged from those of the past. 
For  additional  information,  reference  should  be  made  to  Note 28  to  the  consolidated 
financial statements at December 31, 2008 of the EXOR Group.
The fair value measurement of such stocks will be made, as usual, at the end of the year.

C&W     Group stock option plans  
As for the stock option plans approved by C&W Group, during the first half, 314 shares 
under the Employee Plan and 182 shares under the Management  Options Plan were 
forfeited and 1,713 shares under the Management Option Plan were canceled.
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€ in thousands Total cost
Chief Executive Officer EXOR S.p.A. 3,000,000 795,000 4,807 300 

4,375,000 1,159,375 7,011 438 
Total EXOR S.p.A. 7,375,000 1,954,375 11,818 738 

2,100,000 556,500 3,365 210 
Total 9,475,000 2,510,875 15,183 948 

Number of options 
granted

Number of 
EXOR shares 

exercisable
Cost referring 
to the first half

Key employees EXOR S.p.A. (12)

Key employees of EXOR S.A. and other 
subsidiaries in the Holdings System (4)



Employee  Plan  stock  options  outstanding at  June 30, 2009  have  an  average  exercise 
price  of  $548.02  while  the  Management  options  have  an  average  exercise  price  of 
$1,276.77.
For  additional  information,  reference  should  be  made  to  Note 28  to  the  consolidated 
financial statements at December 31, 2008 of the EXOR Group.

24. Provisions for employee benefits
The analysis of the change in the provisions for employee benefits is as follows:

25. Provisions for other liabilities and charges
The analysis  of  the  change in  provisions  for  other  liabilities  and  charges  recorded  in 
current and non-current liabilities is the following:

C&W Group, in response to the continuing economic crisis, in 2008 had begun a plan to 
cut structure costs and particularly to reduce the workforce.
During the first half of 2009, C&W Group used € 8 million of the provisions accrued in 2008 
and approved another plan of initiatives to reduce such costs with an additional accrual to 
the restructuring provision of € 11 million.

The provision for other liabilities and charges created in 2003 as part of the execution of 
the reorganization plan of the group (€ 81 million), after the merger by incorporation of IFIL 
in  EXOR,  was  recorded  as  an  increment  of  equity,  consistently  with  the  accounting 
treatment followed when the provision was set up.

26. Pending litigation
Updates are presented below only for significant information regarding pending litigation 
involving  the  group  companies  described  in  Note 32  to  the  consolidated  financial 
statements  at  December 31, 2008  of  the  EXOR Group,  to  which  reference  should  be 
made.

EXOR and subsidiaries in the Holdings System

Proceedings  relative  to  the  contents  of  the  press  releases  issued  by  IFIL  and 
Giovanni Agnelli e C. on August 24, 2005
With regard to the ruling opposing the administrative sanctions imposed by Consob, the 
company is awaiting the Court of Cassation's ruling; the hearing before the court was held 
on June 23, 2009.  In fact,  the company had appealed the ruling handed down by the 
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Non-current provisions Current provisions

€ in millions Total Total
Balance at December 31, 2008 99 6 105 17 6 23 
Accruals 1 0 1 11 0 11 
Release of provisions (81) (1) (82) (9) 0 (9)
Exchange differences and other changes 0 0 0 (2) (6) (8)
Total changes (80) (1) (81) 0 (6) (6)
Balance at June 30, 2009 19 5 24 17 0 17 

Other risks 
provisions

         Tax  
provision

Other risks 
provisions

         Tax  
provision

€ in millions
Balance at December 31, 2008 84 
Utilizations (11)
Exchange differences and other changes 0 
Total changes (11)
Balance at June 30, 2009 73 



Court of  Appeals  of  Turin  which  had  reduced  the  sanctions  and  Consob  had  filed  a 
counter-appeal asking for the cancellation of these reductions. 

As far as the penal proceeding before the Turin Court is concerned, the case is being 
discussed  and  the  next  hearing  is  scheduled  for  October 6, 2009.  By  order  of 
May 21, 2009, EXOR's and Giovanni Agnelli e C.'s civil liability intervention was declared 
null and exclusion from the proceeding was disposed.

Juventus Football Club

Almeida Gomes De Andrade's registration rights
On  April 8, 2009,  Juventus  Football  Club  and  the  player  Jorge  Almeida  Gomes  de 
Andrade formalized the joint agreement for the termination of the existing player contract, 
from March 31, 2009, and the out-of-court settlement of the case before the Arbitration 
Board of the Soccer League.
By  mutual  agreement,  the  player  has  expressly  renounced  compensation  from 
July 1, 2008  to  March 31, 2009  against  payment  by  Juventus  Football  Club  of  a 
termination incentive  (and reimbursement of certain medical and legal  expenses) for a 
total cost of approximately € 3 million.

Guardia di Finanza entry on July 3, 2008 – Report on its findings
On July 23, 2009, the Guardia di Finanza concluded its inspection for the years 2001/2002 
to 2007/2008, issuing on that  same date the report  on its findings.  The report  alleges 
violations, for significant amounts, of tax laws regarding certain transactions concerning 
players' registration rights, compensation paid to agents for services rendered and other 
minor matters. The company maintains that it has observed the laws in force and will take 
advantage  of  the  rights  to  which  the  taxpayer  is  entitled  by  statute  (Law  212/2000), 
conducting,  where  necessary,  its  defense  in  the  manner  and  according  to  the  times 
established by law.

Proceedings at the Turin Courts
In  reference  to  the  penal  proceedings  before  the  Turin  Courts  for  accounting 
misrepresentation,  at  the  hearing  set  for  July 13, 2009,  the  preliminary  hearing  judge 
adjourned the pleadings to October 1, 2009 and the replies to October 24, 2009 with the 
possibility of continuing on October 27, 2009, the date the ruling will be handed down.

VAT receivables on UEFA Champions League revenues 
On July 17, 2009, notification was received that, following the May 21, 2009 hearing, the 
Turin Provincial Tax Commission upheld the appeal filed by Juventus Football  Club on 
October 17, 2008 against  the Revenue Agency's  refusal  to  refund VAT receivables on 
UEFA Champions League revenues for the 2000/2001 soccer season for € 1.4 million.

27. Consolidated net financial position
The composition of the gross and net financial position of the consolidated investments is 
as follows:
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Gross debt Financial Net financial position
€ in millions position assets (debt)/liquidity
EXOR S.p.A. and the Holdings System (1,143) 1,137 (6)
C&W Group (223) 42 (181)
Alpitour Group (100) 44 (56)
Juventus Football Club S.p.A. (16) 42 26 
Total (1,482) 1,265 (217)



In accordance with Consob Communication 6064293 dated July 28, 2006, the composition 
of the net financial position of the EXOR Group is provided below:

28. Bonds and other debt
The composition is as follows:

The bonds issued by EXOR S.p.A. are traded on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
The bonds contain covenants that are common in international practice for bond issues of 
this type. In particular, they contain negative pledge clauses (the obligation to extend to 
these bonds, to the same degree, any real present or future guarantees given as collateral 
on the assets of the issuer on other bonds and other credit instruments),  disallowing a 
change  of  control  and  providing  for  periodic  disclosure.  The  2006/2011  bonds  also 
establish other commitments such as respecting a maximum debt limit in relation to the 
amount  of  the  portfolio  and  maintaining  a  rating  by  one  of  the  major  agencies. 
Non-compliance with these covenants allows the bondholders to ask for the immediate 
redemption of the bonds. Finally, standard events of default are envisaged in the case of 
serious non-fulfillment such as, for example, failure to pay interest. These covenants were 
complied with at June 30, 2009.
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Non-current portion Current portion
€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 6/30/2009 12/31/2008
EXOR 2007/2017 bonds (745) (745) 0 (22)
EXOR 2006/2011 bonds (200) (199) (1)
Debt (382) (348) (115) (74)
Derivative financial instruments 0 0 (24) (16)
Total bonds and other debt (1,327) (1,292) (139) (113)

€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008 Change
Non-current financial liabilities
EXOR 2007/2017 bonds (745) (745) 0 
EXOR 2006/2011 bonds (200) (199) (1)
Debt (382) (348) (34)
Total non-current financial liabilities (1,327) (1,292) (35)
Non-current other financial assets 6 4 2 
Non-current net financial position (A) (1,321) (1,288) (33)
Current financial liabilities
Debt (77) (65) (12)
Current portion of medium/long-term debt and bonds (38) (31) (7)
Derivative financial instruments (24) (16) (8)
Total current financial liabilities (139) (112) (27)
Current financial assets
Bonds and equity shares held for trading 661 347 314 
Derivative financial instruments 2 1 1 
Receivables and other financial assets 3 2 1 
Total current financial assets 666 350 316 
Cash and cash equivalents 577 975 (398)
Current net financial position (B) 1,104 1,213 (109)

Consolidated net financial position (A+B) (217) (75) (142)



On  June 30, 2009,  Standard  &  Poor's  confirmed  its  rating  of  EXOR’s  long-term  and 
short-term debt (respectively “BBB+” and “A-2”) and revised its outlook from “stable” to 
“negative”.

The 2007/2017 bonds, issued on June 12, 2007 for a nominal amount of € 745 million, at 
an issue price equal to 99.554% of their nominal value with a 5.375% annual coupon, 
guarantees a return equal to the 10-year swap rate plus a spread of 80 basis points, at the 
time of issue.

The  EXOR  2006/2011  bonds,  issued  on  June 9, 2006  for  a  nominal  amount  of 
€ 200 million,  maturing  June 9, 2011,  pay  interest  at  the  3-month  Euribor  rate  plus  a 
spread of 68 basis points.

Debt  recorded  in  current  and  non-current  liabilities for € 497 million  (€ 422 million  at 
December 31, 2008)  includes  the  debt  of  EXOR S.p.A.  (€ 175 million),  C&W Group 
(€ 207 million), the Alpitour Group (€ 98 million) and Juventus Football Club (€ 17 million).

EXOR S.p.A.
With regard to EXOR S.p.A., non-current bank debt amounts to € 150 million (unchanged 
compared to December 31, 2008). In order to guarantee fixed interest rates, interest rate 
swap contracts were put into place for the full amount; at June 30, 2009 the fair value of 
such contracts is negative for € 6 million.
Bank debt is classified as non-current according to the remaining term of the line granted 
and the duration of the hedging contracts.
Current bank debt amounts to € 25 million (€ 16 million at December 31, 2008) and mainly 
includes bank overdrafts for € 21 million.

C&W Group
The debt of C&W Group amounts to € 207 million (€ 165 million at December 31, 2008) 
and mainly includes the following categories of debt:

− Senior  Revolving  Credit  Facility  secured  on  May 29, 2007  for  $350 million.
At  June 30, 2009,  the  outstanding balance  is  $284 million  (€ 201 million),  of  which 
$211 million (€ 149 million) at the average rate of 3.91%, $12.6 million (€ 8.9 million) 
at the average rate of 4.41% and $19.6 million (€ 13.9 million) at the average rate of 
4.44% and $40 million (€ 28.3 million) at the average rate of 4.67%;

− Seller Note – Burnham for $2.5 million (€ 2 million);
− other debt for € 4 million.

The Senior Credit Facility is covered by four covenants to be maintained for the entire 
term of the credit facility including leverage ratios as defined in the contract.
The financial  covenants have been complied with  from the time the credit  facility  was 
secured until June 30, 2009.

Alpitour Group
The debt of the Alpitour Group totaling € 98 million (€ 73 million at December 31, 2008), 
comprises:

− debt relating to the securitization of trade receivables (€ 27 million);
− debt with leading credit institutions (€ 48 million);
− syndicated loan, coordinated by BNL and Efibanca (€ 19 million);
− CRS loan (€ 4 million).

The medium and long-term loan contracts state that the Alpitour Group must comply with 
covenants  calculated  on  consolidated  equity,  economic  and financial  data  (mainly  net 
debt/equity and Ebitda/net debt). In view of the seasonal nature of the business, these 
ratios, as established by the relevant contracts, are calculated on an annual basis at the 
year-end closing date.
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Such ratios, which must be calculated annually for the entire period of the relative loan 
operations, have been fully complied with as at October 31, 2008.
The main changes are as follows:

− repayment of € 45 million on the Calyon loan which provides for the drawdown of a 
credit line against the sale of trade receivables and the subsequent drawdown of the 
same credit line for € 27 million;

− repayment of  periodical  installments on the syndicated loan for € 4 million and the 
CRS loan for € 1 million;

− new  loans  secured  with  leading  credit  institutions  for  € 48 million  composed  of 
short-term draws of committed credit lines.

Juventus Football Club
Debt of Juventus Football Club refers entirely to the debt with Unicredit Leasing S.p.A., 
formerly Locat S.p.A., for the lease of the Vinovo Training Center for € 17 million.

Derivative financial instruments, equal to € 24 million (€ 16 million at December 31, 2008), 
comprise:

− interest  rate  swap  contracts  put  into  place  by  EXOR S.p.A.  to  guarantee  a  fixed 
interest  rate  over  the  entire  period  of  the  bond  2006-2011  (the  fair  value  at 
June 30, 2009 is negative for € 8 million) and on non-current debt (the fair value at 
June 30, 2009 is negative for € 6 million);

− derivative financial instruments on equity shares held for trading by EXOR S.p.A., the 
fair value at June 30, 2009 is negative for € 10 million.

29. Deferred income taxes
The composition and the change in deferred tax assets are as follows:

Income taxes charged during the first half mainly refer to the accrual for deferred taxes on 
tax loss carryforwards of the Alpitour Group (€ 11 million).

The composition and the change in deferred tax liabilities are as follows:
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Property, plant Revenues
and equipment taxed in
and intangible Tax prior Tax-deferred

€ in millions assets losses years gains Other Total
Balance at December 31, 2008 2 1 5 (5) 14 17 
Income taxes charged (reversed) to the income statement 1 10 (2) (1) 2 10 
Net other movements 0 0 0 1 (2) (1)
Balance at June 30, 2009 3 11 3 (5) 14 26 

€ in millions Fair value Other Total
Balance at December 31, 2008 (1) (126) 6 0 20 1 5 3 6 (86)

0 0 6 0 0 0 0 2 (5) 3 

0 0 0 0 0 0 (1) 0 0 (1)
Exchange differences 0 2 (1) 0 0 0 0 1 (1) 1 
Net other movements 0 0 0 0 0 (1) 0 0 7 6 
Balance at June 30, 2009 (1) (124) 11 0 20 0 4 6 7 (77)

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
Intangible 

assets
Depreciation and 

tax charges

Deferred 
compensation 

plans
Employee 

benefits

Actuarial 
gains 

(losses)
Tax 

losses

Income taxes (charged) reversed 
to the income statement
Income taxes relating to items 
debited to equity



30. Intragroup and related party transactions
The EXOR Group is  directly  controlled  by Giovanni  Agnelli  e  C. S.a.p.az.,  a  company 
registered in Italy.
The  transactions  between  the  company  and  its  consolidated  subsidiaries,  which  are 
related  parties  of  the  same  company,  have  been  eliminated  in  the  EXOR  half-year 
condensed consolidated financial statements and are therefore not presented in this note.
Related party transactions have been carried out in accordance with existing laws on the 
basis of reciprocal economic gain.
Receivables and payables are not guaranteed and are settled in cash and guarantees 
have neither been granted nor received on them.
Costs have not been recognized during the period for non-existent or doubtful liabilities in 
relation to amounts due from related parties.

The  statement  of  financial  position  and  income  statement  balances  generated  by 
transactions  carried  out  in  the  first  half  of  2009  with  related  parties,  identified  in 
accordance  with  IAS 24  and  communicated  by  the  companies  of  the  group,  are 
summarized in the following tables. Transactions are indicated only if close to € 1 million, 
which  is  the  unit  of  measure  for  the  presentation  of  the  consolidated  figures  of  the 
EXOR Group.

a) Fees to the directors of EXOR S.p.A. referring to the first half of 2009.
b) Special  indemnity  relating  to  termination  of  the  employment  relationship  approved  for  the  former  chief 

executive officer and general manager of IFI S.p.A., Virgilio Marrone (included in “personnel costs”).
c) Consideration  regarding  the  July 1, 2007  to  June 30, 2010  agreement  between  the  Fiat Group  and 

Juventus Football Club which gives the Fiat Group the right to exploit the images of Juventus Football Club.

In the meeting held on May 13, 2009, the board of  directors  decided to equally  divide 
among  its  members  the  fee  approved  by  the  stockholders'  meeting,  amounting  to 
€ 170,000  per  year,  and,  furthermore,  pursuant  to  art. 2389  of  the  Italian  Civil  Code, 
approved the following annual fees:

– € 1,000,000 to the chairman John Elkann, in addition to health care coverage;
– € 1,000,000,  besides  all  out-of-pocket  travel  expenses  outside  the  municipality  of 

residence,  for  the  mandate  for  strategical  coordination,  to  the  honorary  chairman 
Gianluigi  Gabetti;  he  is  also  entitled  to  death  and  permanent  disability  insurance 
coverage  for  professional  or  non-professional-related  accidents  and  the  use  of  a 
secretarial service and a car with driver also after the expiry of the term of office;

– € 1,250,000  to  the  chief  executive  officer,  Carlo  Barel  di  Sant'Albano,  who  is  also 
entitled to the following:
• a variable  fee up to  a  maximum of  € 1,250,000,  50% of  which  is  linked to  the 

increment in EXOR's NAV;
• the use of an apartment in Turin made available by the company;
• the use of two company cars, in addition to one used for company business;
• death  and  permanent  disability  insurance  coverage  for  professional  or 

non-professional-related accidents;
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Trade Trade Other Other
€ in millions receivables payables assets liabilities Costs Revenues
Directors for fees and professional services 2 (a)

3 (b)

Recipients for Alpitour stock option plans 2005 8
Alpitour Group Egypt for Tourism S.A.E. 1 8
Viajes Medymar S.L. 1 1
Fiat Group 9 (c)

Total EXOR Group 2 8 1 8 6 9

Special indemnity to the former chief executive 
officer and general manager of IFI S.p.A.



• health care coverage, the same as for company executives;
• a sum equal to € 2,500,000, corresponding to two years' annual fixed fee for the 

post of chief executive officer, to be paid at the end of the term of office, except in 
the case of the renewal of the post, voluntary resignation or failure to accept the 
renewal of the post, termination for just cause or reaching pensionable age; 

– € 100,000  to  the  vice  chairman  Pio  Teodorani-Fabbri  for  the  coordination  and 
supervision activities of the Rome office;

– € 35,000 to  the internal  control  committee  (of  which  € 15,000 to  the chairman and 
€ 10,000 to each of the other two members);

– € 35,000 to  the compensation and nominating committee (of  which € 15,000 to the 
chairman and € 10,000 to each of the other two members);

– € 40,000 to each of the directors Victor Bischoff, Christine Morin-Postel and Antoine 
Schwartz as members of the strategy committee;

– € 100,000 to the secretary of  the board of  directors,  Virgilio  Marrone, in addition to 
death  and  permanent  disability  insurance  coverage  for  professional  or  non-
professional-related accidents and the use of a company car.

The  directors  will  also  be  reimbursed  for  the  expenses  incurred  in  carrying  out  the 
activities connected with their posts.

31. Commitments
Details are as follows:

Commitments undertaken at June 30, 2009 amount to € 183 million  and mainly refer to 
sureties,  guarantees  of  notes  and  other  guarantees  for € 86 million,  as  well  as 
commitments for the purchase of investments and financial assets for € 84 million.

Sureties, guarantees of notes and other guarantees (€ 86 million) mainly include sureties 
on behalf of suppliers of tourist services, financial offices and public entities provided by 
the Alpitour Group and other guarantees of the Alpitour Group for € 41 million, in addition 
to sureties of Juventus Football Club for € 45 million provided by leading credit institutions.

Commitments for the purchase of  investments and other  financial  assets (€ 84 million) 
refer to commitments undertaken by the subsidiary EXOR S.A. as follows:
- commitment  for  a  maximum residual  investment  of  $46 million  (€ 33 million)  in  the 

limited  partnership  NoCo  B  LP  which  groups  a  series  of  funds  managed  by 
Perella Weinberg  Partners L.P.;  at  June 30, 2009,  EXOR S.A.  received  a 
reimbursement of € 3 million from the Perella Weinberg Alpha Large Cap fund after it 
was liquidated;
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€ in millions 6/30/2009 12/31/2008
Commitments undertaken
Sureties, guarantees of notes and other guarantees 86 76 

84 78 
Options for the purchase of soccer players' registration rights 6 0 
Goods on deposit with third parties 0 1 
Commitments to make loans 7 7 
Total commitments undertaken 183 162 
Commitments received
Sureties, guarantees, guarantees of notes and other guarantees 232 158 
Other commitments 19 59 
Total commitments received 251 217 

Commitments for the purchase of investments and financial 
assets



- commitment  for  a  residual  investment  of  € 24 million  in  the 
Perella Weinberg Real Estate  fund.  As  of  June 30, 2009,  EXOR S.A.  has  invested 
€ 1 million;

- commitment for a further investment of € 21 million in Banijay Holding S.A.S.;
- commitment  for  an  investment  of  $10 million  in  Pimco  Talf  Investment  and 

Recovery Fund  L.P.,  agreed  in  May  2009.  As  of  June 30, 2009,  EXOR S.A.  has 
invested $2 million; the remaining commitment is equal to $8 million.

Commitments to make loans refer to the commitment undertaken by C&W Group with its 
employees.

Commitments  received amount  to  € 251 million  and  refer  to  sureties,  guarantees, 
guarantees of notes and other guarantees  for € 232 million (of which € 230 million is for 
sureties provided by third parties to Juventus Football  Club and € 2 million for sureties 
provided by public entities and suppliers of tourist services to the Alpitour Group).

The main sureties relating to Juventus Football Club (€ 191 million) are as follows:

- surety  of  € 82 million  provided  by  leading  credit  institutions  on  behalf  of 
Reti Televisive Italiane S.p.A.  to  guarantee  the  contract  for  the  sale  of  television 
broadcasting rights for championship home games for the 2009/2010 season;

- surety  of  € 42 million  provided  by  Sportfive  Italia  on  behalf  of  Sportfive S.p.A.  to 
guarantee the commercial  contract  for the exclusive naming right,  as well  as some 
sponsor promotional rights, relating to the new stadium;

- surety of € 32 million provided by leading credit institutions on behalf of Sky Italia S.r.l. 
to guarantee the contract for the sale of television broadcasting rights for championship 
home games for the 2009/2010 season;

- surety  of  € 20 million  provided  by  leading  credit  institutions  on  behalf  of 
Reti Televisive Italiane S.p.A. to guarantee the contract for the sale of the broadcasting 
rights for the championship games for the 2009/2010 season for the Berlusconi Trophy;

- surety  of  € 12 million  provided  by  leading  credit  institutions  on  behalf  of  and  to 
guarantee the contract for the construction of the new stadium;

- other sureties for € 3 million.

Other guarantees received by Juventus Football Club, for € 39 million, refer to guarantees 
for the receivable from Campi di Vinovo S.p.A. and notes.

Procedures for the identification and control of commitments
The information regarding commitments, in addition to all other data and information used 
for  consolidation  purposes,  is  transmitted  to  EXOR S.p.A.  through  the  consolidation 
process under the responsibility of the legal representatives of the individual companies 
and/or groups consolidated by EXOR that are required to fill out a reporting package and 
which sign a representation letter addressed to EXOR. 
On the basis of information known to EXOR S.p.A., no significant commitments have been 
omitted by the companies of the group.
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32. Pro-forma consolidated data prepared by consolidating the Fiat Group line-by-line
Pending possible amendments to IAS 27 proposed in Exposure Draft ED 10 “Consolidated 
Financial  Statements”  that  should  definitively  clarify  the  criteria  that  will  permit  a 
verification of the presence of de facto control in accordance with IAS 27, the EXOR Group 
has continued to exclude the Fiat Group, in which it  has a 30.45% holding in ordinary 
capital stock, from line-by-line consolidation, consistently with the method followed for the 
first-time adoption of IFRS and the preparation  of the annual and half-year consolidated 
financial statements of 2005 and thereafter.
However,  in  order  to  provide  more  meaningful  disclosure,  the  pro-forma  consolidated 
income  statement,  pro-forma  consolidated  statement  of  financial  position  and  the 
composition of the pro-forma consolidated net financial position prepared by consolidating 
the Fiat Group line-by-line are presented below.

EXOR     Group – Pro-forma consolidated income statement prepared by consolidating the   
Fiat     Group line-by-line  .  
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Consolidated Consolidated Elimination Consolidated
€ in millions EXOR Group Fiat Group Aggregate Fiat
Revenues 933 24,452 25,385 25,385 
Other income (expenses) 8 (54) (46) (46)
Current operating costs (1,051) (24,136) (25,187) (25,187)
Profit (loss) from current operations (110) 262 152 0 152 
Gains on sales of investments 0 0 0 0 
Restructuring costs and other nonrecurring income (expenses) (38) (233) (271) (271)
Operating profit (loss) (148) 29 (119) 0 (119)
(Losses) gains on sales of investments (17) 0 (17) (17)
Other financial income (expenses) 38 (368) (330) (330)
Financial income (expenses) 21 (368) (347) 0 (347)
Income taxes 20 (214) (194) (194)
Profit (loss) of investments consolidated line-by-line (107) (553) (660) 0 (660)
Share of profit of the Fiat Group (167) 0 (167) 167 0 

(5) (37) (42) (42)
Profit (loss) from continuing operations (279) (590) (869) 167 (702)
Profit (loss) from discontinued operations or assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 
Consolidated profit (loss) attributable to: (279) (590) (869) 167 (702)
owners of the parent (262) (167) (429) 167 (262)
non-controlling interests (17) (423) (440) 0 (440)

Pro-forma

Share of profit (loss) of other investments accounted for by the equity 
 method



EXOR     Group  –  Pro-forma  consolidated  statement  of  financial  position  prepared  by   
consolidating the Fiat     Group line-by-line  .  

EXOR     Group – Pro-forma consolidated net financial position prepared by consolidating the   
Fiat     Group line-by-line  .  
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Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated
€ in millions EXOR Group Fiat Group Pro-forma
Cash and cash equivalents 577 6,404 6,981 
Financial receivables 6 13,270 13,276 
Other current financial assets 666 529 1,195 
Debt (497) (23,939) (24,436)
EXOR bonds 2006/2011 (200) (200)
EXOR bonds 2007/2017 (745) (745)
Other current financial liabilities (24) (801) (825)
Consolidated net financial position (217) (4,537) (4,754)

Consolidated Consolidated Elimination Consolidated
€ in millions EXOR Group Fiat Group Aggregate Fiat
Non-current assets
Goodwill 379 2,796 3,175 3,175 
Other intangible assets 428 4,335 4,763 4,763 
Property, plant and equipment 196 12,509 12,705 12,705 
Investment in Fiat accounted for by the equity method 2,986 2,986 (2,986) 0 
Investments accounted for by the equity method 185 1,855 2,040 2,040 
Other financial assets 1,457 285 1,742 1,742 
Leased assets 0 439 439 439 
Deferred tax assets 26 2,544 2,570 2,570 
Other non-current assets 91 95 186 186 

Total Non-current assets 5,748 24,858 30,606 (2,986) 27,620 
Current assets
Inventories, net 4 10,501 10,505 10,505 
Trade receivables 269 4,369 4,638 4,638 
Receivables from financing activities 0 13,270 13,270 13,270 
Other receivables, accruals and prepayments 195 3,503 3,698 3,698 
Financial assets 666 741 1,407 1,407 
Cash and cash equivalents 577 6,222 6,799 6,799 

Total Current assets 1,711 38,606 40,317 0 40,317 
Assets held for sale 5 24 29 29 

Total Assets 7,464 63,488 70,952 (2,986) 67,966 

Equity
Capital issued and reserves attributable to owners of the parent 5,210 10,013 15,223 (10,013) 5,210 
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 90 751 841 7,027 7,868 

Total Equity 5,300 10,764 16,064 (2,986) 13,078 
Current and non-current liabilities
Provisions for employee benefits 73 3,381 3,454 3,454 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 41 4,801 4,842 4,842 
Bonds and other debt 1,466 24,740 26,206 26,206 
Deferred tax liabilities 77 129 206 206 

251 12,597 12,848 12,848 
Other liabilities, accruals and deferrals 256 7,076 7,332 7,332 

Total Current and non-current liabilities 2,164 52,724 54,888 0 54,888 
Liabilities relating to assets held for sale 0 0 0 

Total Equity and liabilities 7,464 63,488 70,952 (2,986) 67,966 

Pro-forma

Trade payables



33. Approval  of  the  half-year  condensed  consolidated  financial  statements  and 
authorization for publication
The half-year  condensed  consolidated  financial  statements  at  June 30, 2009  were 
approved on August 28, 2009 by the board of directors which authorized their publication 
on the same date.

Turin, August 28, 2009

For the Board of Directors
The Chairman
John Elkann
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Attestation According to art. 154-bis, Paragraph 5,
of Legislative Decree 58/98

We, the undersigned, Carlo Barel  di  Sant'Albano, chief  executive  officer,  and Aldo Mazzia,  manager 
responsible for the preparation of the financial reports of EXOR S.p.A. attest, pursuant to the provisions of 
art. 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4, of Legislative Decree 58 dated February 24, 1998:

− the adequacy with respect to the company's structure and

− the effective application

of  the administrative  and accounting procedures used in  the preparation of  the half-year  condensed 
consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2009.

We also attest that:

− the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2009:

− have been prepared in accordance with applicable International Financial  Reporting Standards 
recognized  by  the  European  Community  pursuant  to  EC Regulation 1606/2002  of  the 
European Parliament and Council, dated July 19, 2002;

− correspond to the amounts shown in the accounts, books and records;
− provide a fair and correct representation of the financial conditions, results of operations and cash 

flows of the company and its consolidated subsidiaries;

− the related interim management report includes a reliable analysis of the significant events affecting 
the company in the first six months of the current year, including the impact of such events on the 
half-year condensed consolidated financial  statements and a description of the principal  risks and 
uncertainties for the second half of the year in addition to a reliable analysis of the information on the 
significant related party transactions.

Turin, August 28, 2009

Chief Executive Officer
Carlo Barel di Sant’Albano

Manager responsible for the preparation
of the financial reports

Aldo Mazzia
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List of EXOR Group Companies
at June 30, 2009



As required by Consob Resolution 11971 dated May 14, 1999, as amended (Art. 126 of the Regulations),
a list of the companies included in the scope of consolidation, the investments accounted for by the equity
method and other significant investments, subdivided by business segment, is provided below.

Investments of the Holdings System consolidated on a line-by-line basis

(*) Voting suspended.

84 LIST OF GROUP COMPANIES

% % of % of
Capital stock of Group interest voting

Name Country 6/30/2009 Currency consolidation Interest held by held rights

EXOR S.p.A. ITALY 246,229,850       EURO

EXOR S.A. LUXEMBOURG 166,611,300       EURO 100.00 EXOR S.p.A. 100.000 100.000

EXOR CAPITAL L.T.D. IRELAND 4,000,000           EURO 100.00 EXOR S.A. 100.000 100.000

EUFIN INVESTMENTS UNLIMITED U.K. UNITED 
KINGDOM 243,100              EURO 100.00 EXOR S.A. 100.000 100.000

IFIL GROUP FINANCE L.T.D. (IN LIQUIDATION) IRELAND 4,000,000           EURO 100.00 EXOR S.A. 100.000 100.000

EXOR INC. USA 1                         USD 100.00 EXOR S.A. 100.000 100.000

EXOR LIMITED HONG KONG 
(POP.REP.) 1                         HKD 100.00 EXOR S.A. 100.000 100.000

IFIL FRANCE SAS FRANCE 50,000                EURO 100.00 EXOR S.A. 100.000 100.000

ANCOM USA INC USA -                         USD 100.00 EXOR S.A. 100.000 100.000

SOIEM S.p.A. ITALY 9,125,000           EURO 100.00 EXOR S.p.A. 100.000 100.000

IFIL NEW BUSINESS S.r.l. ITALY 20,000                EURO 100.00 EXOR S.p.A. 100.000 100.000

Real Estate Services

C & W GROUP INC. USA 7,116                  USD 74.27 EXOR S.A. 71.300 71.300

C&W GROUP INC. (*) 3.990 3.990

Tourism and Hotel activities

ALPITOUR S.p.A. ITALY 17,725,000         EURO 100.00 EXOR S.p.A. 100.000 100.000

Football Club

JUVENTUS FOOTBALL CLUB S.p.A. ITALY 20,155,333         EURO 60.00 EXOR S.p.A. 60.001 60.001

COMPANIES OF THE HOLDINGS SYSTEM (Holding companies and services)

OPERATING COMPANIES



Investments of C&W Group consolidated on a line-by-line basis 
(percentage of EXOR Group consolidation: 74.265%)
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Name Country Capital stock 
at 6/30/2009 Currency % of Group 

consolidation Interest held by % of interest 
held

% of 
voting 
rights

Note

Real Estate Services
BIGeREALESTATE, Inc. USA N/A USD 71.620% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 73.100% 73.100%
Buckbee Thorne & Co. USA 75 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
C & W Offshore Consulting, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
C & W-Japan K.K. JAPAN 200 YEN 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield UNITED KINGDOM N/A GBP 99.000% Cushman & Wakefield (UK) Ltd. 99.000% 99.000%
Cushman & Wakefield - Chile Negocios Inmobiliarios Limitada CHILE 315,163,132 CHP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Consultoria Imobiliaria Ltda 99.980% 99.980%

CHP Cushman & Wakefield of South America, Inc. 0.020% 0.020%
Cushman & Wakefield - Colombia Ltda COLOMBIA 5,706 COP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Consultoria Imobiliaria Ltda 99.895% 99.895%

Cushman & Wakefield of South America, Inc. 0.105% 0.105%
Cushman & Wakefield Consultoria Imobiliaria Ltda BRAZIL 2,586,444 BRL 97.990% Cushman & Wakefield International Holdings Limited Partnership 97.990% 97.990%

Celina Antunes 2.000% 2.000%
Marina Cury 0.010% 0.010%

Cushman & Wakefield - Argentina S.A. ARGENTINA 12,000 ARS 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Consultoria Imobiliaria Ltda 95.000% 95.000%
ARS Cushman & Wakefield of South America, Inc. 5.000% 5.000%

Cushman & Wakefield - Semco Peru S.A. PERU' 55,842 PEN 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Consultoria Imobiliaria Ltda 95.000% 95.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of South America, Inc. 5.000% 5.000%

Cushman & Wakefield Venezuela, S.A. VENEZUELA 1,000 VEB 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield  Consultoria Imobiliaria Ltda 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield - Sociedade de Mediacao Imobilaria, Lda PORTUGAL 500 EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (France Holdings) SAS 99.800% 99.800%
Cushman & Wakefield  Zarzadzanie SP z.o.o. POLAND 100 Polish Zloty 99.000% Cushman & Wakefield Polska SP z.o.o. 99.000% 99.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (7 Westferry Circus) Limited UNITED KINGDOM 1 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Management Services (UK) Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (Australia) Pty Limited AUSTRALIA 500,000 AUD$ 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Singapore Holdings Pte Limited 75.000% 75.000%

Cushman & Wakefield Holding Pty Limited 25.000% 25.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (China) Limited HONG KONG 2 HKDollar 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of Asia Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (City) Limited UNITED KINGDOM 1 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited UNITED KINGDOM 1 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Global Holdco Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (Hellas) SA GREECE 20,000 EURO 99.995% Cushman & Wakefield (France Holdings) SAS 99.995% 99.995%
Cushman & Wakefield (HK) Limited. HONG KONG 100 HKDollar 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of Asia Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (S) Pte. Limited SINGAPORE 20 Singapore dollar 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of Asia Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. CHINA 1800000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (China) Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (UK) Ltd. UNITED KINGDOM 15,398,536 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (UK) Services Ltd. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (UK) Services Ltd. UNITED KINGDOM 15,398,538 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Global Holdco Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (Warwick Court) Limited UNITED KINGDOM 1 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Management Services (UK) Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield 111 Wall, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield 1180, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Activ Consulting S.R.L. ROMANIA 100 RON 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited 99.000% 99.000%

Healey & Baker Limited 1.000% 1.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Asset Management Italy S.r.l. ITALY 10,000 EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Management Services (UK) Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Canada Limited Partnership CANADA N/A CAD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield First Nova Scotia ULC 99.900% 99.900%

Cushman & Wakefield Second Nova Scotia ULC 0.100% 0.100%
Cushman & Wakefield Capital Holdings (Asia) BELGIUM 18,550 EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of Asia Inc 99.990% 99.990%

Cushman & Wakefield International Inc. 0.010% 0.010%
Cushman & Wakefield Consultoria Imobiliaria, Unipessoal, Lda. PORTUGAL N/A EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield  Sociedade de Mediacao Imobilaria, Lda 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield de Mexico, S.A. de C.V MEXICO 100,000 MXP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of North America, Inc. 50.000% 50.000%

Cushman & Wakefield of the Americas, Inc. 50.000% 50.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Eastern, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Ecuador S.A. ECUADOR 840 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield  Consultoria Imobiliaria Ltda 95.000% 95.000%

Cushman & Wakefield of South America, Inc. 5.000% 5.000%
Cushman & Wakefield European Holdings, Inc. USA 10 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Expertise SAS FRANCE EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield SAS 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Finance Limited UNITED KINGDOM 10,000 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Global Holdco Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield First Nova Scotia ULC CANADA 37,803,970 CAD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International Finance Subsidiary, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Gayrimenkul Danismanlik Mumessillik ve Turizm TURKEY YTL Cushman & Wakefield (France Holdings) SAS 89.800% 89.800%
Hizmetleri Anonim Sirketi YTL Healey & Baker Limited 0.050% 0.050%

YTL Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited 0.050% 0.050%
YTL Philip Ingleby 0.050% 0.050%
YTL Eric Van Dyck 0.050% 0.050%
YTL Ayse Cebe 10.000% 10.000%

Cushman & Wakefield Gestion, Inc. USA 10 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Global Services, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Holdings, Inc. USA 585,728 USD 100.000% C & W Group Inc 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Hospitality Limited UNITED KINGDOM 2 GBP 100.00% Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Hospitality srl ITALY 9,000 EURO 100.00% Cushman & Wakefield Hospitality Limited 90.000% 90.000%

1,000 Marco Zalamena 10.000% 10.000%
Cushman & Wakefield India Private Limited INDIA 33,644,780 Indian Rupee 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Mauritius Holdings, Inc. 99.990% 99.990%

Cushman & Wakefield of Asia Limited 0.010% 0.010%



Investments of C&W Group consolidated on a line-by-line basis 
(percentage of EXOR Group consolidation: 74.265%)

86 LIST OF GROUP COMPANIES

Name Country Capital stock 
at 6/30/2009 Currency % of Group 

consolidation Interest held by % of interest 
held

% of 
voting 
rights

Note

Cushman & Wakefield Indonesia Holdings Pte Ltd SINGAPORE 100,000 Singapore dollar 60.000% Cushman & Wakefield Singapore Holdings Pte Limited 60.000% 60.000%
Property Advisory International Limited (BVI) (not a C&W entity) 40.000% 40.000%

Cushman & Wakefield International Finance Subsidiary, Inc USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield International Investment Advisors, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield International Real Estate Kft. HUNGARY 3,000,000 EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (France Holdings) SAS 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield International, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Investment Advisors K.K. JAPAN 200 YEN 100.000% C&W-Japan K.K. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Investors (Finance) Limited UNITED KINGDOM 36,000 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Global Holdco Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Investors Asia Ltd HONG KONG 100,000,000 HKDollar 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Capital Holdings (Asia) 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Investors Limited UNITED KINGDOM 1 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Global Holdco Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Investors SAS FRANCE 2,313 EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Investors Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Ireland Limited IRELAND 1,000,000 EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International Holdings Limited Partnership 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield K.K. JAPAN 200 YEN 100.000% C&W-Japan K.K. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Korea Ltd. SOUTH KOREA 750 Korean Won 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Singapore Holdings Pte. Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield LePage Inc. CANADA 11,000 CAD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Canada Limited Partnership 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield LLC UKRAINE 100 UAH 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield  EMEA 99.000% 99.000%

Healey & Baker Limited 1.000% 1.000%
Cushman & Wakefield LLP UNITED KINGDOM N/A GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (UK) Limited 99.000% 99.000%

Individual Equity Partners 1.000% 1.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Loan.Net, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield LP Limited SINGAPORE N/A USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Capital Holdings (Asia) 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Management Corporation USA 100,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield State Street, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Management Services (UK) Limited UNITED KINGDOM 500 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Global Holdco Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Mauritius Holdings, Inc. MAURITIUS 500,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of Asia Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (Middle East) FZE UNITED ARAB EMIRATES 1 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (France Holdings) SAS 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Mortgage Brokerage, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Netherlands B.V. NETHERLANDS 400 NLG 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International Holdings Limited Partnership 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Alabama, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Arizona, Inc. USA 10 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Arkansas, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Asia Limited BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS 97,915,151 USD 59.710% Cushman & Wakefield of Asia, Inc. 59.710% 59.710%

25.000% Cushman & Wakefield (BVI), Inc. 25.000% 25.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited 15.290% 15.290%

Cushman & Wakefield of Asia, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of California, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Colorado, Inc. USA 800 USD 80.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 80.000% 80.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Connecticut, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Delaware, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Europe, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Florida, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Georgia, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Illinois, Inc. USA 1 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Indiana, Inc. USA 5 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Kentucky, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Long Island, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Maryland, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Massachusetts, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Michigan, Inc. USA 10 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Minnesota, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Mississippi, Inc. USA 10 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Missouri, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Nevada, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of New Hampshire, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of New Jersey, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of New York, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of North America, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of North Carolina, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Ohio, Inc. USA 500 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Oklahoma, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Oregon, Inc. USA 1,010 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Pennsylvania, Inc. USA 14 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of San Diego, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of California, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of South America, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Tennessee, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Texas, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of the Americas, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Virginia, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Washington D.C., Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield of Washington, Inc. USA 50 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
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Cushman & Wakefield One Court Square Cleaning, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Oy FINLAND 10 EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Polska SP z.o.o. POLAND 1 Polish Zloty 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (France Holdings) SAS 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Services India Private Limited INDIA 10,000 INR 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield India Private Limited 99.980% 99.980%

Sanjay Verma as nominee for C&W India Private Ltd 0.020% 0.020%
Cushman & Wakefield Property Services Slovakia, s.r.o SLOVAK REPUBLIC N/A EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, s.r.o. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Real Estate Securities Research, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Residential Limited UNITED KINGDOM 1,000 GBP 100.00% Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Residential Real Estate Advisor Ltd. HUNGARY 3,000,000 Forint 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Residential Ltd 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield, S. de R.L.de C.V. MEXICO 4 Pesos 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield de Mexico, S.A. de C.V 99.990% 99.990%

Cushman & Wakefield of the Americas, Inc. 0.010% 0.010%
Cushman & Wakefield SAS FRANCE 2,000 EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (France Holdings) SAS 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Second Nova Scotia ULC CANADA 100 CAD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International Finance Subsidiary, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Securities, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Servicos Gerais Ltda. BRAZIL 10,000 BRL 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Consultoria Imobiliaria Ltda 99.990% 99.990%

Cushman & Wakefield of South America, Inc. 0.010% 0.010%

Cushman & Wakefield Singapore Holdings Pte. Limited SINGAPORE 1,000 Singapore dollar 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of Asia Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Sonnenblick Goldman of California Inc USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Sonnenblick -Goldman LLC 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Sonnenblick Goldman LLC USA N/A USD 65.000% Cushman & Wakefield Mortgage Brokerage, Inc. 65.000% 65.000%

Steven A. Kohn 9.700% 9.700%
Andrew S. Oliver 7.750% 7.750%
Mark J. Gordon 7.750% 7.750%
Robert B. Stiles 4.200% 4.200%
Richard B. Swartz 2.800% 2.800%
Douglas P. Hercher 2.800% 2.800%

Cushman & Wakefield Spain Limited UNITED KINGDOM 1,000 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield European Holdings, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield State Street, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Stiles & Riabokobylko Management ZAO RUSSIA 12,000 Roubles 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (France Holdings) SAS 99.000% 99.000%

Cushman & Wakefield International, Inc. 1.000% 1.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Stiles & Riabokobylko OOO RUSSIA 12,000 Roubles 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (France Holdings) SAS 99.000% 99.000%

Cushman & Wakefield International, Inc. 1.000% 1.000%
Cushman & Wakefield U.K. Limited Partnership UNITED KINGDOM N/A GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International Holdings Limited Partnership 98.000% 98.000%

Cushman & Wakefield Global Holdco Limited 2.000% 2.000%
Cushman & Wakefield V.O.F. NETHERLANDS N/A EURO 99.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Netherlands B.V. 99.000% 99.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Valuation Advisory Services (HK) Limited HONG KONG 2 HKDollar 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (HK) Limited. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield VHS Pte Limited SINGAPORE 1 Singapore dollar 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (S) Pte Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Western, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Holdings, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield, s. r. o. CZECH REPUBLIC 100,000 EURO 80.000% Cushman & Wakefield (France Holdings) SAS 80.000% 80.000%

20.000% Cushman & Wakefield Global Holdco Limited 20.000% 20.000%
Cushman & Wakefield/PREMISYS Colorado, Inc. USA 80 USD 80.000% Cushman & Wakefield/Premisys, Inc. 80.000% 80.000%
Cushman & Wakefield/PREMISYS, Inc. USA 97 USD 100.000% Cushfield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
SG Securities Holdings LLC USA N/A USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield  Sonnenblick- Goldman LLC 100.000% 100.000%
SG Real Estate Securities LLC USA N/A USD 100.000% SG Securities Holdings LLC 100.000% 100.000%
The Apartment Group LLC USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of Georgia, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Services Ltd HUNGARY 3,000,000 Forint 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International Real Estate Ltd 100.000% 100.000%
PT Cushman & Wakefield Indonesia f/k/a PT Property Advisory Indonesia INDONESIA 5,000 IDR 98.000% Cushman & Wakefield Indonesia Holdings Private Limited 98.000% 98.000%

INDONESIA IDR Mhandadjaja Sulaiman 2.000% 2.000%

Asset Services
Cushman & Wakefield FM Limited Partnership CANADA N/A CAD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Canada Limited Partnership 99.000% 99.000%

Cushman & Wakefield GP Inc 1.000% 1.000%
Cushman & Wakefield GP Inc. CANADA 100 CAD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Canada Limited Partnership 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Asset Management, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Pacific Investment Corporation KK JAPAN JPY 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Investment Advisors K.K. 100.000% 100.000%

Holding
Cushman & Wakefield (Properties) Limited UNITED KINGDOM 1 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (Resources)  Limited UNITED KINGDOM N/A GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Thailand Limited. THAILAND 80,000 THB 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of Asia Limited 99.980% 99.980%

Michael Thompson 0.010% 0.010%
Apisit Limlongwongse 0.010% 0.010%

Healey & Baker Limited UNITED KINGDOM 2 GBP 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (France Holdings) SAS FRANCE 3,987,000 EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Global Holdco Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield International Holdings Limited Partnership UNITED KINGDOM N/A EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield European Holdings, Inc 73.7607% 73.7606%

Cushman & Wakefield of South America, Inc. 2.0356% 2.0356%
Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 23.8102% 23.8102%
Cushman & Wakefield Gestion, Inc. 0.3935% 0.3935%
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Cushman & Wakefield Property Tax Services Paralegal Professional Corporation CANADA 150 CAD 100.000% Gerry Divaris 100.000% 100.000% (*)
1012888 Ontario Limited CANADA 200 CAD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield LePage Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
808359 Ontario Limited CANADA 200 CAD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield LePage Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Global Holdco Limited UNITED KINGDOM 1 EURO 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield International Holdings Limited Partnership 100.000% 100.000%

Insurance
Nottingham Indemnity, Inc. USA 1,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%

REIT management
Cushman & Wakefield Investment Management, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Realty Advisors, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%

Business Support Management
Cushman & Wakefield Facilities Management, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%

Building Management Services
Cushfield Maintenance Corp. USA 10 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushfield Maintenance West Corp. USA 100 USD 100.000% Buckbee Thorne & Co. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushfield, Inc. USA 100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Asset Services Y.K. JAPAN 60 JPY 100.000% C&W-Japan K.K. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield National Corporation USA 5,100 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
C & W Operacion Inmobiliaria, S.A.de C.V. MEXICO 50,000 Pesos 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, S. de RL de C.V. 99.996% 99.996%

Cushman & Wakefield de Mexico, S.A. de C.C 0.004% 0.004%

Others
Cushman & Wakefield (BVI) Inc BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS 10,000 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of Asia, Inc. 99.990% 99.990%

Cushman & Wakefield International Inc. 0.010% 0.010%
Cushman & Wakefield Cleanings Services, Inc. USA 200 USD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield New Canada Limited Partnership CANADA N/A CAD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Canada Limited Partnership 99.990% 99.990%

Cushman & Wakefield Second Nova Scotia ULC 0.010% 0.010%
Farrell & Anderson Pty Limited AUSTRALIA              96,000 AUD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (NSW) Pty Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield (NSW) Pty Limited AUSTRALIA 4 AUD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield (Australia) Pty Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Advisory Asia (India) Private Limited INDIA                9,900 INR 99.000% Cushman & Wakefield Capital Holdings (Asia) 99.000% 99.000%

100 1.000% Cushman & Wakefield Capital Asia Limited 1.000% 1.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Holding Pty Limited AUSTRALIA 1 AUD 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Singapore Holdings Private Limited 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Servicios, S.A. de C.V MEXICO 50,000 Pesos 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, S. de RL de C.V. 99.996% 99.996%

Cushman & Wakefield de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. 0.004% 0.004%
Cushman & Wakefield Operacion de Servicios, S.A. de C.V. MEXICO 50,000 Pesos 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield, S. de RL de C.V. 99.996% 99.996%

Cuahman & Wakefield de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. 0.004% 0.004%
Cushman & Wakefield Capital Asia Limited HONG KONG 100 HKDollar 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield of Asia, Inc. 100.000% 100.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Capital Asia (HK) Limited HONG KONG 100,000,000 HKDollar 100.000% Cushman & Wakefield Capital Holdings (Asia) 100.000% 100.000%
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ALPITOUR ESPANA S.L. UNIPERSONAL SPAIN 22,751,000.00 EURO 100.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A. 100.000 100.000
ALPITURISMO SERVICES OF TOURISM, SOCIEDADE 
UNIPESSOAL, LDA PORTUGAL 2,494,000.00 EURO 100.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A. 100.000 100.000

ALPITOUR WORLD HOTELS & RESORTS S.P.A. ITALY 140,385.00 EURO 100.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A. 100.000 100.000

BLUMARIN DE IMPORTAÇAO, SOCIEDAD UNIPESSOAL, S.A. CAPE VERDE 5,000,000 CVE 100.000 BLUMARIN HOTELS, SOCIEDADE UNIPESSOAL, 
S.A. 100.000 100.000

BLUMARIN HOTELS, SOCIEDADE UNIPESSOAL, S.A. CAPE VERDE 2,500,000 CVE 100.000 ALPITURISMO SERVICES OF TOURISM, 
SOCIEDADE UNIPESSOAL, LDA 100.000 100.000

BLUMARIN HOTELS SICILIA S.p.A. ITALY 38,000,000.00 EURO 100.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A. 100.000 100.000
D.I. RESORTS PRIVATE LTD MALDIVES 100,000 MVR 100.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A. 99.000 99.000

HORIZON HOLIDAYS S.A. UNIPERSONAL 1.000 1.000

EL-MASRIEN FOR HOTELS AND SHIPPING CONSTRUCTION EGYPT 4,000,000 EGP 100.000 ITALIAN EGYPTIAN COMPANY FOR TOURISTIC 
INVESTMENT (S.A.E.) 100.000 100.000

HARROW TRADING E INVESTIMENTOS SOCIEDADE 
UNIPESSOAL LDA PORTUGAL 5,000.00 EURO 100.000 ALPITURISMO SERVICES OF TOURISM, 

SOCIEDADE UNIPESSOAL, LDA 100.000 100.000

HORIZON HOLIDAYS S.A. UNIPERSONAL SPAIN 20,133,500.00 EURO 100.000 ALPITOUR ESPANA S.L. UNIPERSONAL 100.000 100.000
ITALIAN EGYPTIAN COMPANY FOR TOURISTIC INVESTMENT 
(S.A.E.) EGYPT 4,536,000 EGP 100.000 ALPITOUR WORLD HOTELS & RESORTS S.p.A. 100.000 100.000

LIDO ARENELLA di DI MAURO GIOVANNI Srl SIRACUSA 200,000 EURO 100.000 BLUMARIN HOTELS SICILIA S.p.A. 100.000 100.000
KIWENGWA STRAND HOTEL LTD. TANZANIA 1,480,000,000 TZS 100.000 HORIZON HOLIDAYS S.A. UNIPERSONAL 99.000 99.000

ALPITURISMO SERVICES OF TOURISM, 
SOCIEDADE UNIPESSOAL, LDA 1.000 1.000

NETRADE S.p.A. ITALY 300,000.00 EURO 100.000 ALPITOUR WORLD HOTELS & RESORTS S.p.A. 100.000 100.000

ORIENT SHIPPING FOR FLOATING HOTELS EGYPT 1,450,000 EGP 100.000 ITALIAN EGYPTIAN COMPANY FOR TOURISTIC 
INVESTMENT (S.A.E.) 100.000 100.000

RENTHOTEL MEXICO S.A. DE C.V. MEXICO 50,000 MXP 98.000 HORIZON HOLIDAYS S.A. UNIPERSONAL 98.000 98.000
RENTHOTEL TRAVEL SERVICE S.A. UNIPERSONAL SPAIN 1,562,860.00 EURO 100.000 HORIZON HOLIDAYS S.A. UNIPERSONAL 100.000 100.000

RIVIERA AZUL S.A. DE C.V. MEXICO 50,000 MXP 96.000 HARROW TRADING E INVESTIMENTOS 
SOCIEDADE UNIPESSOAL LDA 96.000 96.000

S.T. RESORTS PRIVATE LTD. MALDIVES 100,000 MVR 50.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A. 50.000 50.000
STAR RESORT & HOTELS COMPANY PVT LTD. MALDIVES 1,000,000 MVR 100.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A. 99.000 99.000

HORIZON HOLIDAYS S.A. UNIPERSONAL 1.000 1.000

ALPITOUR REINSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED IRELAND 2,500,000.00 EURO 100.000 ALPITURISMO SERVICES OF TOURISM, 
SOCIEDADE UNIPESSOAL, LDA 100.000 100.000

AGENZIA VIAGGI SAUGO S.r.l. ITALY 20,938.00 EURO 100.000 WELCOME TRAVEL GROUP S.p.A. 100.000 100.000
BLUE VIAGGI S.A. SWITZERLAND 100,000.00 CHF 100.000 WELCOME TRAVEL GROUP S.P.A. 100.000 100.000
WELCOME TRAVEL GROUP S.p.A. ITALY 3,939,855.00 EURO 100.000 ALPITOUR S.P.A. 100.000 100.000

CONSORCIO TURISTICO PANMEX S.A. DE C.V. MEXICO 50,000 MXP 70.000 ALPITURISMO SERVICES OF TOURISM, 
SOCIEDADE UNIPESSOAL, LDA 70.000 70.000

JUMBO CANARIAS S.A. UNIPERSONAL SPAIN 180,300.00 EURO 100.000 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 100.000 100.000
JUMBO TOURS DOMINICANA S.A. DOMINICAN REP. 100,000 DOP 99.500 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 99.300 99.300

JUMBO CANARIAS S.A. UNIPERSONAL 0.100 0.100
JUMBO TOURS ESPANA S.L. UNIPERSONAL 0.100 0.100

JUMBO TOURS ESPANA S.L. UNIPERSONAL SPAIN 904,505.00 EURO 100.000 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 100.000 100.000
JUMBO TOURS FRANCE  S.A. FRANCE 37,000.00 EURO 99.940 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 99.940 99.940
JUMBO TOURS ITALIA S.r.l. ITALY 78,000.00 EURO 100.000 ALPITOUR S.P.A. 100.000 100.000
JUMBO TOURS MEXICO S.A. DE C.V. MEXICO 50,000 MXP 98.000 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 98.000 98.000
JUMBO TOURS TUNISIE S.A. TUNISIA 105,000 TUD 49.983 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 49.983 49.983
JUMBOTURISMO  S.A. UNIPERSONAL SPAIN 364,927.20 EURO 100.000 ALPITOUR ESPANA S.L. UNIPERSONAL 100.000 100.000
JUMBOTURISMO CABO VERDE, Agencia de Viagens e Turismo, 
SOCIEDADE UNIPESSOAL, S.A. CAPE VERDE 5,000,000 CVE 100.000 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 100.000 100.000

JUMBO MOROCCO INCOMING S.A. MOROCCO 400,000 MAD 99.850 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 99.850 99.850
PROMOTORA DE SERVICIOS TURISTICOS DE ESPANA EN 
MEXICO S.A. DE C.V. MEXICO 50,000 MXP 98.000 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 98.000 98.000

A W EVENTS Srl ITALY 23,838.00 EURO 83.900 ALPITOUR S.p.A. 83.900 83.900

NEOS S.p.A. ITALY 4,425,800.00 EURO 100.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A. 100.000 100.000
WELCOME TRAVEL GROUP S.p.A. 0.000 0.000

Incoming services

Tour operating

Airline

Hotel management

Insurance

Distribution (Travel agency)
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Holding companies and other companies

SEQUANA S.A.  FRANCE 74,317,503 EURO 26.94 EXOR S.A. 26.649 26.649

FIAT S.p.A. (a) ITALY 6,377,262,975 EURO 29.40 FIAT S.p.A. 3.024 3.531 (*)
EXOR S.p.A. 28.513 30.450

% % of % of

Capital stock of Group interest voting

Name Country 6/30/2009 Currency consolidation Interest held by held rights

BLUE DIVING MEXICO S.A. DE C.V. MEXICO 50,000 MXP 49.000 HORIZON HOLIDAYS S.A. UNIPERSONAL 49.000 49.000
VACANZEINITALIA S.p.A. ITALY 10,000 EURO 50.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A 50.000 50.000

ALPITOUR GROUP EGYPT FOR TOURISM S.A.E. EGYPT 2,000,000 EGP 50.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A 50.000 50.000
HOY VIAJAMOS S.A. SPAIN 732,032.74 EURO 28.629 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 28.629 28.629
ITALO HISPANA DE INVERSIONES S.L. SPAIN 3,005.06 EURO 30.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A. 30.000 30.000
JUMBO TOURS CARIBE S.A. MEXICO 50,000 MXP 50.000 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 50.000 50.000

PANAFRICAN SERVICE S.A.R.L. TUNISIA 10,500 TND 50.000 ALPITURISMO SERVICES OF TOURISM, 
SOCIEDADE UNIPESSOAL, LDA 50.000 50.000

PEMBA S.A. SPAIN 510,809.20 EURO 25.000 JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 25.000 25.000
VIAJES MEDYMAR S.L. SPAIN 60,101.21 EURO 30.000 ALPITOUR S.p.A. 30.000 30.000

Hotel management

Incoming services

Name Country Capital Stock 
at 06.30.2009 Currency % of Group 

consolidation Interest held by % of interest 
held

% of voting 
rights

REAL ESTATE SERVICES
Orvis/Cushman & Wakefield Ranch and Recreational Properties, LLC USA 1,000 USD 50.000% Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. 50.000% 50.000%

The Orvis Company, Inc 50.000% 50.000%
Orvis/Cushman & Wakefield Ranch and Recreational Properties, Inc USA 100.000% Orvis/Cushman & Wakefield Ranch and Recreational Properties, LLC 100.000% 100.000%

ASSET SERVICES
Corporate Occupier Solutions Limited UNITED KINGDOM 180,100 GBP 50.000% Cushman & Wakefield (EMEA) Limited. 50.000% 50.000%
Cushman & Wakefield Facility Management Services CANADA 1,000 CAD 50.000% Cushman & Wakefield FM Limited Partnership 50.000% 50.000%

1,000 CAD Arturus Realty Corporation 50.000% 50.000%



Significant investments of the Holdings System

(a) Percentage holding in the limited partnership.

Significant investments of the Alpitour Group
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% of % of
Capital stock interest voting

Name Country 6/30/2009 Currency Interest held by held rights

Holding companies and other companies

GRUPPO BANCA LEONARDO S.p.A. ITALY 303,631,527 EURO EXOR S.A. 9.743 11.175
SGS S.A. SWITZERLAND 7,822,436 CHF EXOR S.A. 15.000 15.000
BANIJAY HOLDING S.A.S. FRANCE 1,247,500 EURO EXOR S.A. 17.034 17.172
NoCo A LP USA N.A. USD ANCOM USA INC 1.960 (a) N.A.

% % of % of

Capital stock of Group interest voting

Name Country 6/30/2009 Currency consolidation Interest held by held rights

AIRPORTS & TRAVEL S.r.l. ITALY 50,000.00 EURO - WELCOME TRAVEL GROUP S.p.A. 49.000 49.000
WELCOME TRAVEL SUD S.R.L. ITALY 100,000.00 EURO - WELCOME TRAVEL GROUP S.p.A. 50.000 50.000

CALOBANDE S.L. UNIPERSONAL SPAIN 453,755.00 EURO - JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 100.000 100.000
JUMBO TOURS ZANZIBAR LIMITED TANZANIA 1,000,000.00 TZS - JUMBOTURISMO S.A. UNIPERSONAL 49.000 49.000
VALORE SICURO S.R.L. ITALY 100,000.00 EURO - ALPITOUR S.p.A. 100.000 100.000

Distribution (Travel agency)

Incoming services



The companies of the Fiat Group

In the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements of the EXOR Group at June 30, 2009, the 
investment in the Fiat Group (29.40% of capital stock outstanding) is accounted for by the equity method 
(please refer to Notes 2 and 32 in the half-year condensed consolidated financial statements).

For purposes of complete disclosure, this appendix shows the investments of the Fiat Group as they are 
presented in the half-yearly financial report at June 30, 2009 of the Fiat Group.
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